Diabetes Knowledge, Self-care Behaviours, Acculturation, and Health Outcomes in Arabic-speaking Adults with Type 2 Diabetes in Edmonton, Canada

By

Aida Adbulsalam Belag

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Medicine

University of Alberta

© Aida Adbulsalam Belag, 2018

ABSTRACT

The number of Arabic-speaking immigrants in Canada is growing, as is the prevalence of type 2 diabetes (T2D) in this population. Understanding of T2D knowledge, self-care management, and diabetes-related outcomes in this population is lacking. Our objective was to examine the level of diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviours, acculturation, and health outcomes in Arabic-speaking adults with T2D in Canada, and explore whether women and men in this population have different health behaviours, as well as sociodemographic, psychosocial, and clinical characteristics.

We conducted a cross-sectional study in Edmonton, AB between July 2017 and January 2018 on 115 consenting individuals recruited from primary care clinics and community centers. Data collection involved face-to-face or phone interviews in completing a survey administered via Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap). The interviews were conducted in the Arabic language by Arabic-speaking research team. The survey included measures of diabetes knowledge (Michigan Diabetes Knowledge Test), self-care behaviours (Summary of Diabetes Self-Care Activates, SDSCA), medication adherence (Morisky Medication Adherence Scale, MMAS8), and depressive symptoms (Patient Health Questionnaire 2, PHQ-2). In addition to the survey, we conducted a review of patients' medical charts (N=110 complete chart reviews). The mean age of participants was 57.6 (SD=10.7) years, and the majority were male (61.4%). Overall, 59.7% of participants were low-income Canadians of Arabic descent. The mean diabetes duration was 23.9 (SD 17.5) years. The majority (87.0%) had a body mass index (BMI) \geq 25kg/m2, and 71.9% had a family history of diabetes. More than half of respondents reported having hypertension (58.8%) or dyslipidemia (54.4%). Only 47.2 % of the subjects met the glycated hemoglobin target of < 7%, and just more than the half 53.5% had an average score on diabetes knowledge, and 25.4 % scored poorly. The most impoverished domain of self-care behaviour was physical activity, followed by selfmonitoring of blood glucose, and diet. Participants had high levels of foot care self-care management. Overall, 26.2% had poor medication adherence. One in five participants (19.3%) screened positive for depressive symptoms. Also, Arabic-speaking women with

T2D had higher BMI (mean 34.7 kg/m2, SD 5.7) compared to men (mean 31.6 kg/m2, SD 7.1), and were less likely to exercise as part of diabetes management.

Overall, in this first study of its kind, we found significant gaps in knowledge and self-care behaviour in the Arabic-speaking population affected by T2D, and the results suggest that gender may influence these gaps. Therefore, culturally and gender-tailored interventions are required to enhance diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviours, and health outcomes in Arabic-speaking individuals with T2D in Edmonton.

PREFACE

The study presented in this thesis is the original work conducted by Aida Belag under the supervisory committee that included Dr. Rose Yeung, Dr. Padma Kaul, and Dr. Fatima Al Sayah. Chapter two in this thesis is prepared as an independent manuscript that will be submitted for publication. Aida Belag is the first author of this work.

The research project was approved by the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board: (Protocol number: 00069585)

DEDICATION

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful.

All praise is due to Allah with whose grace all good work comes to completion.

My father's soul and my mother.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This thesis would not have been completed without the guidance, encouragement, support, and love from many wonderful people.

Foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr. Rose Yeung and Dr. Padma Kaul, for providing me with the opportunity to pursue my master's degree under their supervision. Their mentorship and guidance helped me to gain invaluable knowledge and experience in clinical research and added to my experience as a physician. Many thanks to Dr. Yeung for her time, advice, and support regardless of the time of day. I am grateful for her positive encouragement to work hard during the last two years.

In addition to my supervisors, I would like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to my kind and supportive committee member, Dr. Fatima Al Sayah, for her guidance, patience, and endless support as well as for her help in Arabic translation and reaching out to the Arabic community. Dr. Al Sayah's wisdom is the foundation of my research experience.

I acknowledge the Division of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Faculty of Medicine, University of Alberta for welcoming me and for generously sharing their resources. I appreciate their feedback and advice after giving me the opportunity to present my work to their highly qualified members.

Thank you to my brother, Mohamed; his wife, Huda; and their children, Ashifa, Abdullah, Abraham, and Ashima for providing me with the best environment to complete my studies. My nieces and nephews provide motivation and pleasure with their smiles and hugs after a long day. Without all of you, I would not be here today.

Although my father "Abdusalam" has passed away, his words, idioms, vision, and advice continue to symbolize strength and dedication as the first words to inspire me throughout my entire life. I am thankful to my mother, Mabruka, for her love, Daas, and prayers are powerful messages in my life. My graduate studies were her dream, and I am very proud to have made her goal a reality.

Thanks to Allah for giving me a big family. I have been blessed with various forms of support, love, and motivation from each sibling. They have made every day in my entire

journey unique by sharing their memories and jokes. Thank you to my sisters, Hamida, Amna, Entisar, and Amani; and to my brothers, Salah Adeen, Mohamed, Abdylmonam, and Abulati.

Thank you to all my friends for listening in my times of frustration and sadness. I am grateful for their motivation and encouragement.

I am grateful to Libyan Higher Education for funding my postgraduate study and my stay in Canada.

Finally, I offer special thanks to all participants in this study. Without their participation and time, this study could not have been conducted.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

CHAPTER 1 : INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 BURDEN OF DIABETES	1
1.2 ARABIC-SPEAKING POPULATION	
1.2.1 ARABIC-SPEAKING POPULATION IN CANADA	3
1.2.2 DIABETES IN ARABIC-SPEAKING COUNTRIES	5
1.2.3 ARABIC-SPEAKING IMMIGRANTS AND DIABETES	6
1.3 DIABETES KNOWLEDGE	7
1.4 DIABETES SELF-CARE MANAGEMENT	7
1.4.1 PHYSICAL ACTIVITY	8
1.4.2 NUTRITION THERAPY	9
1.4.3 FOOT CARE	9
1.4.4 MEDICATION ADHERENCE	10
1.4.5 BLOOD GLUCOSE MONITORING	10
1.5 DIABETES AND DEPRESSION	11
1.6 ACCULTURATION, GENDER, AND DIABETES	11
1.7 DIABETES-SPECIFIC HEALTH OUTCOMES	12
1.8 CONCLUSION	14
1.8.1 OBJECTIVES	15
1.9 REFERENCES	18
CHAPTER 2 : DIABETES KNOWLEDGE, SELF-CARE BEHAVIOURS,	
ACCULTURATION, AND METABOLIC CONTROL IN ARABIC- SPEAK	ING
ADULIS WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES IN EDMONTON, ALBERTA, CANAD	A 24
2.1 INTRODUCTION	24
2.2 METHODS	27
2.2.1 STUDY DESIGN, ELIGIBILITY, AND RECRUITMENT	27
2.2.2 INTERVIEW AND DATA COLLECTION	28
2.2.3 DATA MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS	30
2.3 RESULTS.	32
2.3.1 SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS OF PARTICIPANTS	32
2.3.2 DIABETES HISTORY AND MANAGEMENT	33
2.3.3 DIABETES MONITORING AND EDUCATION FROM HEALTH CARE	
PROVIDERS	34
2.3.4 DIABETES KNOWLEDGE, SELF-CARE BEHAVIOURS, MEDICATIO	V
ADHERENCE, AND DEPRESSIVE	34

SYMPTOMS	
2.3.5 CLINICAL AND PHYSIOLOGIC MEASURES	
2.3.6 IMPACT OF ACCULTURATION ON DIABETES SELF-MANAGE	EMENT AND
CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS	
2.4 DISCUSSION	
2.5 CONCLUSION	
2.6 REFERENCE	
CHAPTER 3 : GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
3.1. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	
3.2 IMPLICATION OF RESEARCH	
3.3. STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS	
3.4. CONCLUSION	
3.5. REFERENCES:	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
APPENDICES	80

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-2: Summary of survey domains, measured variables and source of tool	s 58
Table 2-2: Sociodemographic characteristics of participants stratified by gende	er 59
Table 2-3 Healthy behavior and clinical characteristics of participans stratified	l
by gender	61
Table 2-4 Behavioral and psychosocial characteristics of participants stratified	by gender
	64

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1 Arabic-speaking countries	16
Figure 2-1Thesis concept map	17
Figure 2-2 Map of participant's location	66

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ABCD	Alberta's Caring for Diabetes Project
ACR	Urine Albumin: Creatinine Ratio
BMI	Body Mass Index
BP	Blood pressure
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DKT	The Michigan Diabetes Knowledge Test
FGM	Flash glucose monitoring
GDM	Gestational diabetes mellitus
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HDL	High-Density Lipoprotein
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
LDL	Low-Density Lipoprotein
PHQ2	The 2-item Patient Health Questionnaire screen for depressive symptoms
REDCap	Research Electronic Data Capture
SDSCA	The Summary of Diabetes Self-Care Activities Test
SMBG	Self-monitoring of blood glucose
T1D	Type one diabetes
T2D	Type two diabetes
TG	Triglycerides
UAE	United Arab Emirates

Chapter 1 : INTRODUCTION

1.1 Burden of Diabetes

The prevalence of diabetes is increasing all over the world. According to Diabetes Canada, diabetes mellitus is a metabolic disorder characterized by a deficiency in insulin secretion or insulin action, leading to hyperglycemia. Prolonged hyperglycemia is associated with long-term microvascular and macrovascular complications that affect multiple organ systems including the kidneys, eyes, nerves, and cardiovascular system.¹ Diabetes is classified as type one diabetes (T1D), type two diabetes (T2D), gestational diabetes (GDM), and other less common types of diabetes. The most common subtype of diabetes mellitus is T2D, which accounts for more than 90% of the cases. T2D is associated with insulin resistance and lack of or insufficient insulin secretion. There are historical, environmental, physical, and biomedical factors associated with T2D¹ which include:

- Older age
- Having a first-degree relative with T2D
- Excess adiposity
- Non-white ethnicity
- Social deprivation
- History of prediabetes or GDM
- Giving birth to a macrocosmic infant
- Vascular risk factors e.g., smoking, hypertension, obesity, or hyperlipidemia

- Other medical conditions associated with diabetes such as a history of pancreatitis or polycystic ovary syndrome
- Medications promoting hyperglycemia such as glucocorticoids or atypical antipsychotic medications.

Diabetes adversely impacts quality of life because of its associated end-organ complications including stroke, heart disease, vision loss, and amputation. According to the International Diabetes Federation (IDF), there are an estimated 425 million adults who have diabetes globally, and forecasters anticipate that by 2045 this number will rise to 629 million.² In Canada, the prevalence of diabetes and prediabetes was estimated at 10.8 million (28%) in 2018, with 3.5 million cases of T2D.³ In 2018, diabetes was estimated to cost the Canadian health care system \$3.6 billion, and this number is projected to increase to \$4.7 billion in 2028.³ The prevalence of diabetes in Alberta was estimated at 7% and has been estimated to rise by 50% by 2028.³

Diabetes is associated with several acute and chronic complications that increase health care utilization, morbidity, and mortality in this population. Canadians with diabetes are 20 times more likely to be hospitalized for lower limb problems and amputation than those without diabetes.³ Moreover, patients with diabetes are 12 times more likely to be hospitalized for renal disease, over three times more likely to be hospitalized for cardiovascular disease, and more likely to have prolonged hospitalizations.³ Each year, diabetes leads to serious complications and contributes to 30% of strokes, 40% of heart attacks, 50% of kidney failures requiring dialysis, and 70% of non-traumatic lower-limb amputations.³ Diabetes increases the risk of blindness 25fold and is the leading cause of blindness in Canadians under 50 years old.⁴ Diabetes has been found to reduce life expectancy by 5.8 years in women and 5.3 years in men.⁴

Fortunately, many diabetes-related complications are preventable through healthy lifestyle behaviours and pharmacotherapies.⁵ The first line of management of T2D is to adopt healthy behaviours including physical activity and healthy diet.⁶ If the blood sugar target is not achieved with lifestyle modifications alone, pharmacological treatment is recommended.⁶

1.2 Arabic-speaking Population

1.2.1 Arabic-speaking population in Canada

Canada is a multicultural country with diverse cultural and ethnic populations⁷. In 2011, immigrants of more than 200 different ethnic origins lived in Canada, making up 19.1% of the Canadian population.⁸ The largest minority groups in Canada are the South Asians, Chinese, Blacks, Filipinos, Hispanics, and Arabs.⁸ Given that culture greatly influences the perceptions of health and wellness, and that health is also influenced by the ability to navigate the healthcare system effectively, this great cultural diversity might make providing healthcare more challenging and might contribute to differing levels of health quality and health outcomes.⁹

The word "Arabs" refers to a group of people originating mainly from the Arabian Peninsula, North Africa, and their surroundings, which include a range of ethnicities and religious beliefs.¹² According to Statistics Canada, only 69% of Canadians that spoke Arabic reported being Arab as their ethnicity in 2011.¹⁰ Most Arabic-speaking people trace their origins back to one of the 22 Arabic- speaking countries in North Africa and the Middle East, including Algeria, Egypt, Libya, Morocco, Somalia, Sudan, Tunisia, Djibouti, Mauritania, Iraq, Jordan, Lebanon, Syria, Palestine, Bahrain, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates, Kuwait, and Yemen (**Figure 1**).¹¹ These

can be further divided geographically and culturally into the Gulf, the Levant, the Maghreb countries and the Northern and Eastern African countries.^{11 12} At the center, the Gulf Arab countries include the 7 oil producing countries (Bahrain, Iraq, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates) located along the Persian Gulf and Yemen.¹¹ North of the Arabian Peninsula are the 4 Levant Arab countries (Syria, Jordan, Lebanon, and Palestine) that share historical lands.^{11,12} In Africa we find the Maghreb Arab countries in the west (Algeria, Libya, Morocco, Mauritania and Tunisia), two northern African countries (Egypt and Sudan) and two eastern Africa countries (Somalia and Djibouti).¹² Politically these twenty-two countries share a council called the Arab League established to drive their geopolitical influence.¹¹

Family plays the centrepiece in Arabic culture where loyalty to the family is revered. Multiple generations often share one house, and Arabs are taught to value group wellbeing above individual wellbeing.¹² Sharing food and acts of generosity are cornerstones of Arabic culture, where hosts expect their guests to eat, and refusing food is considered impolite. In 2001, 52% of Arabs reported a strong sense of belonging to their culture.¹⁰

Immigrants who speak Arabic as their mother tongue increased by 30% from 2011 to 2016, and approximately 486,525 native Arabic-speaking people were living in Canada in 2016.¹³ Arabic as a native language is one of the five top languages in Canada among immigrants with variable prevalence across the country; 18% in Montreal, 19% in Ottawa, and 6% in Edmonton.¹³ The largest subgroup of Arabs in Canada (~40%) are of Lebanese origin.¹⁰ In 2016 Approximately 40,540 Albertans spoke Arabic as their first language with 17,520 Arabic-speaking people living in Edmonton.¹³ In 2001, 30% of

Canadian-Arab adults had postgraduate education compared to 15% of the general adult population; however, they had a lower employment rate of 56% compared to 62% of the general Canadian population.¹⁰

Arabic-speaking immigrants face many challenges adapting to the Western culture, which may present barriers to maintaining and improving overall health. Kalich et al. have found that immigrants to Canada find language, finances, access to information, and cultural differences challenging when navigating the health care system. ¹⁴ At present, there is a paucity of knowledge regarding Arabic-speaking people with diabetes in Canada. Given the increasing immigration from these countries, ¹⁵ along with the disproportionate rise in diabetes prevalence in the Arab countries, it is essential that a better understanding of the medical needs of this group are studied to ensure appropriate diabetes prevention and treatment strategies to improve health outcomes for Arabicspeaking Canadians with T2D.

1.2.2 Diabetes in Arabic-speaking countries

The prevalence of diabetes in the Middle East and North Africa has been growing fast. There are several risk factors associated with the epidemic of T2D in Arabic-speaking countries including ageing, increasing population size, obesity, lack of physical activity, consumption of processed and fast foods, and a number of other socioeconomic factors strongly associated with urbanization and Westernization.¹⁶ According to the IDF 2017 Atlas, the estimated prevalence of T2D in Arabic-speaking countries ranged from 14% in Qatar to 18% in Saudi Arabic, with all Gulf Countries exceeding the 8% prevalence in Canada. Concerning diabetes, Sudan, Egypt, and Saudi Arabia are among the top five countries in North Africa and the Middle East with the highest absolute

numbers of adults with diabetes.² The most reported diabetes complications in Arabicspeaking countries are retinopathy, neuropathy, nephropathy, and cardiovascular disease.¹⁶

1.2.3 Arabic-speaking immigrants and diabetes

In addition to language and cultural differences when moving to North America, Arabicspeaking immigrants face similar health challenges to their counterparts in the countries of origin. Studies on Arabic-speaking immigrants in the United States of America (USA) and Australia have found a higher prevalence of diabetes ¹⁷ and diabetes risk factors such as smoking ¹⁸, hypertension, obesity, strong family history of diabetes, and lack of physical activity in comparison to the general populations in these countries.¹⁹Research on Arabic-speaking immigrants with diabetes in various western countries suggests that these individuals face barriers in accessing the appropriate care for their diabetes, and have worse health outcomes than the general population. For instance, a study in Sweden reported that female Arab immigrants had a lower level of seeking advice and support from their health care providers compared to that of Swedes and Yugoslavians.²⁰ In Australia, Arabic-speaking immigrants with T2D face difficulties in navigating the health resources.²¹

Diabetes and Gender

The prevalence of diabetes among Arab immigrants in Australia was reported to be 3.6 and 2.4 times higher in males and females respectively, compared to their Australian counterparts.¹⁷ Biological and psychosocial factors may impact the prevalence and management of diabetes between genders. <u>Eric</u> et al. found that hormone levels are implicated in the differing risk of T2D between women and men.²² In addition to

biological differences, there are psychosocial factors that impact the management of diabetes between men and women. For example, a Canadian study showed that females who have diabetes have a strong family history of diabetes, more education about diabetes, more depressive symptoms, and higher BMI ²³ compared to men with diabetes. A review done on gender differences in diabetes showed that gender has a significant influence on diabetes prevalence, management, and complications.²⁴ Although more men are diagnosed with diabetes, women with diabetes are at higher risk than men with diabetes for hypertension, CVD, obesity, dyslipidemia, and sudden death from acute CVD.^{25, 24, 26,27}

1.3 Diabetes Knowledge

Diabetes knowledge is the foundation for self-care management. Diabetes education is an essential part of diabetes management, as the treatment of diabetes requires significant behavioural changes including complex lifestyle and medication instructions.²⁸ ²⁹ Certified diabetes educators and diabetes education classes provide much of the diabetes knowledge to Canadians with diabetes, however, providing quality diabetes education is challenging given the geography and cultural diversity in Canada. Little is known about diabetes knowledge among the Arabic-speaking population in Canada. Beeney and Dunn found that improving diabetes knowledge leads to improvement in self-care behaviours mainly in women, but improvement in diabetes knowledge was not associated with improvement in glycemic control.³⁰

1.4 Diabetes Self-care Management

Self-management education and support play a huge role in enhancing diabetes outcomes by improving glycemic control, self-care, reducing diabetes distress, and

reducing complications.⁵ Before starting pharmacological treatment, Canadian guidelines recommend lifestyle modification by adopting healthy behaviours to manage diabetes.⁶ Lifestyle management includes diabetes self-management education, diabetes selfmanagement support, medical nutrition therapy, smoking cessation, physical activity, and psychosocial care.³¹ Diabetes self-care management is influenced by gender, level of education, duration of diabetes, ^{32,33} in addition to having the requisite knowledge, physical skills, and self-efficacy.²⁹ No studies have yet documented the level of adherence to self-care management in the Arabic speaking population with T2D in Canada.

1.4.1 Physical Activity

Physical activity plays a critical role in T2D management. It improves cardiorespiratory fitness, glycemic control, and decreases the risk of diabetes complications.³⁴ According to Diabetes Canada, it is recommended that people who have T2D engage in at least 150 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity per week to improve cardiovascular risk factors and reduce morbidity and mortality.³⁴ Regular physical activity has been shown in many studies to be an important element in diabetes management primarily due to its impact on insulin sensitivity and weight reduction.³⁵ Furthermore, people with T2D who exercise have better glycemic control ³⁶, lower levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and triglycerides than those who do not exercise.³⁷ Further, being physically active has been associated with decreased risk of CVD-related and overall mortality in patients with diabetes.³⁸ Previous studies have found that Arabic speaking populations with T2D in Arabic countries ¹⁶ and in Australia³⁹ have low levels of physical activity. There is a lack of evidence on physical activity in Arabic-speaking Canadians with T2D.

1.4.2 Nutrition therapy

Combined with physical activity, nutrition therapy is a vital part of diabetes selfcare management and can reduce HbA1c by 1 to 2%.⁴⁰ Dietary patterns in the Arabic countries have rapidly transformed in the past three decades.¹⁶ The traditional Arabic diet has been changing from one that includes high fiber, fresh fruits, vegetables, and whole grains to a processed high fat, high carbohydrate, low fiber diet.^{16,41} Additionally, consuming many sweets during family and social events have become the norm. Larger portion sizes have been implicated in the diabetes epidemic in Arabic countries.¹⁶ Social life plays a major role in being less adherent to a healthy diet since people mainly eat meat, rice, and sweets at gatherings.⁴² To our knowledge, dietary behaviour in the Arabic speaking population with diabetes in Canada has not been reported.

1.4.3 Foot Care

Peripheral neuropathy is a common diabetes complication that is defined by decreased or abnormal lower limb sensation.⁴³ Association of neuropathy and peripheral arterial disease increases the risk of foot ulcer and infection that may lead to lower limb amputation, which is 20 times more likely to occur in people with diabetes than in those without diabetes in Canada.⁴³ Specific foot care education and early detection of foot problems are the keys to preventing amputation.⁴³ Diabetes Canada recommends that foot care education be incorporated in0 diabetes management to prevent and promptly treat complications.⁴³ There are no reported studies in the literature examining foot care management in the Arabic speaking diabetes population in Canada.

1.4.4 Medication adherence

Adhering to medications is a major modifiable risk factor for diabetes control and is cost-saving to the medical system.^{44,45} Poor medication adherence and uncontrolled T2D have been documented in many Arabic countries, including the UAE and Palestine.^{46,47} Low levels of knowledge and health awareness, poor medication adherence, concerning increased diabetes complications have been reported in many Arabic speaking countries.⁴² In a survey of Arab Americans, just under one third (29.2%) of participants reported high adherence to antihypertensive medications, and <u>those who</u> <u>were most adherent</u> had the best blood pressure control.⁴⁸ In the same study, authors linked higher acculturation with more adherence to medications.⁴⁸ However, there is no evidence <u>of</u> the level of medication adherence in Arabic speaking adults with diabetes in Canada.

1.4.5 Blood glucose monitoring

Self-monitoring of blood glucose levels provides an accurate assessment and <u>monitoring</u> of hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia.⁴⁹ Monitoring allows an individual to observe and understand the impact of food, physical activity, and medications on blood glucose fluctuations and enables the individual to make better decisions by tailoring activities to reduce glucose level.⁴⁹ More frequent self-monitoring is especially important for patients who are taking oral medications or insulin that can cause hypoglycemia.⁴⁹ The frequency of blood glucose monitoring is dependent on the severity of T2D, access and cost of supplies, as well as patient capacity to self-monitor. There are many types of devices to monitor blood glucose levels, which include self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG) and flash glucose monitoring (FGM).⁴⁹ There is evidence to show that SMBG is

associated with significant reductions in body weight and HbA1C level compared to those who did not use SMBG.⁴⁹ Evidence on self-monitoring of blood glucose in Arabic-speaking adults with T2D is also lacking.

1.5 Diabetes and depression

People who have diabetes are at greater risk for depression than those without diabetes.⁵⁰ One-third of people with diabetes have clinically significant depressive symptoms.⁵¹ Based on the recommendations from Diabetes Canada, people with diabetes should regularly be screened for psychological distress and psychiatric disorders including diabetes distress, fear of hypoglycemia, depression, and anxiety.⁵¹ It is important to address depressive symptoms in T2D because depression is linked to lower adherence to self-care activities ^{51,52} and follow-up with care providers.⁵³ Also, major depression is associated with a poor level of self-care behaviours.⁵² Such evidence is not available for Arabic-speaking adults with T2D.

1.6 Acculturation, gender, and diabetes

Redfield states, "Acculturation comprehends those phenomena which result when groups of individuals having different cultures come into continuous first-hand contact with subsequent changes in the original culture patterns of either or both groups".⁵⁴ Level of acculturation can be reflected by duration of time in a new country, retention of mother tongues/language proficiency, and retention of traditional practices.⁵⁵ Lack of acculturation was reported to be a risk factor for diabetes among Arab Americans.²⁵ Consuming Arabic food, short duration in the USA, speaking Arabic with friends, and being less engaged in American culture were associated with increased risk for diabetes in Arab American men.²⁵ A Canadian study on acculturation and diet in Arab immigrants

reported decreasing consumption of Arabic food after immigration.⁵⁶ This decrease was linked to the unavailability of traditional ingredients, the increased time required to cook and prepare traditional foods, and children's preferences.⁵⁶ However, in the same study, Arab participants reported eating healthier compared to their country of origin because of increased nutritional knowledge and decreased sweets, carbohydrates, and fat consumption.⁵⁶

Gender may play a role in acculturation and diabetes care in Canada. A study on female Arabic immigrants in Edmonton showed that women maintain traditional roles as in their native countries, and are largely responsible for food shopping and cooking.⁵⁷ Women mentioned that they prefer shopping at ethnic grocery stores but reported finding it challenging to adhere to their traditional foods due to unavailability or inconvenient access to Arabic grocery shops in Edmonton.⁵⁷ We do not have data on how acculturation and gender impact diabetes care in Arab-speaking Canadians with T2D.

1.7 Diabetes-specific health outcomes

Several clinical measures have been established as standardized benchmarks of diabetes care to help clinicians guide treatment based on substantial evidence, and have served as the basis of many clinical practice guidelines.^{58,59} These measures include BMI, HbA1c, blood pressure, lipid levels, and urinary albumin-creatinine ratio.

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), BMI is calculated by weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters (kg/m²).⁶⁰ The healthy BMI range falls between BMI of 18.5 kg/m² and 24.9 kg/m², overweight refers to BMI of more than 25 kg/m², while obesity is defined as BMI of more than 30 kg/m2.⁶⁰. The American Diabetes Association recommends to measure BMI in patients with diabetes in

each routine visit and document it in patient records. Obesity is strongly linked to the increased risk of co-morbidities especially CVD,⁶¹ and weight loss is significantly associated with reductions in HbA1c in overweight and obese adults with T2D.⁶²

HbA1C is a standardized benchmark indicator of glycemic control, which is used for diabetes screening, measuring treatment effectiveness, and predicting the risk of future diabetes complications.⁴⁹ HbA1c reflects the mean blood glucose level over the last two to three months⁶³. In Canada, HbA1c is reported via the National Glycohemoglobin Standardization Program (NGSP) units (%) ⁴⁹ where the goal for diabetes control is generally less than 7%.

Dyslipidemia is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease in people with T2D.⁶⁴ Diabetes Canada recommends that people with T2D should screen routinely for hyperlipidemia.⁶⁴ The recommended levels of LDL cholesterol in T2D are less than 2.0 mmol/L.⁶⁴

The UKPDS38 trial found that aggressive management of hypertension in individuals with diabetes helps to achieve a target level of blood pressure and reduce the risk of stroke by 40%, diabetes-related mortality by 32%, and microvascular complications by 37%.⁶⁵ For these reasons, the early detection of high blood pressure and extensive hypertensive treatment in people with diabetes is essential.⁶⁶ Diabetes Canada recommends measuring blood pressure frequently in individuals with T2D and targeting a level below 130/80 mmHg.⁶⁷

Diabetes is the most common cause of kidney disease in Canad.⁶⁸ A urine test known as the Albumin Creatinine Ratio (ACR, normal levels of ACR \leq 2mg/mmol) is a

marker for kidney damage and is an important predictor of morbidity and mortality in individuals with T2D.⁶⁸ An early sign of CKD in diabetes is proteinuria as defined by a high ACR. Diabetes Canada recommends that individuals diagnosed with T2D should be screened for proteinuria at the time of diagnosis and subsequent annual basis. ⁶⁸ Proactive screening allows for early detection of kidney damage and permits early treatment that can slow the progression of CKD.⁶⁸

We wanted to assess and compare these benchmark indicators in the Arabicspeaking patients to other diabetes patients in Canada and other Arabic-speaking patients to get a better understanding of their clinical status while also taking their diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviours, depressive symptoms, adherence, and acculturation into context.

1.8 Conclusion

As immigrants face many challenges adapting to the Western culture, they may face barriers to improving health. Together with the increased immigration from Arabic countries, ¹⁵ along with the disproportionate rise in diabetes prevalence in Arab countries, there is an urgent need to understand the care of diabetes in the Arabic-speaking people with diabetes in Canada. We hope that with a better understanding of the medical needs of this group, we can build improved diabetes prevention and treatment strategies to improve health outcomes for Arabic-speaking Canadians with T2D.

1.8.1 Objectives

In this thesis, our objectives were to:

- Examine diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviours, medication adherence, and depressive symptoms in Arabic-speaking adults with T2D in Edmonton (Figure 1-2).
- 2. Examine whether Arabic-speaking women and men with T2D in Edmonton have different sociodemographic, behavioral, psychosocial, clinical, and health outcomes.









1.9 References

- 1. Punthakee Z, Goldenberg R, Katz P. Definition, classification and diagnosis of diabetes, prediabetes and metabolic syndrome. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 42, Supplement 1:S15.
- International Diabetes Federation. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 8th edn. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation, 2017& nbsp; 2017; Available from: <u>http://diabetesatlas.org/resources/2017-atlas.html</u>. [cited Apr 3,2018].
- 3. Diabetes Canada. Diabetes Charter Backgrounders. 2018; Available from: <u>http://www.diabetes.ca/diabetes-and-you/know-your-rights/support-the-diabetes-charter-for-canada/diabetes-charter-backgrounders</u>. [cited Apr 3,2018].
- 4. Loukine L, Waters C, Choi BCK, Ellison J. Impact of diabetes mellitus on life expectancy and health-adjusted life expectancy in Canada. Population Health Metrics 2012;10: 7-16.
- 5. Diana Sherifali, Lori D. Berard, Enza Gucciardi, Barbara MacDonald, Gail Mac Neill. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Self-management education and support. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 35(1):12.
- 6. Lorraine Lipscombe, Gillian Booth, Sonia Butalia, Kaberi Dasgupta, Dean T. Eurich, Ronald Goldenberg, Nadia Khan, Lori Mac Callum, Baiju R. Shah, Scot Simpson. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Pharmacologic glycemic management of type 2 diabetes in adults. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 35(1):12.
- Martin D, Miller AP, Quesnel-Vallée A, Caron NR, Vissandjée B, Marchildon GP. Canada's universal health-care system: Achieving its potential. Lancet 2018 Apr 28, 391 (10131):1718-1735.
- 8. Statistics Canada. immigration and ethnocultural diversity in Canada. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 2011. Canadian Research Index 2013 Jan 1,
- Omariba DWR, Ng E, Vissandjée B. Differences between immigrants at various durations of residence and host population in all-cause mortality, Canada 1991-2006. Population Studies (Camb) 2014; 68(3):339-357.
- 10. Statistics Canada. The Arab Community in Canada. 2007; Available from: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/pub/89-621-x/89-621-x/89-621-x2007009-eng.htm</u>. [Cited May 21, 2018] .
- 11. Hourani CA. The Arab league in perspective. The Middle East Journal 1947(2):125.

- 12. Wikipedia. Arab culture. 2018; Available from: <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Arab_culture&oldid=843656581</u>. [Cited Jun 13, 2018].
- 13. Statistics Canada. Census Profile. 2016 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue. 2017; Available from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016</u>. [Cited April 3, 2018] .
- 14. Kalich A, Heinemann L, Ghahari S. A scoping review of immigrant experience of health care access barriers in Canada. Journal Of Immigrant And Minority Health 2016; 18(3):697-709.
- 15. Mass migration and uprisings in the Arab countries: An analytical framework. 2017.
- 16. Badran M, Laher I. Type II diabetes mellitus in Arabic-speaking countries. International Journal of Endocrinology 2012:916.
- 17. Anne Marie Thow, Anne-Marie Waters. Diabetes in culturally and linguistically diverse Australians. 2005 October.
- Andrew P, Natasha P, Mohammed M, Glenys R, Chris R, Mandy W, et al. Evaluation of a comprehensive tobacco control project targeting Arabic-speakers residing in south west Sydney, Australia. Health Promot International 2010(2):153.
- 19. El-Sayed A, Galea S. The health of Arab-Americans living in the United States: A systematic review of the literature. BMC Public Health 2009;9(1):272-280.
- 20. Hjelm K, Bard K, Nyberg P, Apelqvist J. Religious and cultural distance in beliefs about health and illness in women with diabetes mellitus of different origin living in Sweden. International journal of nursing studies. 2003; 40: 627-643.
- 21. Alzubaidi H, Mc Namara K, Browning C, Marriott J. Barriers and enablers to healthcare access and use among Arabic-speaking and Caucasian English-speaking patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A qualitative comparative study. BMJ Open 2015; 5(11):e008687.
- 22. Ding EL, Song Y, Malik VS, Liu S. Sex differences of endogenous sex hormones and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2006; 295 (11):1288-1299.
- 23. Gucciardi E, Wang SC, DeMelo M, Amaral L, Stewart DE. Characteristics of men and women with diabetes: Observations during patients' initial visit to a diabetes education centre. Can Fam Physician 2008; 54(2):219-227.
- 24. Legato MJ, Gelzer A, Goland R, Ebner SA, Rajan S, Villagra V, et al. Gender-specific care of the patient with diabetes: Review and recommendations. Gender Medicine 2006;3: 131-158.
- 25. Linda A. J, Morton B. B, Adnan H, Qian Z, William H. H. Lack of acculturation is a risk factor for diabetes in arab immigrants in the U.S. Diabetes Care 2003(7):2010.

- 26. Auni J, Saara K, Seppo L, Tapani R, Kalevi P, Markku L. Gender difference in the impact of type 2 diabetes on coronary heart disease risk. Diabetes Care 2004(12):2898.
- 27. Kautzky-Willer A, Harreiter J, Pacini G. Sex and gender differences in risk, pathophysiology and complications of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Endocr Rev 2016; 37(3):278-316.
- 28. Powers MA, Bardsley J, Cypress M, Duker P, Funnell MM, Fischl AH, et al. Diabetes selfmanagement education and support in type 2 diabetes: A joint position statement of the American Diabetes Association, the American association of diabetes educators, and the academy of nutrition and dietetics. Diabetes Educ 2017 February 1; 43(1):40-53.
- 29. Sigurðardóttir ÁK. Self-care in diabetes: Model of factors affecting self-care. Journal of Clinical Nursing 2005 Mar; 14(3):301-314.
- 30. Beeney LJ, Dunn SM. Knowledge improvement and metabolic control in diabetes education: Approaching the limits? Patient Educ Couns 1990; 16 (3):217-229.
- 31. American Diabetes Association. Lifestyle management: Standards of medical care in diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care 2018; 41: S50.
- 32. Bai Y, Chiou C, Chang Y. Self-care behaviour and related factors in older people with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Nurs 2009; 18 (23):3308-3315.
- 33. Wu SV, Courtney M, Edwards H, McDowell J, Shortridge-Baggett LM, Chang P. Selfefficacy, outcome expectations and self-care behaviour in people with type 2 diabetes in taiwan. Journal of Clinical Nursing 2007; 16 (3):250-257.
- 34. Ronald J. Sigal, Marni J. Armstrong, Simon L. Bacon, Normand G. Boulé, Kaberi Dasgupta, Glen P. Kenny, Michael C. Riddell. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Physical activity and diabetes. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 35(1):12.
- 35. Borghouts LB, Keizer HA. Exercise and insulin sensitivity: A review. Int J Sports Med 2000; 21(1):1-12.
- 36. Umpierre D, Ribeiro PaB, Schaan BD, Ribeiro JP. Volume of supervised exercise training impacts glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review with meta-regression analysis. Diabetologia 2013 Feb; 56(2):242-251.
- 37. Balducci S, Zanuso S, Cardelli P, Salvi L, Bazuro A, Pugliese L, et al. Effect of high- versus low-intensity supervised aerobic and resistance training on modifiable cardiovascular risk factors in type 2 diabetes; the Italian diabetes and exercise study (IDES). PLoS One 2012; 7(11):e49297.

- 38. Diewertje S, Brian B, Rebecca M, Rudolf K, Birgit T, Nina Føns J, et al. Physical activity and mortality in individuals with diabetes mellitus: A prospective study and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 2012(17):1285.
- 39. Alzubaidi H, Mc Narmara K, Kilmartin GM, Kilmartin JF, Marriott J. The relationships between illness and treatment perceptions with adherence to diabetes self-care: A comparison between Arabic-speaking migrants and Caucasian English-speaking patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2015 Nov; 110 (2):208-217.
- 40. John L. Sievenpiper, Catherine B. Chan, Paula D. Dworatzek, Catherine Freeze, Sandra L.Williams. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Nutrition therapy. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 35 (1):12.
- 41. Musaiger AO, Hassan AS, Obeid O. The paradox of nutrition-related diseases in the Arab countries: The need for action. International journal of environmental research and public health 2011 Sep; 8(9):3637-3671.
- 42. Alsairafi ZK, Taylor KMG, Smith FJ, Alattar AT. Patients' management of type 2 diabetes in Middle Eastern countries: Review of studies. Patient Preference and Adherence 2016:1051.
- 43. John M. Embil, Zaina Albalawi, Keith Bowering, Elly Trepman. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Foot care Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.
- 44. Rozenfeld Y, Hunt JS, Plauschinat C, Wong KS. Oral antidiabetic medication adherence and glycemic control in managed care. The American journal of managed care 2008; 14 (2):71-75.
- 45. Lee WC, Balu S, Cobden D, Joshi AV, Pashos CL. Health economics. Prevalence and economic consequences of medication adherence in diabetes: A systematic literature review. Manage Care Interface 2006; 19(7):31-41.
- 46. Koprulu F, Bader RJK, Hassan, Nageeb A G M, Abduelkarem AR, Mahmood DA. Evaluation of adherence to diabetic treatment in northern region of United Arab Emirates. Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research 2014; 13(6):989-995.
- 47. Sweileh W, Zyoud S, Al-Jabi S, Abu Nab'A R, Deleq M, Enaia M, et al. Influence of patients' disease knowledge and beliefs about medicines on medication adherence: Findings from a cross-sectional survey among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Palestine. BMC Public Health 2014; 14(1).
- 48. Tailakh A, Tailakh AK, Evangelista LS, Morisky DE, Mentes JC, Pike NA, et al. Acculturation, medication adherence, lifestyle behaviors, and blood pressure control among Arab Americans. Journal Of Transcultural Nursing 2016; 27(1):57-64.

- 49. Lori D. Berard, Rick Siemens BSc Pharm, CDE, VincentWoo. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Monitoring glycemic control. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 35(1):12.
- 50. Ali S, Stone MA, Peters JL, Davies MJ, Khunti K. The prevalence of co-morbid depression in adults with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetic medicine: a journal of the British Diabetic Association 2006 Nov; 23 (11):1165.
- 51. David J. Robinson, Michael Coons, Heidi Haensel, Michael Vallis, Jean-François Yale. diabetes canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Diabetes and mental health. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 35(1):12.
- 52. Gonzalez JS, Safren SA, Cagliero E, Wexler DJ, Delahanty L, Wittenberg E, et al. Depression, self-care, and medication adherence in type 2 diabetes: Relationships across the full range of symptom severity. Diabetes Care 2007; 30(9):2222-2227.
- 53. Gonzalez JS, Peyrot M, McCarl LA, Collins EM, Serpa L, Mimiaga MJ, et al. Depression and diabetes treatment no adherence: A meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2008; 31(12):2398-2403.
- 54. Robert Redfield a, Ralph Linton a, Herskovits MJ. Memorandum for the study of acculturation. American Anthropologist 1936(1):149.
- 55. Sanou D, O'Reilly E, Ngnie-Teta I, Batal M, Mondain N, Andrew C, et al. Acculturation and nutritional health of immigrants in Canada: A scoping review. J Immigrant Minority Health 2014; 16(1):24-34.
- 56. Galesloot S, McIntrye L, Fento T, Tyminski S. Dietary acculturation of Arab immigrants in the greater Toronto area. CAN J DIET PRACT RES 2012; 73(3):143-146.
- 57. Vallianatos H, Raine K. Consuming food and constructing identities among Arabic and south Asian immigrant women. Sisters or Strangers? Immigrant, Ethnic, and Racialized Women in Canadian History, Second Edition 2016:455-474.
- 58. Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada. Can J Diabetes 2018:S325.
- 59. American Diabetes Association. Summary of revisions: Standards of medical care in diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care 2018; 41: S6.
- 60. Obesity and overweight Fact sheet 2017. World Health Organization. 2017; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight</u>. [Cited Jun 13,2018].

- 61. Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL, Anis AH. The incidence of comorbidities related to obesity and overweight: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2009;9(1):1-20.
- 62. Jecht M. The effect of weight loss on HbA1c levels. Diabetologe 2017;13(7):519-521.
- 63.. Nathan DM, Kuenen J, Borg R, Zheng H, Schoenfeld D, Heine RJ.Translating the A1C assay into estimated average glucose values. Diabetes Care 2008(8):1473.
- 64. G.B. John Mancini, Robert A. Hegele, Lawrence A. Leiter. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Dyslipidemia. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 35 (1):12.
- 65. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). Lancet 1998; 352 (9131):837-853.
- 66. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. Papers 1998 -9-12;317(7160):703-713.
- 67. SheldonW. Tobe, Richard E. Gilbert, Charlotte Jones, Lawrence A. Leiter, Ally P.H. Prebtani, VincentWo. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Treatment of hypertension. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 35(1):12.
- 68. Philip McFarlane, David Cherney, Richard E. Gilbert, Peter Senior. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Chronic kidney disease in diabetes. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2011;35(1):12.

Chapter 2 : DIABETES KNOWLEDGE, SELF-CARE BEHAVIOURS, ACCULTURATION, AND METABOLIC CONTROL IN ARABIC- SPEAKING ADULTS WITH TYPE 2 DIABETES IN EDMONTON, ALBERTA, CANADA 2.1 INTRODUCTION

The prevalence of diabetes has been growing all over the world with about 425 million living with diabetes globally.² Over ten million Canadians are affected by diabetes, while one Canadian is diagnosed with diabetes every three minutes.³ The prevalence of diabetes in Alberta was estimated to be 7% in 2018.³ The most common type of diabetes is T2D, which accounts for about 90% of all diabetes cases.² Diabetes leads to severe complications and contributes to causing 30% of strokes, 40% of heart attacks, 50% of kidney failures requiring dialysis, and 70% of non-traumatic lower-limb amputations yearly³, and is considered the leading cause of blindness in Canadians under 50 years old.⁴ Diabetes reduces health-adjusted life expectancy by 5.8 years in women and 5.3 years in men⁴, and currently costs the Canadian health care system \$3.6 billion per year and is projected to increase to \$4.7 billion per year in 2028.³

Fortunately, diabetes and many of its complications are now preventable with proper management, which includes lifestyle modifications (diet, physical activity), self-monitoring of blood glucose, and medications.⁶⁹ Diabetes education is a critical part of diabetes management, as the treatment requires significant behavioural changes.²⁸ In Canada, providing quality diabetes education is challenging given the diverse languages and cultures.

Canada is a multicultural country with diverse cultural and ethnic populations. This diversity may contribute to different levels of health quality and health outcomes among Canadians living
with chronic disease.⁹ The number of Arabic-speaking people has been growing fast during the last few decades. For the purpose of this thesis, we define an Arabic-speaking person as someone who was born in one of these 22 Arabic-speaking countries: Algeria, Egypt, Libya, Morocco, Somalia, Sudan, Tunisia, Djibouti, Mauritania, Iraq, Jordan, Lebanon, Syria, Palestine, Bahrain, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates, Kuwait, and Yemen. Arabic is one of the five top non-official languages spoken in Canada with rates varying across the country: 18% in Montreal, 18.6 % in Ottawa, and 6% in Edmonton. In Alberta, 56,700 people (1.4 %), and 25,505 identified as Arabs in 2016 in Edmonton.¹³

Of concern, diabetes prevalence in several Arabic-speaking countries has exceeded epidemic proportions.² For instance, the 2017 prevalence of T2D was estimated to be 18.2% in Saudi Arabia.¹³ Sudan, Egypt and Saudi Arabia are among the top five countries in North Africa and the Middle East of having the highest number of adults with diabetes in 2017.¹³ The impact of diabetes on the increasing Arabic-speaking diaspora in Canada has not been well investigated. It has been reported that Arabic-speaking immigrants from North Africa and the Middle East are at higher risk for diabetes than the general Canadian population.⁷⁰ For instance, among ethnic groups in Ontario, male Arabs are at a higher risk of developing diabetes early in their immigration compared to other immigrants from the UK.⁷¹ A review of Arab-American health showed that Arab Americans have a higher prevalence of diabetes compared to other ethnic groups in the USA and also have a higher prevalence of metabolic syndrome.¹⁹

Arabic-speaking immigrants face many challenges in adapting to a Western culture, which might create barriers to improving health outcomes. Kalich et al. have found that immigrants to Canada find language, finances, access to information, and cultural differences challenging when navigating the health care system.¹⁴ At present, there is a paucity of knowledge

regarding Arabic-speaking people with diabetes in Canada. Given the increasing immigration from these countries ¹⁵ along with the disproportionate rise in diabetes prevalence in the Arab countries, it is essential that a better understanding of the medical needs of this group be studied to ensure appropriate diabetes prevention and treatment strategies to improve health outcomes for Arabic-speaking Canadians with T2D. For this reason, we conducted this study which aims to examine diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviours, medication adherence, and depressive symptoms in Arabic-speaking adults with T2D in Edmonton. Furthermore, there are distinctive gender roles in Arabic culture, which may also contribute to differences in health outcomes, so we also examined the role of gender in the outcomes in this population.

2.2 METHODS

2.2.1 Study design, eligibility, and recruitment

We conducted a cross-sectional study in Edmonton, Alberta between July 2017 and January 2018. Data collection was conducted using both face-to-face and phone interviews that involved completing an online survey via Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap), and medical chart reviews. Research posters were distributed at family medicine clinics, endocrinology clinics, pharmacies, Arabic/Middle Eastern shops, and Arabic community centers throughout Edmonton area. Eligible participants from primary care networks and community centers in Edmonton were recruited via convenience and snowball sampling.

We included adults with T2D who spoke Arabic as their first language, were born in one of 22 Arabic-speaking countries, residing in Edmonton. Exclusion criteria included patients with T1D, gestational diabetes, or were not able to understand the scope of the study or communicate to answer the survey (e.g. those with dementia, cognitive issues, speech disorders). Individuals who agreed to participate provided written consent to take part in the study and to release the relevant medical information from their health care providers. Each participant received a \$10 gift card as compensation, even if they decided to withdraw from the study later on.

To enhance recruitment, we held four public seminars in Edmonton where we invited the participants who had been interviewed and other community members to attend. In these seminars, we emphasized general knowledge regarding lifestyle management, available health resources, and the Canadian guideline recommendations for individuals with T2D.

This study was approved by the health research ethics board at the University of Alberta (Pro00069585).

2.2.2 Interview and data collection

The interviews were conducted in Arabic by trained bilingual research assistants. The 25-minute survey had 66 questions addressing the following seven domains (appendix A&B)

- Sociodemographic data included a date of birth, sex, marital status, education level, employment status, and total annual household income. These questions were derived from the survey used in the Alberta's Caring for Diabetes Study (ABCD study).⁷²
- Self-reported health was assessed using one item asking participants how they feel about their overall health with the responses of excellent, very good, good, fair, and poor.⁷²
- Health and lifestyle information including questions on diabetes duration, history of hypoglycemia, diabetes self-management, self-reported of diabetes-related complications, and family history of diabetes. These questions were derived from the ABCD study.⁷²
- Diabetes knowledge assessment was done using the Arabic-version of the 14-item Michigan Diabetes Knowledge Test (DKT) to assess the level of participants' diabetesrelated knowledge. A total score < 7 indicates a poor level of knowledge, scores between 7 and 11 indicate an average (acceptable) level of knowledge, and scores > 11 indicate a good level of knowledge.⁷³ After we finished the interview, we provided the right answers of this questionnaire to participants, and discussed the answers with them and why they gave the wrong answer.
- For self-care management, we used 18 items from the Summary of Diabetes Self-Care Activities (SDSCA) questionnaire. This questionnaire assesses diet, diabetes monitoring, physical activity, medication adherence, smoking, and foot care. In this study, we only used the diet (five items), diabetes monitoring (two items), physical activity (two items),

and foot care (five items) sub-scales. We used both the Lebanese and Saudi versions of this questionnaire for cultural and language adaptation.^{74,75} Individuals reported how many days in the past seven days they engaged in a particular activity. The scoring system of self-care activities was reported as adherent or non-adherent based on the mean of days of the activity in the prior week.

- Medication adherence was assessed using the Arabic-version of the 8-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale, (MMAS8). The total score is based on the summation of the scores for the eight questions. Adherence was classified as high (score= 8), medium (score 6 - 7), and low (score ≤5).⁴⁷
- The Arabic-version of the 2-item patient health questionnaire (PHQ2) was used for depressive symptoms screening. A score of less than three indicates negative, depressive symptoms and greater than three positive symptoms.^{76,77}
- Acculturation-related questions about country of origin, duration of stay in Canada, the preferred language of communication (only English, only Arabic, mostly English, mostly Arabic, English and Arabic equally, another language), and eating habits/nutrition (always-Arabic food, mostly Arabic food, equal Arabic and Canadian food, mostly Canadian food, and always-Canadian food). These questions were adapted from a questionnaire used in a study that measured Arab acculturation in the USA.⁷⁸
- Clinical outcomes were obtained from participants' medical charts through their health care providers including the last reading of HbA1c, blood pressure (BP), height, weight, lipid profile (High Density Lipoprotein cholesterol levels (HDL), Low Density Lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL) levels, triglyceride (TG) levels, and urine albumin-creatinine ratio (ACR)). We excluded tests done before 2016. Based on the

recommendations of Diabetes Canada, we categorized BP, HbA1c, and LDL-C to calculate the proportion of our population meeting the recommendation for blood pressure level below 130/80mmHg⁶⁷, HbA1c less than 7%⁷⁹, and LDL-C less than or equal to 2mmol/L. For ACR, we divided this into three categories of less than 2.0 mg/mmol as normal, from 2.0 to 20.0 mg/mmol as microalbuminuria and more than 20.0 mg/mmol as over nephropathy.⁶⁸

2.2.3 Data management and analysis

The survey data were exported directly from REDcap to STATA statistical analysis software. Chart review data was entered into REDCap and checked by two members of the research team. All questionnaires were scored as per the guidelines for each ^{73,80-82}, although some adaptations were made:

- SDSCA: We made an adaptation to the SDSCA where a response choice of "notapplicable [N/A]" to the second question in the general diet section, "On average, over the past month, how many DAYS PER WEEK have you followed your eating plan?", given that some patients may not have a specified eating plan. The smallest score for this question is zero days, which meant the responders had a specific diet plan but did not follow it. We also used the answer from the first SDSCA question of the diet question "How many of the last SEVEN DAYS have you followed a healthful eating plan?", and imputed its value to the second question regarding following an eating plan, as we assumed a healthful diet was equivalent to following an eating plan.
- Michigan Diabetes Knowledge Test (DKT): we also adapted the DKT by adding an extra response of "I don't know" to all questions to identify those without knowledge

instead of forcing them to indicate an answer that might be correct by chance. This adaptation provides a better estimation of the level of knowledge in this population.

Statistical Analysis

We performed descriptive and simple correlation analysis. We stratified analysis by gender, HbA1c, and acculturation. Acculturation was based on each of three separate variables: duration in Canada, language spoken at home, and type of food eaten at home. Continuous variables were examined for normality; descriptive statistics for continuous variables were expressed as mean (standard deviation, SD), median (interquartile range, IQR) and frequency (proportion) as appropriate. Student t-test was used to compare continuous variables across stratified groups for normally distributed data, respectively. Chi-square test and one-way ANOVA were used to compare categorical variables. A two-tailed α = 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance. Stata 14 software was used for analysis. Missing data ranged from 6.5 % in blood pressure measurement data to 32.5% in height and weight measurement data and were excluded from analysis.

2.3 RESULTS

One hundred and twenty-seven participants were approached, and 115 (91.3%) were interviewed in Edmonton, primarily from the north of the city where most Arabic-speaking immigrants reside (Figure 2-1). One participant withdrew early from the study and was excluded from the data analysis. 114 participants completed the survey, and 110 had complete data from medical chart reviews. Sixty-five respondents (57.0%) were recruited from snowball sampling and advertising, with the remaining 49 respondents (43.0%) recruited from primary care clinics. Half of the participants (51.9%) were interviewed in community centers, 39.5% were interviewed in clinics, and 5.3% were interviewed over the phone.

2.3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of participants

The mean age of participants was 57.6 years (SD=10.7). The majority (61%) of participants were male and 86.0 % were married (Table 2-2). Patients with a Lebanese background were the largest subgroup (37.7%) in this sample while 18.4 % were from Syria, which included 14 Syrian newcomers who came to Canada as refugees. The mean duration of time spent living in Canada was 23.9 years (SD=17.5). Sixty percent reported a total household income below CAD\$45,000, and 40 (35.1%) were employed either part or full-time. Sixty-eight percent of respondents primarily spoke Arabic at home. The majority (91.2%) cooked Arabic food at home either most or all of the time.

Female participants were younger (mean age of 54.6, SD=11.4) than males (mean age of 59.5, SD=9.9 years, p=0.019). Marital status also greatly varied with gender in this population; the proportion of unmarried women, which included single, widowed and divorced women, was

higher (27.3 %) compared to men (5.7 %, p= 0.001). 27.3% of females had postsecondary education compared with 42.9 % of men. The same pattern was seen with employment, where 25.0 % of women were employed either part or full-time compared to 41.4% of men. Acculturation variables did not differ by gender (Table 2-2).

2.3.2 Diabetes history and management

The mean diabetes duration was 11.1 years (SD = 8.6) (Table 2-3). Most of the participants (71.9%) reported having a family history of diabetes. More than half reported hypertension (58.8%) and high cholesterol levels (54.4%). Small proportion reported diabetes complications; 14.9% reported heart problems, 20.2% reported eye problems and 12.4 % reported severe hypoglycemia that required outside help to address during last year. Regarding self-care management, 36.0% reported following a diabetes-specific diet. About half were aware of the Canada Food Guide, but only 44.1% participants used it. Just over a quarter of our sample identified physical activity as a means to manage their diabetes. The majority of participants were taking oral hypoglycemic drugs (81.6%), with 29.0% taking insulin injections, and 22.3% on a combination of oral hypoglycemic drugs and insulin. No one reported taking non-insulin injectable medications (e.g. Glucagon-like peptide 1-agonists) to manage diabetes.

The only self-management behaviour that differed by gender was the rate of self-reported physical activity as part of diabetes management where 41.4% of men reported exercising compared to 22.7% of women (p=0.04) (Table 2-3).

2.3.3 Diabetes monitoring and education from health care providers

The vast majority of participants (96.5%) reported that their family doctor checked their BP during their last visit (Table 2-3). A minority (17.5%) of respondents saw a diabetes educator, and 26.3% saw a dietitian within the last year. Approximately three-quarters of participants had retinopathy screening during the last two years. There were no significant differences in diabetes monitoring by gender.

2.3.4 Diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviours, medication adherence, and depressive symptoms

When assessing medication adherence, we excluded 11 participants from the data analysis because they were not taking diabetes medications. More than the half of the participants taking medications (53.5%) had an average score (7 to 11 points) on the diabetes knowledge test, 21.1% had a reasonable level of knowledge, and 25.4% had a reduced or inadequate level of knowledge (Table 2-4). The participants were more likely to answer questions incorrectly on questions asking about the levels of carbohydrate in specific foods, the effect of infection on blood sugar level, and on HbA1c. One out of five respondents in our study were unfamiliar with the HbA1c.

Despite knowledge levels, most self-care behaviours as reported by the SDSCA were poor or fair. Out of the last seven days before the survey, participants reported self-monitoring of blood glucose of 2.5 days/week on average, exercising 2.1 days/week, following a generally healthful diet for 3.1 days/week, and following a specific diabetes diet for 3.6 days/week. The best self-care behaviour was foot care management where participants reported checking their feet 4.8 days/week (Table 2-4). for physical activity, only 26.3% of participants met the physical activity recommendation of 150 minutes per week. About one-fifth of respondents reported being current smokers. Just under one-third of participants reported high medication adherence. One-fifth of respondents screened positive for depressive symptoms.

There was a clear gender difference in smoking rates; most women (70.5%) were lifelong nonsmokers compared to 42.9% of men in our study. Differences in self-care behaviors by gender were statistically not significant, but results suggest more men were more adherent to general diet and self-monitoring of blood glucose. However, foot care and medication adherence levels were similar in both genders. Adherence to specific diet is the only self-care management behaviour that was higher in women compared to men. The prevalence of positive depressive symptoms was higher in women (25.0%) than men (15.7%), though not statistically significant.

2.3.5 Clinical and Physiologic Measures

Upon medical chart review, we were unable to obtain blood pressure data for 7 (6.5%) participants, HbA1c for 9 (7.0%) participants, LDL for 18 (15.8%) participants, HDL for 15 (13.2%) participants, triglyceride for 15 (13.2%) participants, ACR for 23 (20.2%) participants and height and weight data for 41 (32.5%) participants (Table 2-3). Among the 77 participants for whom weight and height measurements were available from the chart review (67.5% of the sample), 59.7 % were obese (\geq 30 kg/m2), and 27.3 % were overweight (25 to 29.9 kg/m²), with only 12.0% who had a BMI within the normal range. The mean HbA1C was 7.5% (SD = 1.6) with almost half meeting the recommended level of HbA1c less than 7.0%. The mean systolic and diastolic blood pressures (BP) were 125 mmHg (SD = 14) and 75 mmHg (SD = 9), respectively. About 60% had BP less than 130/80mmHg. The mean LDL-C was 2.2 mmol/L (SD = 0.8) with 49.0% have LDL-C of \leq 2.0 mmol/L, and the mean triglyceride level was 2.0 (SD=

1.4) mmol/L. Based on ACR levels, 35.2% had microalbuminuria and 7.7 % had overt nephropathy (ACR> 20 mg/mmoL).

When stratified by gender, the only statistically significant difference in these outcomes was in BMI. Women had higher BMI (mean 34.7 kg/m² SD= 7.1) compared to men (mean 31.6 kg/m² SD = 5.7).

2.3.6 Impact of acculturation on diabetes self-management and clinical characteristics

In this study based on unadjusted analysis, participants who spent less than ten years in Canada were less affluent and less likely to be employed despite being more educated compared to those who had been in Canada for ten years or longer. These participants also reported speaking only/mostly Arabic and were more likely to eat more traditional Arabic food at home. They also had a shorter duration of diabetes, lower BMI, and lower LDL-C levels compared to those have been in Canada for ten years or longer. Additionally, they were less familiar with the Canada Food Guide and were less adherent to a specific diabetes diet (Appendices C, D, & E).

When examining this population with regards to the type of food eaten at home based on unadjusted analysis, similar findings to those with the shortest duration in Canada were seen in those who reported always eating Arabic food at home. Participants who always ate Arabic food at home were less affluent and less likely to be employed compared to those who mostly ate Arabic or non-Arabic food at home. Notably, education levels did not differ between those who always ate Arabic food compared to those who ate less Arabic food at home. People who always ate Arabic food at home were the least likely to use physical activity as part of their diabetes management strategy and were the least familiar with the Canada Food Guide compared to those who either ate mostly Arabic or other types of food at home. No statistically significant

differences were seen in rates of diabetes complications or clinical characteristics across participants according to the types of food eaten at home, although BMI was lower in the group that reported always eating Arabic food. (Appendices I, J, &K)

Regarding language spoken at home, based on unadjusted analysis, those who only speak Arabic at home were older, less affluent, less likely to be employed, and less educated than those who speak other languages at home. People who only spoke Arabic at home reported having a shorter duration of residence in Canada, more often ate Arabic food exclusively at home, and were less likely to report diet as part of their diabetes management. We also found that those always speaking Arabic at home reported having more heart problems, though other complications did not differ based on language spoken at home. (Appendices F, G, &H)

2.4 DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to examine diabetes knowledge, selfcare behaviours, depressive symptoms, and health outcomes in Arabic-speaking adults with T2D in Canada at the same time. Our results show that the majority of participants have acceptable to good levels of diabetes knowledge. Regarding self-management behaviours, participants in this study had lower levels of adherence to diet, blood glucose monitoring, and physical activity compared to their levels of medication adherence and foot care management. We also found that one fifth of participants screened positive for depressive symptoms. Moreover, we found notable gender differences in sociodemographic, behavioural, and clinical measures.

The Alberta's Caring for Diabetes (ABCD) Study is the most relevant study we found representing general Albertans with T2D to compare our population to because it used a number of the same measurement tools.⁷² The ABCD Study surveyed a cohort of 2040 adults with T2D across Alberta.⁷² Our Arabic-speaking study population was younger than the ABCD cohort population by a mean of 7 years and had a longer duration of diabetes. Fewer females participated in our study (38.6%) than in the ABCD cohort (45.0%). Our study findings 36.8% of our study population had post-secondary education compared to 46.0% of the general Albertan population with T2D⁷².

Diabetes-related knowledge

In this study, 74.6 % of participants had acceptable to good levels of knowledge. The figure is lower than that of a Canadian study in Cambridge, Ontario using the same measurement tool which reported 87.5 % of participants had an adequate level of knowledge.⁸³ In comparison

with studies from Arabic countries, our findings are consistent with a cross-sectional study in UAE of random sample of 575 participants where despite the fact that 89% saw a diabetes educator, 31% and 36% of people had a poor and fair level of knowledge about diabetes, respectively.⁸⁴ In Egypt, only 30% of people with T2D could identify the normal level of the fasting blood sugar, and only 24.1% could identify causes of hypoglycemia.⁸⁵ Given the wide variation in the health system resources across various Arabic countries, it is not surprising that knowledge of diabetes would be poorer among participants in less resourced environments.

Self-care management

Physical activity

Even though we used a different tool to measure physical activity, most participants in both our study and the ABCD study were physically inactive; in our study, only 26.3% met the recommendations by Diabetes Canada for physical activity in diabetes (150 minutes of physical activity per week) compared to 21% of the ABCD cohort. Our results are also consistent with a study of 649 Jordanian adults with T1D and T2D in Jordan which showed that 39% of participants met the recommendations for 30 minutes of daily physical activity.⁸⁶ Furthermore, a study from Qatar found low levels of physical activity where 40% and 64% of study participants did not do any moderate or vigorous physical activity, respectively⁸⁷ and among 223 individuals with T2D in Jordan, they reported adequate physical activity on 1.8 days/week.⁸⁸ Our findings are also consistent with previous studies on Arabic-speaking diaspora with T2D. In an Australian multi-centre cross-sectional study that compared 309 Arabic-speaking and 392 Caucasian English-speaking participants with T2D, the Arabic-speaking immigrants using SDSCA scored significantly lower in physical activity than Caucasian Australian participants.³⁹

We are particularly concerned about the gender gap; women in our study participated in less physical activity (1.8 days/week) compared to men (2.4 days/week). Our results are consistent with a cross-sectional study of 293 participants with T2D in Jordan that showed women reported being less active (1.7 day/week) compared to men (2.2 day/week).⁸⁹ These findings are consistent with Canadian data which found that Canadian women with diabetes reported less activity than men with diabetes (31.6% and 41.1% respectively).⁹⁰

Physical inactivity is one of the major problems in people with T2D across all ethnicities and cultures due to the common barriers of having no desire, limited time, comorbidities, cardependence, bad weather, and lack of walkable places^{42,91}, the Arabic culture provides additional specific barriers, most notably regarding gender expectations. There is the expectation to having many children, leading to multiple pregnancies with short time between pregnancies, as well as the expectation to put family and home before physical activity or exercise.⁴² It should be noted that our study recruitment and data collection were done over the fall and winter, which may have also impacted the reporting of physical activity because of the weather.

Our results emphasize the importance of future studies to address the barriers specific to Arabic-speaking individuals with T2D to enhance the levels of fitness in this population, with an emphasis on gender-specific approaches. We anticipate that many different culturally and language appropriate interventions will be required to help women improve self-care management in T2D. Arab women prefer exercising at flexible times, indoor, in group-based environments with other women.⁹² Getting health care providers to encourage women to do physical activities based on their cultural preferences is a powerful tool to promote physical activity in Arabic speaking women with diabetes.⁹³ Alahmed et al. suggest that physician-based

physical activity counselling using the 5A strategies (ask, assess, advise, agree, assist) is an practical and realistic intervention for promoting physical activity.⁹³

Healthy nutrition

The Arabic-speaking population with T2D in Edmonton had a lower level of adherence to diet compared to the ABCD cohort.⁷² Our findings are consistent with a previous study which found that Arabic-speaking immigrants scored significantly lower on diet than Caucasian Australian participants using the same dietary measure (SDSCA) that we used.³⁹ Our study results are also consistent with those from a study that included a random sample of 649 Jordanian adults with T1D and T2D that showed similarly low rates of adherence to healthy diet behaviours where 65% did not follow diet recommendations by the dietitian,⁸⁶ similar to the majority of participants in Qatar who did not follow a healthy diet.⁸⁷ Compared to diabetes studies in Arabic countries, our findings of Arabic-speaking adults with T2D in Edmonton revealed less adherence to diet behaviours compared to those living in Arabic-speaking countries, perhaps related to factors such as greater availability of processed foods, less availability of fresh fruits and vegetables.

In this study, there were no differences in reported general dietary behaviours between women and men, but women in our study reported more adherence to specific diabetes diet compared to men, consistent with T2D studies done in both the USA and Pakistan.^{94,95} One-fifth of Canadian women with diabetes reported they did not meet the recommendation of fruit and vegetable consumption compared to one-tenth of men with diabetes.⁹⁶ A review of nutritional interventions showed that educational and behavioral interventions targeting women in home and community settings led to improvements in the level of nutritional knowledge, adherence to healthy diet, and increased physical activity in reproductive age.⁹⁷ Given that women in Arabic

culture play an important role in family life and are generally in charge of cooking, future nutritional interventions for diabetes may require targeting women or families together.⁹⁸

Self-monitoring of blood sugar

The Arabic-speaking population with T2D in Edmonton had a lower level of adherence to self-monitoring of blood sugar compared to those in the ABCD study.⁷² This was also found in the Arabic-speaking diaspora with T2D in an Australian multi-centre cross-sectional study.³⁹ Our study results are also consistent with those from a Jordanian study which showed that more than 60% of participants with diabetes did not self-monitor their blood sugar.⁸⁶ Low levels of self-monitoring of blood glucose level may also relate to the high cost of SMBG, which was likely an issue for our study participants since the total annual household income for many was less than CAD\$45,000 in the context of no public coverage for SMBG supplies. This highlights the importance of public health support to access SMBG equipment, given its established importance in diabetes management.⁹⁹

Foot care

In contrast to physical activity, nutrition, and SMBG, our results showed that Arabicspeaking individuals with T2D had better foot care management (4.8 days/week) than the ABCD participants (3.9 days/week) (70). Furthermore, our results contrast with results of the 2005 and 2007 Canadian Community Health Surveys results, which showed that Canadian immigrants with T2D in both years performed less foot care compared to Canadian-born individuals with T2D.¹⁰⁰ One possible explanation for the higher level of foot-care in our study may be related to that the majority of our study participants are Muslims. It is known that practicing Muslims wash their feet five times a day before praying. This is supported by a study conducted in Jordan showing high adherence to foot care in a Muslim population with diabetes.³⁷ So far, no study has

explored the link between the risk and prevalence of diabetic foot complications in practicing Muslim individuals with T2D who wash their feet for prayer compared to those who do not.⁸⁸

Our study results are also inconsistent with the study of 649 Jordanian adults with T1D and T2D that showed low levels of foot self-care⁸⁶ as well as the study on Arabic-speaking diaspora with T2D in Australia where the Arabic-speaking immigrants scored significantly lower in foot care than Caucasian Australian participants.³⁹

Medication adherence

The majority (73.8%) of our study population had a moderate to high level of adherence to medication but was likely lower than the ABCD study population who were adherent to medications 6.3 days/week, although the latter used a different measure of medication adherence. In contrast, our results are consistent with the results from a Canadian study of 56 T2D participants using the same measure (MMAS8) that revealed 73% had good medication adherence.⁸³ In some Arabic studies, levels of medication adherence were higher than that in our study population; only 16% of 132 individuals with T2D in UAE were found to be non-adherent to their diabetes medication¹⁰¹; 26% of T2D patients were non-adherent to their medication in Kuwait.¹⁰² However, other studies show poorer adherence in the UAE,⁴⁶ Libva¹⁰³ and Palestine.⁴⁷ A review on patient management of diabetes in the Middle East indicated that medication adherence in Arabic-speaking countries differ from country to another. The main reasons are lack of education regarding benefit of adherence and forgetting to take their medication.⁴² We found no difference in medication adherence between genders, consistent with previous studies in non-Arabic countries such as Germany, Uganda, and Ethiopia.¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁶ However, a few studies from Arabic countries have shown females to be less adherent. A cross-sectional study interviewing 353 Saudis with T2D found that being less adherent to diabetes medication was

associated with being female, having low level of education, doing less exercise, and using insulin.¹⁰⁷ Both Montague and Sajith et. al found that males with T2D have higher adherence level of medication than females, which might be related to observations that women with T2D had more comorbidities, negative attitudes toword diabetes, and higher prevalence of psychological problems.^{108,109}

Smoking

There are cultural differences in substance use, whereby 21.9% of participants in this study were active smokers, higher than the prevalence of smoking in the ABCD cohort (10.4 %) and slightly higher than that of the general Alberta population (18.8%).¹¹⁰ Notably, our results are not consistent with the results of the Canadian Community Health Surveys in 2005 and 2007 for immigrants and non-immigrants with T2D, where smoking rates in immigrants were significantly lower than non-immigrants.¹⁰⁰ Our findings were, however, similar to those in an Arabic-speaking immigrant cohort with T2D in Australia where 26.7% were smokers.³⁹ It has also been observed that Arab Americans have a higher rate of smoking than the general American population¹⁹ because smoking is considered a common practice in Arabic culture and is generally not thought of as a risk factor for common chronic diseases.¹¹¹

Among genders in our sample, 24.3% of men were active smokers compared to 18.2% of women, which has been seen in both people with and without diabetes from the results of the Canadian Community Health Survey (2007-2008).⁹⁰ The same trend is seen in the general population but at higher rates. In Eastern Mediterranean countries, national smoking rates vary considerably across Arabic speaking countries. In these countries, smoking rates range from 29.7% in men and 1.4% in women in Morocco to 59.0% in men and 47.3% in women in Lebanon.¹¹² Sociocultural factors in some Arabic countries may contribute to increasing rate of

smoking, particularly in females. For example, the high rate of smoking in Lebanese women has been linked to the fact that Lebanon is one of the most urbanized and Westernized Arabic countries, where smoking is associated with freedom.¹¹²

Arabic-speaking adults with T2D had a meager rate of alcohol consumption of just 2.6% compared to 69.5% in ABCD cohort. The majority of participants in our study are Muslims, and the use of alcohol is prohibited in Islam. Little evidence has examined the use of alcohol in Arabs with diabetes.

Depressive symptoms

Regarding mental health, 19.3% of our population screened positive for depressive symptoms, close to 18% of the ABCD cohort who reported having moderate to severe depressive symptoms.⁷² Our results are in contrast to a study on multiethnic groups living with diabetes in the Netherlands, which reported 27.3% of Moroccan participants had significant depressive symptoms versus 9.4% of native Dutch people, however little is known about the reasons behind this particular discrepancy.¹¹³

A review on depression and diabetes in the Levant and Gulf countries found that the prevalence of depression in individuals with diabetes has increased and became a clear concern in Arabic speaking countries.¹¹⁴ Another review of depression in women with diabetes in Arabic countries highlighted the limited mental health support team as mental health specialists and mental health providers, which are the main reasons behind the gap in mental health in diabetes in Arabic speaking countries.¹¹⁵

Our study results found that depressive symptoms were not significantly associated with gender, but we noticed that more women screened positive for depressive symptoms than men

(25.0% vs 15.0%), which is consistent with previous studies among Canadians and Americans with T2D.^{86,90,95} In a study in Jordan, 23.4% of women with T2D reported depressive symptoms compared to only 14.9% of men; very similar to the absolute numbers seen in our study⁸⁶, suggesting that with a larger sample size, our findings might be significant. A meta-analysis study of depression in women with T2D in Arabic speaking countries found that 34.1% of Arabic women with T2D have depression.¹¹⁵ Furthermore, they mentioned that no clear reasons had been identified to explain the higher risk of depression and diabetes in Arab women. However, high prevalance of diabetes, low levels of vitamin D, high family responsibility, stigma, and lack of access to health care resources for screening and treatment of depression were found to be associated with higher rates of depression in Arab women, which may also explain the findings in our population.¹¹⁵

Diabetes monitoring and clinical monitoring:

The majority of our study sample (65.9%) were overweight or obese (BMI \geq 25kg/m2), which is in line with the obesity trends observed in Arabic-speaking immigrants with T2D in Canada, the US, and Arabic-speaking countries.^{87,116-119} In our study, 27.3% of respondents did not have measurements of height or weight recorded in their chart from 2016/2017, and only 2.7% had a measurement recorded from 2014/2015. The lack of measurement may reflect the difficulty primary care providers have in addressing this complex issue. Research in Alberta has shown that many primary care providers do not feel equipped to address obesity management¹²⁰; such evidence in Arabic-speaking population is lacking.

Our findings show that Arabic-speaking women with T2D in Edmonton have higher BMI compared to men, which is similar to the results of the ABCD cohort which reported that women

have higher BMI (31.9 kg/m2) compared to men (30.7 kg/m2).¹²¹ The same result is accurate for the general Canadian population with diabetes where 42.8% of women are obese compared to 37.9% of men.⁹⁰ Moreover, the same trend was shown among 1619 American participants with T2D from the Health and Retirement Study (HRS)⁹⁵ and Italian participants in the Thiazolidinedione's or Sulfonylureas and Cardiovascular Accidents Intervention Trial (TOSCA.IT).¹²² Being overweight or obese has dramatically risen in North Africa and the Middle East regions with a prevalence rate of up to 55% of adult women and 37% of adult men.¹²³ The fact that women in our study were more likely to be less educated, less employed, have lower income and be more depressed may have played a role in the lower adherence to physical activity, and dietary recommendations and are likely contributing to higher BMI than men. Furthermore, people in some Arabic countries did not find obesity and physical inactivity as strong risk factors for comorbidities.⁴⁸

Clinical benchmarks in T2D Management

In this study, about 60% of participants met the recommendation of BP target of less than 130/80mmHg. This is higher than what is reported from target achievement in the Canadian primary care setting from the DM-SCAN and the DRIVE studies, where BP target achievement was 36% and 54% respectively.^{116,124} HbA1c target attainment was only slightly worse than that in similar primary care studies (47.2% vs 53 %). 49.0% of our study population achieved the target HbA1c target of \leq 7.0% which is slightly lower than the result from (DM-SCAN) survey that 50% had the result of A1c \leq 7.0% and 53 % of T2D in (DRIVE) study results.^{116,124} Only 49.0% of our study population had LDL-C of the recommended \leq 2.0 mmol/L compared to 64% in (DM-SCAN) survey and 64 % in DRIVE study population.^{116,124} These findings suggest many care gaps in the Arabic-speaking population with T2D for glycemic and lipid control,

though it is reassuring that BP management in this population was better than previously reported.

Interestingly, other process measures of diabetes care were better in this study compared to other Canadian populations with diabetes. Only 15% of participants did not have retinopathy screening within the last two years compared to 24.7% of Canadians with diabetes in the Canadian Community Health Survey (2007–2008).⁹⁰ According to Diabetes Canada guidelines, retinopathy screening should be done every one to two years in T2D¹²⁵, and 68.4% of our subjects met this criterion. Our results are much better than a large database linked cohort in Ontario which showed only 37.5% of recent immigrants with diabetes and 50.5% of long-term immigrants with diabetes had appropriate retinopathy screening.¹²⁶

Regarding acculturation, our results were partially consistent with the sociodemographic results of the Arabic-speaking population with diabetes in the US where being less acculturated was associated with older age at immigration, shorter stay in the US, and lower education level.²⁵ However, we did not see any consistent trends across all domains of acculturation (duration of time in Canada, type of food eaten at home, language spoken at home) in self-care behaviors, depressive symptoms, adherence, or health outcomes apart from being less familiar with the Canada Food Guide, which is an unsurprising difference. A reason for the lack of difference might be the homogeneity of our population, as most of our participants either spoke Arabic most or all of the time and ate Arabic food most or all of the time.

Strengths and Limitations

This study is the first to explore various aspects of T2D in Arabic-speaking immigrants in Canada. We recruited participants from both community and healthcare settings and collected

data through interviewing the participants and using their health care charts to provide a more holistic view of our participants' health status. We also used validated measurement tools, which allowed better comparisons to other populations with T2D. Nonetheless, these results should be interpreted in light of a few limitations. First, this was a cross-sectional survey that only allowed examining associations between the studied factors, and therefore, we cannot infer causation. Second, unmarried men were underrepresented in this sample, limiting its generalizability. Third, survey data was based on self-reported measures that inherently introduce bias, and which is influenced by recall bias¹²⁷ and social desirability bias. Finally, given the small sample in the sub-group analyses, we were unable to analyze with adjustment for potential confounders to examine the independent relationships between the studied variables. In the data analysis, we were also limited from further exploration of data because of smaller sample size in some categories, and limited variability in participant's responses, particularly in questions relating to acculturation where the majority of our population was very adherent to Arabic culture and language.

2.5 CONCLUSION

We found that despite the majority of Arabic-speaking adults with T2D in Edmonton having an acceptable level of diabetes-related knowledge, there are significant gaps in self-care behaviours and diabetes clinical benchmarks. Moreover, women and men in this study differ in self-care behaviours and clinical characteristics. These findings suggest the need for developing culturally-tailored interventions to enhance self-care behaviours and clinical outcomes in the Arabic-speaking population in Canada. Arabic-speaking individuals in Edmonton are quite adherent to their culture, so creating a specific intervention for this population should be based on Arabic culture, language, values and attitude, and include gender-specific education and supports to promote healthy living.⁹⁸

2.6 REFERENCE

- 1. International Diabetes Federation. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 8th edn. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation, 2017. 2017; Available from: <u>http://diabetesatlas.org/resources/2017-atlas.html</u>. [cited Apr 3,2018].
- 2. Diabetes Canada. Diabetes Charter Backgrounders. 2018; Available from: <u>http://www.diabetes.ca/diabetes-and-you/know-your-rights/support-the-diabetes-charter-for-canada/diabetes-charter-backgrounders</u>. [cited Apr 3,2018].
- 3. Loukine L, Waters C, Choi BCK, Ellison J. Impact of diabetes mellitus on life expectancy and health-adjusted life expectancy in Canada. Population Health Metrics 2012;10: 7-16.
- 4. Chatterjee S, Khunti K, Davies MJ. Type 2 diabetes. The Lancet 2017; 389(10085):2239-51.
- 5. Powers MA, Bardsley J, Cypress M, Duker P, Funnell MM, Fischl AH, et al. Diabetes selfmanagement education and support in type 2 diabetes: A joint position statement of the American Diabetes Association, the American Association of diabetes educators, and the academy of nutrition and dietetics. Diabetes Educ 2017 February 1,; 43(1):40-53.
- Omariba DWR, Ng E, Vissandjée B. Differences between immigrants at various durations of residence and host population in all-cause mortality, Canada 1991-2006. Popul Stud (Camb) 2014; 68(3):339-357.
- Statistics Canada. Census Profile. 2016 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue. 2017; Available from: <u>http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016</u>. [cited April 3,2018].
- 8. Maria Isabella C, Rahim M, Gillian B, Doug H, Marie D, Sarah M, et al. Age- and sex-related prevalence of diabetes mellitus among immigrants to Ontario, Canada. CMAJ 2010(8):781.
- 9. Tenkorang EY. Early onset of type 2 diabetes among visible minority and immigrant populations in Canada. ETHNICITY HEALTH 2017;22(3):266-284.
- 10. El-Sayed A, Galea S. The health of Arab-Americans living in the United States: A systematic review of the literature. BMC Public Health 2009;9(1):272-280.
- Kalich A, Heinemann L, Ghahari S. A scoping review of immigrant experience of health care access barriers in Canada. JOURNAL OF IMMIGRANT AND MINORITY HEALTH 2016; 18 (3):697-709.
- 12. Mass migration and uprisings in the Arab countries: An analytical framework. 2017.
- 13. Al Sayah F, Majumdar SR, Soprovich A, Wozniak L, Johnson ST, Qiu W, et al. The Alberta's caring for diabetes (ABCD) study: Rationale, design and baseline characteristics

of a prospective cohort of adults with type 2 diabetes. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2015;39: S119.

- Alhaiti AH, Alotaibi AR, Jones LK, DaCosta C, Lenon GB. Psychometric evaluation of the revised Michigan diabetes knowledge test (V.2016) in Arabic: Translation and validation. Journal of Diabetes Research 2016:1-7.
- 15. AlJohani KA, Kendall GE, Snider PD. Psychometric evaluation of the summary of diabetes self-care activities-Arabic (SDSCA-Arabic): Translation and analysis process. JOURNAL OF TRANSCULTURAL NURSING 2016;27(1):65-72.
- 16. Ola S, Elizabeth H. Psychometric properties of the arabic version of the summary of diabetes self-care activities instrument. Research & Theory for Nursing Practice 2016(1):60.
- 17. Sweileh W, Zyoud S, Al-Jabi S, Abu Nab'A R, Deleq M, Enaia M, et al. Influence of patients' disease knowledge and beliefs about medicines on medication adherence: Findings from a cross-sectional survey among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Palestine. BMC Public Health 2014; 14(1).
- Multicultural Mental Health Resource Centre. PHQ in Different Languages. 2013; Available from: <u>http://www.multiculturalmentalhealth.ca/clinical-tools/assessment/screening-for-</u> <u>common-mental-disorders/phq-in-different-languages/</u>. [cited May 21,2018].
- Al-Qadhi W, Rahman Su, Ferwana MS, Abdulmajeed IA. Adult depression screening in Saudi primary care: Prevalence, instrument and cost. BMC Psychiatry 2014 /12/01; 14(1):190.
- 20. Goforth AN. Acculturation, acculturative stress, religiosity and psychological adjustment among Muslim Arab American adolescents. 2014.
- 21. SheldonW. Tobe, Richard E. Gilbert, Charlotte Jones, Lawrence A. Leiter, Ally P.H. Prebtani, VincentWo. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Treatment of hypertension. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018; 35(1):12.
- 22. S. Ali Imran, Gina Agarwal MBBS, Harpreet S. Bajaj, Stuart Ross. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Targets for glycemic control. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2011; 35(1):12.
- 23. Philip McFarlane, David Cherney, Richard E. Gilbert, Peter Senior. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Chronic kidney disease in diabetes. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2011; 35(1):12.
- 24. Toobert DJ, Hampson SE, Glasgow RE. The summary of diabetes self-care activities measure: Results from 7 studies and a revised scale. Diabetes Care 2000;23(7):943-950.

- 25. Bernd Löwe, Kurt Kroenke, Kerstin Gräf. Detecting and monitoring depression with a twoitem questionnaire (PHQ-2). J Psychosom Res 2005;58(2):163-71.
- 26. Krousel-Wood M, Morisky DE, Ang A, Krousel-Wood M. Predictive validity of a medication adherence measure in an outpatient setting. J Clin Hypertens 2008;10(5):348-54.
- 27. Atekha B. Factors associated with adherence to diabetes medication among individuals with type 2 diabetes in Cambridge, Ontario, Canada. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies 2018 -01-01.
- 28. Al-Maskari F, El-Sadig M, Al-Kaabi J, Afandi B, Nagelkerke N, Yeatts KB. Knowledge, attitude and practices of diabetic patients in the United Arab Emirates. PLoS ONE 2013;8(1):1-8.
- 29. El-Khawaga G, Abdel-Wahab F. Knowledge, attitudes, practice and compliance of diabetic patients in Dakahlia, Egypt. European Journal of Research in Medical Sciences Vol 2015;3(1).
- 30. Al-Amer RM, Sobeh MM, Zayed AA, Al-domi HA. Depression among adults with diabetes in Jordan: Risk factors and relationship to blood sugar control. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications 2011;25(4):247-52.
- 31. Donnelly TT, Fung TS, Al-Thani ABM. Fostering active living and healthy eating through understanding physical activity and dietary behaviours of Arabic-speaking adults: A cross-sectional study from the Middle East. BMJ Open 2018 Apr 20,;8(4):e019980.
- 32. Al-Khawaldeh O, Al-Hassan M, Froelicher ES. Self-efficacy, self-management, and glycemic control in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Complications 2012;26: 10-16.
- 33. Alzubaidi H, Mc Narmara K, Kilmartin GM, Kilmartin JF, Marriott J. The relationships between illness and treatment perceptions with adherence to diabetes self-care: A comparison between Arabic-speaking migrants and Caucasian English-speaking patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2015 Nov; 110(2):208-217.
- 34. Alrawashdeh I. Self-care behaviours and related psychosocial factors in men and women with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Jordan: A cross-sectional study [dissertation]ProQuest Dissertations Publishing; 2017.
- 35. De Melo M, de Sa E, Gucciardi E. Exploring differences in Canadian adult men and women with diabetes management: Results from the Canadian community health survey. BMC Public Health 2013;13(1):1-19.
- 36. Alsairafi ZK, Taylor KMG, Smith FJ, Alattar AT. Patients' management of type 2 diabetes in Middle Eastern countries: Review of studies. Patient Preference and Adherence 2016:1051.

- 37. Darawad MW, Khalil AA, Hamdan-Mansour A, Nofal BM. Perceived exercise self-efficacy, benefits and barriers, and commitment to a plan for exercise among Jordanians with chronic illnesses. Rehabil Nurs 2016;41(6):342-351.
- 38. Qahoush R, Stotts N, Alawneh MS, Froelicher ES. Physical activity in Arab women in southern California. EUR J CARDIOVASC NURS 2010;9(4):263-271.
- 39. Plotnikoff RC, Eves N, Jung M, Sigal RJ, Padwal R, Karunamuni N. Multicomponent, homebased resistance training for obese adults with type 2 diabetes: A randomized controlled trial. Int J Obes 2010;34(12):1733-1741.
- 40. Alahmed Z, Lobelo F. Physical activity promotion in Saudi Arabia: A critical role for clinicians and the health care system. Journal of Epidemiology and Global Health 2018;7:S15.
- 41. Ansari RM, Hosseinzadeh H, Harris M, Zwar N. Self-management experiences among middle-aged population of rural area of Pakistan with type 2 diabetes: A qualitative analysis. Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health 2018.
- 42. Chiu CJ, Wray LA, Chiu C, Wray LA. Gender differences in functional limitations in adults living with type 2 diabetes: Biobehavioral and psychosocial mediators. Ann Behav Med 2011;41(1):71-82.
- 43. Colley RC, Garriguet D, Janssen I, Craig CL, Clarke J, Tremblay MS. Physical activity of Canadian adults: Accelerometer results from the 2007 to 2009 Canadian health measures survey. Health Reports 2011;22(1):7-14.
- 44. Dunneram Y, Jeewon R. Healthy diet and nutrition education program among women of reproductive age: A necessity of multilevel strategies or community responsibility. Health Promotion Perspectives, Vol 5, Iss 2, Pp 116-127 (2015) 2015(2):116.
- 45. Bertran EA, Pinelli NR, Sills SJ, Jaber LA. The Arab American experience with diabetes: Perceptions, myths and implications for culturally-specific interventions. Primary Care Diabetes 2017;11:13-19.
- 46. Parkin CG, Davidson JA. Value of self-monitoring blood glucose pattern analysis in improving diabetes outcomes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2009;3(3):500-508.
- 47. Grant RC, Retnakaran RR. Healthcare, self-care, and health status of immigrants and nonimmigrants with type 2 diabetes in the Canadian community health surveys. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2012;98:320-328.
- 48. Arifulla M, John L, Sreedharan J, Muttappallymyalil J, Basha SA. Patients' adherence to anti-diabetic medications in a hospital at Ajman, UAE. Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences 2014;21(1):44-49.

- 49. Al-Majed HT, Ismael AE, Al-Khatlan HM, El-Shazly MK. Adherence of type-2 diabetic patients to treatment. Kuwait Med J 2014;46(3):225-232.
- 50. Koprulu F, Bader RJK, Hassan, Nageeb A G M, Abduelkarem AR, Mahmood DA. Evaluation of adherence to diabetic treatment in northern region of United Arab Emirates. Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research 2014;13 (6):989-995.
- 51. Sana TA, Shamsul AS, Bosseri S, Morisky DE, Shamsuddin K. Illness perceptions of Libyans with T2DM and their influence on medication adherence: A study in a diabetes center in Tripoli. Libyan Journal of Medicine, Vol 10, Iss 0, Pp 1-10 (2015) 2015(0):1.
- 52. Gelaw BK, Mohammed A, Tegegne GT, Defersha AD, Fromsa M, Tadesse E, et al. Nonadherence and contributing factors among ambulatory patients with anti-diabetic Medications in Adama Referral Hospital. 2014; Available from: <u>https://www.hindawi.com/journals/jdr/2014/617041/</u>. [Cited May 23,2018].
- 53. Raum E, Krämer HU, Rüter G, Rothenbacher D, Rosemann T, Szecsenyi J, et al. Medication non-adherence and poor glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2012;97: 377-384.
- 54. Bagonza J, Rutebemberwa E, Bazeyo W. Adherence to anti diabetic medication among patients with diabetes in eastern Uganda; a cross sectional study. BMC Health Services Research 2015; 15(1):1-7.
- 55. Ataur RK, Zaki NA, Mohammad A Al A, Montaser AB, Ibrahim IA, Shabbir AK. Factors contributing to non-compliance among diabetics attending primary health centers in the al hasa district of Saudi Arabia. Journal of Family and Community Medicine, Vol 19, Iss 1, Pp 26-32 (2012) 2012(1):26.
- 56. Montague MC. Psychosocial and functional outcomes in African Americans with diabetes mellitus. ABNF J 2002;13(5):103-109.
- 57. Sajith M, Pankaj M, Pawar A, Modi A, Sumariya R. Medication adherence to antidiabetic therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences 2014;6: 564-570.
- 58. Albertaquits. Tobacco Use Statistics. Available from: <u>https://www.albertaquits.ca/about-us/tobacco-usage/tobacco-use-statistics#provincial-smoking-quit-stats</u>. [cited May 29,2018]
- 59. Ghadban R. Smoking behavior in Arab Americans: Acculturation and health beliefs. Journal of Community Medicine & Health Education 2016 August 25,
- 60. Khattab A, Javaid A, Iraqi G, Alzaabi A, Ben Kheder A, Koniski M, et al. Smoking habits in the middle east and North Africa: Results of the BREATHE study. Respiratory Medicine 2012;106: S24.

- 61. Schmidt CB, Potter van Loon, Bert Jan, Torensma B, Snoek FJ, Honig A. Ethnic minorities with diabetes differ in depressive and anxiety symptoms and diabetes-distress. Journal of diabetes research 2017; 2017.
- 62. Bassema Mahyoub Abu Farsakh1, Jansi Rani Natarajan. The prevalence of depression among patients with diabetes mellitus in the levant and gulf countries. American Journal of Pharmacy & Health Research 2016 February;4.
- 63. Hawamdeh S, Dator WLT, Abunab HY. Prevalence of depression among Arab women with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Health 2016 -05-10;08: 650.
- 64. Gerstein H, Leiter LA, Braga MFB, Casanova A, Fitchett DH, Langer A, et al. Poor achievement of guidelines-recommended targets in type 2 diabetes: Findings from a contemporary prospective cohort study. Int J Clin Pract 2012;66(5):457-64.
- 65. Abuyassin B, Laher I. Diabetes epidemic sweeping the Arab world. World J Diabetes 2016;7(8):165-174.
- 66. LK Khan, J Sobal, R Martorell. Acculturation, socioeconomic status, and obesity in Mexican Americans, Cuban Americans, and Puerto Ricans. International Journal of Obesity (United Kingdom) 1997(2):91.
- 67. Sarich PEA, Ding D, Sitas F, Weber MF. Co-occurrence of chronic disease lifestyle risk factors in middle-aged and older immigrants: A cross-sectional analysis of 264,102 Australians. Preventive Medicine 2015;81: 209-15.
- 68. Asselin J, Salami E, Osunlana AM, Ogunleye AA, Cave A, Johnson JA, et al. Impact of the 5As team study on clinical practice in primary care obesity management: A qualitative study. CMAJ Open 2017 -4-26;5(2):E329.
- 69. Avedzi HM, Mathe N, Storey K, Johnson JA, Johnson ST. Examining sex differences in glycemic index knowledge and intake among individuals with type 2 diabetes. Primary Care Diabetes 2018;12(1):71-9.
- 70. Vitale M, Masulli M, Cocozza S, Anichini R, Babini AC, Boemi M, et al. Sex differences in food choices, adherence to dietary recommendations and plasma lipid profile in type 2 diabetes the TOSCA.IT study. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases 2016;26: 879-885.
- 71. Abuyassin B, Laher I. Obesity-linked diabetes in the Arab world: A review. East Mediterranean Health J 2015;21(6):420-439.
- 72. Tailakh A, Tailakh AK, Evangelista LS, Morisky DE, Mentes JC, Pike NA, et al. Acculturation, medication adherence, lifestyle behaviors, and blood pressure control among Arab Americans. Journal Of Transcultural Nursing 2016;27(1):57-64.

- 73. Tsuyuki R, Cheng A, Leiter LA, Cheng AY, Teoh H, Langer A, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus management in Canada: Is it improving? Can J Diabetes. 2013;37(2):82-9.
- 74. Altomare F, Kherani A, Lovshin J. 2018 clinical practice guidelines: Retinopathy. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;42:S216.
- 75. Lovshin JA, Shah BR. Inadequate screening for retinopathy among recent immigrants with type 2 diabetes despite universal health care: A population-based study. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications 2017;31(4):664-8.
- 76. Linda A. J, Morton B. B, Adnan H, Qian Z, William H. H. Lack of acculturation is a risk factor for diabetes in Arab immigrants in the U.S. Diabetes Care 2003(7):2010.
- 77. Barcenas CH, Wilkinson AV, Strom SS, Cao Y, Saunders KC, Mahabir S, Hernández-Valero MA, Forman MR, Spitz MR, Bondy ML. Birthplace, years of residence in the united states, and obesity among Mexican-American adults. Obesity 2007(4).
- 78. Miller AM, Chandler PJ, Wilbur J, Sorokin O. Acculturation and cardiovascular disease risk in midlife immigrant women from the former Soviet Union. Prog Cardiovasc Nurs 2004;19(2):47-55.
- 79. Sedgwick P. Bias in observational study designs: Cross sectional studies. BMJ 2015;350:h1286.

Domain	Measured variables	Measurement tools	
Diabetes history	Duration of diabetes, history of hypoglycemia, diabetes management, self-reported presence or absence of diabetes-related complications, and family history of diabetes	Derived from the survey used in the ABCD study ⁷²	
Health and lifestyle information	Life style management. Medication, follow with dietitian, retinopathy screening, diabetes educator follow up history of hypoglycemia	Derived from the survey used in the ABCD study ⁷²	
Diabetes knowledge	-	The short version of the Michigan Diabetes Knowledge Test (DKT) ⁷³	
Self-care behaviours	Diet, physical activity, foot care, blood sugar monitoring	Summary of Diabetes Self- Care Activities (SDSCA) ^{74,75}	
Medication adherence	-	Morisky medication adherence scale, (MMAS8) ¹²⁸	
Depressive symptoms	-	Patient Health Questionnaire 8-items (PHQ-2) ^{76,77}	
Acculturation related question	Country of origin, duration of stay in Canada, preferred language of communication, and eating habits/nutrition	Derived from the PHAC- SLCDC survey	
		Parent Demographic Questionnaire Q3,5,13 ⁷⁸	
Sociodemographic data	Age, sex, marital status, educational level, employment, country of origin, total household income	Derived from the survey used in the ABCD study ⁷²	
Clinical out come	HbA1c, blood pressure, height, weight, cholesterol (HDL, LDL) levels, triglyceride (TG) levels, and urine albumin: creatinine ratios (ACR	Derived from the survey used in the ABCD study ⁷²	

Table 2-1: Summary of survey domains, measured variables and source of tools

Characteristic	Total	Male	Female N= 44 (38.6)	P-value
Mean ± SD or n (%)	N=114	N= 70 (61.4)		
Health status				
Excellent/Very Good	28 (24.6)	19 (27.1)	9 (20.5)	0.713
Good	50 (43.9)	30 (42.9)	20 (45.5)	
Fair /Poor	36 (31.6)	21 (30.0)	15 (34.1)	
Age, years	57.6 ± 10.7	59.5 ± 9.9	54.6 ± 11.4	0.019*
20 - 44	10 (8.8)	2 (2.8)	8 (18.2)	0.013*
45 - 64	72 (63.2)	45 (64.3)	27 (61.4)	
≥65	32 (28.1)	23 (32.9)	9 (20.5)	
Marital status,				
Married	98 (86.0)	66 (94.3)	32 (72.3)	0.001*
Other**	16 (14.0)	4 (5.7)	12 (27.3)	
Annual household income				0.141
<45,000	68(59.7)	38 (54.3)	30 (68.2)	
Other ***	46 (40.4)	32 (45.7)	14 (31.8)	
Employed	40 (35.1)	29 (41.4)	11 (25.0)	0.074
Level of Education				
Less than high school	43 (37.7)	21(30.0)	22 (50.0)	0.088
Completed high school	29 (25.4)	19 (27.1)	10 (22.73)	

 Table 2-2: Sociodemographic characteristics of participants stratified by gender

Post-secondary education	42 (36.8)	30 (42.9)	12 (27.3)	
Type of Food Cooked at Home				
Always Arabic	56 (49.1)	32 (45.7)	24 (45.6)	0.623
Mostly Arabic	48 (42.1)	31 (44.3)	17 (38.6)	
Other	10 (8.8)	7 (10.0)	3 (6.8)	
Spoken language at Home				
Only Arabic	45 (39.5)	27 (38.6)	18 (40.9)	0.249
Mostly Arabic	38 (33.3)	27 (38.6)	11 (25.0)	
Other	31 (27.2)	16 (22.9)	15 (34.1)	
Duration in Canada (years)	23.9 ± 17.5	24.5 ± 17.2	23.1 ± 18.0	0.675

* P value < 0.05 is considered significant, **include: Single/Divorced/Widowed, ***include: > \$ 45.000/Prefer not to answer/I don't know
| Characteristic | Total | Male | Female | D l | |
|---|------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|--|
| Mean ± SD or n (%) | N=114 | N= 70 (61.4) | N= 44 (38.6) | P-value | |
| Family history of diabetes | 82 (71.9) | 50 (71.4) | 32 (72.7) | 0.881 | |
| Duration of diabetes by years | 11.1±8.6 | | | | |
| <5 | 29 (25.4) | 18 (25.71) | 11 (25.00) | 0.670 | |
| 5-10 | 36 (31.6) | 24 (34.29) | 12 (27.27) | | |
| >10 | 49 (44.0) | 28 (40.00) | 21 (47.73) | | |
| Self-reported Diabetes Management
strategies | | | | | |
| Diet | 50 (43.9) | 32 (45.7) | 18 (40.9) | 0.615 | |
| Exercise | 39 (34.2) | 29 (41.4) | 10 (22.7) | 0.040^{*} | |
| Oral hypoglycemic medication | 93 (81.6) | 59 (84.3) | 34 (77.3) | 0.347 | |
| Insulin injection | 33 (29.0) | 21 (30.0) | 12 (27.3) | 0.755 | |
| Self-reported history of Hypoglycemia
during last year | 14 (12.4) | 6 (8.7) | 8(18.2) | 0.186 | |
| Self-reported Comorbidities | | | | | |
| Hypertension | 67 (58.8) | 41 (58.6) | 26(59.09) | 0.956 | |
| Stroke | 3 (2.6) | 0 (0.0) | 5 (11.4) | 0.004^{*} | |
| DVT | 6 (5.3) | 6 (8.6) | 0 (0.0) | 0.046* | |

Table 2-3: Healthy behavior and clinical characteristics of participants stratified by gender

Characteristic	Total	Male	Female	D 1-	
Mean ± SD or n (%)	N=114	N= 70 (61.4)	N= 44 (38.6)	P-value	
Kidney Problem	14 (12.3)	6 (8.6)	6 (13.6)	0.391	
Eye problem	23(20.2)	13 (18.6)	10 (22.7)	0.590	
Heart problem	20 (17.5)	12 (17.1)	8 (18.2)	0.887	
High cholesterol	62 (54.4)	39 (55.7)	23 (52.3)	0.719	
Amputation	2 (1.8)	1 (1.4)	1 (2.3)	0.738	
Self-care clinical monitor					
Retinopathy screening					
Never	18 (15.8)	12 (17.14)	6 (13.6)	0.881	
Less than a year ago	78 (68.4)	47 (67.14)	31 (70.5)		
More than a year ago	18 (15.8)	11 (15.71)	7 (15.9)		
Familiar with Canada Food Guide	59(51.8)	34 (48.6)	25 (56.8)	0.391	
Follow up with a dietitian	30 (26.3)	19 (27.1)	11 (25.0)	0.697	
Following Canada Food Guide	26 (44.1)	16 (47.1)	10 (40.0)	0.589	
Follow up with diabetes educator	20 (17.5)	13 (18.6)	7 (15.9)	0.716	
HgbA1C (n=105)	7.5 ± 1.6	7.4 ± 1.5	7.7 ± 1.9	0.348	
Systolic blood pressure (n=107)	124.5±14.2	125.4 ± 15.2	122.9 ± 12.6	0.384	

Characteristic	Total	Male	Female	D voluo	
Mean ± SD or n (%)	N= 114	N= 70 (61.4)	N= 44 (38.6)	r-value	
Diastolic blood pressure (n=107)	74.8 ± 9.3	75.6 ± 9.6	73.4 ± 8.7	0.232	
Body Mass Index (n=77)	32.7 ± 6.3	31.6 ± 5.7	34.7 ± 7.1	0.043	
Low-Density Lipoprotein (n=96)	2.2 ± 0.8	2.2 ± 0.9	2.2 ± 0.9	0.923	
High-Density Lipoprotein (n=99)	1.2 ± 0.4	1.1 ± 0.4	1.3 ± 0.4	0.116	
Triglyceride (n=99)	1.98 ± 1.4	1.9 ± 1.2	2.1 ± 1.7	0.683	
Albumin-Creatinine Ratio (n=91)					
<2 Normal level	52 (57.1)	28 (51.9)	24 (64.7)	0.172	
2-20 Microalbuminuria	32 (35.2)	23 (42.6)	9 (24.3)		
>20 over nephropathy	7 (7.7)	3 (5.6)	4 (10.8)		

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant

Characteristic	Total	Male	Female	Davalara
Mean ± SD or n (%)	N=114	70 (61.4)	(61.4) 44 (38.6)	
Diabetes knowledge Test (0 -14)				
Poor (< 7)	29 (25.4)	21 (30.0)	8 (18.2)	
Average (7 to 11)	61 (53.5)	34 (48.6)	27 (61.4)	0.313
Good (> 11)	24 (21.1)	15 (21.4)	9 (20.5)	
Self-care management				
General diet (0 to 7 days)	3.1 ± 2.7	3.3 ± 2.6	2.9 ± 2.9	0.462
Specific diet (0 to 7 days)	3.6 ± 2.0	3.4 ± 1.9	4.0 ± 2.1	0.095
(0-7 days)	2.5 ± 2.4	2.7 ± 2.5	2.3 ± 2.2	0.413
Foot care (0 to 7 days)	4.8 ± 1.5	4.8 ± 1.6	4.9 ± 1.5	0.850
Exercise (0 to / days)	2.1 ± 2.6	2.4 ± 2.7	1.8 ± 2.4	0.248
Medication Adherence score (0 to 8) N=103**				
Low (≤ 5)	27 (26.2)	15 (23.4)	12 (30.8)	0.682
Medium (6 to 7)	44 (42.7)	29 (45.3)	15 (38.5)	
High (8)	32 (31.1)	20 (31.3)	12 (30.8)	

Table 2-4: Behavioral and psychosocial characteristics of participants stratified by gender

Smoking Status

Never smoke				
Smolting now	61 (53.5)	30 (42.9)	31 (70.5)	0.000*
	25 (21.9)	17 (24.3)	8 (18.2)	0.009
Quit Smoking	28 (24.6)	23 (32.9)	5 (11.4)	
Depressive symptoms score (0-6)				
Positive (3-6)	22(10.2)	11 (15 7)	11 (25.0)	0 221
Negative(<3)	22 (19.3)	11 (15.7)	11 (25.0)	0.221
5	92 (80.7)	59 (84.3)	33 (75.0)	

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant, **11 missing because they are only on life style management and they excluded from analysis

Figure 2-1: Map of Participants' Locations



Chapter 3 : GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 3.1. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

The purpose of this thesis was to examine T2D in Arabic-speaking communities in Edmonton. The aspects of T2D being studied include diabetes knowledge, self-care management, depressive symptoms, acculturation, and metabolic control. The results of this thesis indicate despite of having good level of knowledge and medication adherence, there are major gaps in self-care management associated with a substantial level of depressive symptoms, where fewer than half of the study population met important diabetes clinical benchmarks. Moreover, Arabic-speaking women with T2D were more prone to obesity and less physically active than their male counterparts.

3.2 IMPLICATION OF RESEARCH

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study exploring T2D in the Arabic-speaking population in Canada using both interview and clinical data. We found that Arabic-speaking adults with T2D have a higher rate of smoking, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, in addition to lower self-care behaviors, all negatively contributing to future diabetes-related complications. For this reason, health care providers need to focus more on healthy lifestyle behaviours in T2D in this population. Furthermore, we need future exploration of the barriers and challenges of low self-care behaviors in T2D management in this population. We also need better information on mental health issues and cultural context in this population, given the bidirectional relationship with T2D⁵⁰ and the evidence showing considerably poorer outcomes in those with both diabetes and mental health problems.

Gender, which has significant cultural significance given the traditional gender roles in Arab societies, requires tailored approaches with particular focus on women, given their higher risk of obesity and physical inactivity and their leading role in family life. Interventions focusing on improving self-care management (diet, physical activity, self-monitoring of blood glucose level and smoking) will help Arabic speaking population to have better diabetes control and prevent early microvascular and macrovascular diabetes complications, and improve health outcomes.

3.3. STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

This study has several strengths. First, it is the first study to describe clinical, behavioural, and psychosocial outcomes of T2D in Arabic-speaking individuals in Canada. Second, the response rate in this study was high, minimizing the non-response bias that may influence the generalizability of results ¹²⁷. We also had a team of 7 bilingual research team members to help recruit from the Arabic-speaking community in Edmonton. It has been shown that it is difficult to recruit people from the Arabic-speaking community to participate in a study¹²⁹, so we feel our sample of 114 participants to be quite a reasonable number given the scope of a Master's thesis. Arabic-speaking immigrants could be from 22 different countries, however, the majority of participants in this study (37.7%) were from Lebanon, which is verly close to 40 % of Arabs in Canada being Lebanese origin.¹⁰

Limitations include study design, where we recognize that a cross-sectional study design only allows exploring associations. Notably, the generalizability of our study is also limited in a number of ways. Firstly, unmarried men were under-represented in this study; this group might be at higher risk of cardiovascular outcomes. Furthermore, our data is self-reported, which is subject to recall bias, especially in reporting negative behaviours, as well as social desirability bias when participants reported behaviour and attitude information ¹²⁷. Studies show that voluntary participants may differ from the general public in terms of behavior, attitude, sociodemographic and level of health status such as being more educated, having higher income, and being more sociable ^{127,130}.

3.4. CONCLUSION

We conducted the first cross-sectional study examining diabetes-related knowledge, selfcare management, acculturation and clinical outcomes in Arabic-speaking population with T2D in Canada. Our study results show that despite good levels of knowledge and medication adherence, Arabic-speaking individuals who have T2D had lower levels of self-care behaviours in terms of adherence to diet, physical activity, self-monitoring of blood sugar, and higher smoking rates. Furthermore, Arabic-speaking women with T2D have lower levels of physical activity higher rates of obesity, and depressive symptoms whereas males have higher rates of smoking. Our findings highlight the need for developing culturally-tailored interventions to enhance diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviours, and health outcomes in Arabic-speaking individuals with T2D in Edmonton.

3.5.REFERENCES:

- 1. Ali S, Stone MA, Peters JL, Davies MJ, Khunti K. The prevalence of co-morbid depression in adults with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetic medicine: a journal of the British Diabetic Association 2006 Nov; 23(11):1165.
- Sedgwick P. Bias in observational study designs: Cross sectional studies. BMJ 2015; 350: h1286.
- 3. Shara NM, Yassin SA, Abu-Bader SH, Getaneh A, Browning S, Zeymo A, et al. Overcoming recruitment challenges: A pilot study in Arab Americans. Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice 2017; 9(4).
- 4. Polychronopoulou A, Pandis N. Interpretation of observational studies. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 2014;146 (6):815-7.
- 5. Ghadban R. Smoking behavior in Arab Americans: Acculturation and health beliefs. Journal of Community Medicine & Health Education 2016 August 25.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Mass migration and uprisings in the arab countries : An analytical framework. 2017.

2. Abuyassin B, Laher I. Obesity-linked diabetes in the Arab world: A review. East Mediterranean Health J 2015;21(6):420-439.

3. Abuyassin B, Laher I. Diabetes epidemic sweeping the arab world. World J Diabetes 2016;7(8):165-174.

4. Al Sayah F, Majumdar SR, Soprovich A, Wozniak L, Johnson ST, Qiu W, et al. The alberta's caring for diabetes (ABCD) study: Rationale, design and baseline characteristics of a prospective cohort of adults with type 2 diabetes. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2015;39:S119.

5. Alahmed Z, Lobelo F. Physical activity promotion in saudi arabia: A critical role for clinicians and the health care system. Journal of Epidemiology and Global Health 2018;7:S15.

6. Al-Amer RM, Sobeh MM, Zayed AA, Al-domi HA. Depression among adults with diabetes in jordan: Risk factors and relationship to blood sugar control. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications 2011;25(4):247-52.

7. Albertaquits. Tobacco Use Statistics. Available from: https://www.albertaquits.ca/about-us/tobacco-usage/tobacco-use-statistics#provincial-smoking-quit-stats. [citedMay 29,2018].

8. Alhaiti AH, Alotaibi AR, Jones LK, DaCosta C, Lenon GB. Psychometric evaluation of the revised michigan diabetes knowledge test (V.2016) in arabic: Translation and validation. Journal of Diabetes Research 2016:1-7.

9. Ali S, Stone MA, Peters JL, Davies MJ, Khunti K. The prevalence of co-morbid depression in adults with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association 2006 Nov;23(11):1165.

10. AlJohani KA, Kendall GE, Snider PD. Psychometric evaluation of the summary of diabetes self-care activities-arabic (SDSCA-arabic): Translation and analysis process. Journal Of Transcultural Nursing 2016;27(1):65-72.

11. Al-Khawaldeh O, Al-Hassan M, Froelicher ES. Self-efficacy, self-management, and glycemic control in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Complications 2012;26:10-16.

12. Al-Majed HT, Ismael AE, Al-Khatlan HM, El-Shazly MK. Adherence of type-2 diabetic patients to treatment. Kuwait Med J 2014;46(3):225-232.

13. Al-Maskari F, El-Sadig M, Al-Kaabi J, Afandi B, Nagelkerke N, Yeatts KB. Knowledge, attitude and practices of diabetic patients in the united arab emirates. PLoS ONE 2013;8(1):1-8.

14. Al-Qadhi W, Rahman Su, Ferwana MS, Abdulmajeed IA. Adult depression screening in saudi primary care: Prevalence, instrument and cost. BMC Psychiatry 2014 /12/01;14(1):190.

15. Alrawashdeh I. Self-care behaviours and related psychosocial factors in men and women with type 2 diabetes mellitus in jordan: A cross sectional study[dissertation]ProQuest Dissertations Publishing; 2017.

16. Alsairafi ZK, Taylor KMG, Smith FJ, Alattar AT. Patients' management of type 2 diabetes in middle eastern countries: Review of studies. Patient Preference and Adherence 2016:1051.

17. Altomare F, Kherani A, Lovshin J. 2018 clinical practice guidelines: Retinopathy. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;42:S216.

18. Alzubaidi H, Mc Namara K, Browning C, Marriott J. Barriers and enablers to healthcare access and use among Arabic-speaking and Caucasian English-speaking patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A qualitative comparative study. BMJ Open 2015;5(11):e008687.

19. Alzubaidi H, Mc Narmara K, Kilmartin GM, Kilmartin JF, Marriott J. The relationships between illness and treatment perceptions with adherence to diabetes self-care: A comparison between Arabic-speaking migrants and Caucasian English-speaking patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2015 Nov;110(2):208-217.

20. American Diabetes Association. Lifestyle management: Standards of medical care in diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care 2018;41:S50.

21. Andrew P, Natasha P, Mohammed M, Glenys R, Chris R, Mandy W, et al. Evaluation of a comprehensive tobacco control project targeting Arabic-speakers residing in south west sydney, Australia. Health Promot Internation 2010(2):153.

22. Anne Marie Thow, Anne-Marie Waters. Diabetes in culturally and linguistically diverse Australians. 2005 October.

23. Ansari RM, Hosseinzadeh H, Harris M, Zwar N. Self-management experiences among middle-aged population of rural area of pakistan with type 2 diabetes: A qualitative analysis. Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health 2018.

24. Arifulla M, John L, Sreedharan J, Muttappallymyalil J, Basha SA. Patients' adherence to anti-diabetic medications in a hospital at Ajman, UAE. Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences 2014;21(1):44-49.

25. Asselin J, Salami E, Osunlana AM, Ogunleye AA, Cave A, Johnson JA, et al. Impact of the 5As team study on clinical practice in primary care obesity management: A qualitative study. CMAJ Open 2017 -4-26;5(2):E329.

26. Ataur RK, Zaki NA, Mohammad A Al A, Montaser AB, Ibrahim IA, Shabbir AK. Factors contributing to non-compliance among diabetics attending primary health centers in the al hasa district of Saudi Arabia. Journal of Family and Community Medicine, Vol 19, Iss 1, Pp 26-32 (2012) 2012(1):26.

27. Atekha B. Factors associated with adherence to diabetes medication among individuals with type 2 diabetes in Cambridge, Ontario, Canada. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies 2018 -01-01.

28. Auni J, Saara K, Seppo L, Tapani R, Kalevi P, Markku L. Gender difference in the impact of type 2 diabetes on coronary heart disease risk. Diabetes Care 2004(12):2898.

29. Avedzi HM, Mathe N, Storey K, Johnson JA, Johnson ST. Examining sex differences in glycemic index knowledge and intake among individuals with type 2 diabetes. Primary Care Diabetes 2018;12(1):71-9.

30. Badran M, Laher I. Type II diabetes mellitus in arabic-speaking countries. International Journal of Endocrinology 2012:916.

31. Bagonza J, Rutebemberwa E, Bazeyo W. Adherence to anti diabetic medication among patients with diabetes in Eastern Uganda; a cross sectional study. BMC Health Services Research 2015;15(1):1-7.

32. Bai Y, Chiou C, Chang Y. Self-care behaviour and related factors in older people with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Nurs 2009;18(23):3308-3315.

33. Balducci S, Zanuso S, Cardelli P, Salvi L, Bazuro A, Pugliese L, et al. Effect of high- versus lowintensity supervised aerobic and resistance training on modifiable cardiovascular risk factors in type 2 diabetes; the italian diabetes and exercise study (IDES). PLoS One 2012;7(11):e49297.

34. Bassema Mahyoub Abu Farsakh1, Jansi Rani Natarajan. The prevalence of depression among patients with diabetes mellitus in the levant and gulf countries. American Journal of Pharmacy & Health Research 2016 February;4.

35. Beeney LJ, Dunn SM. Knowledge improvement and metabolic control in diabetes education: Approaching the limits? Patient Educ Couns 1990;16(3):217-229.

36. Bernd Löwe, Kurt Kroenke, Kerstin Gräf. Detecting and monitoring depression with a two-item questionnaire (PHQ-2). J Psychosom Res 2005;58(2):163-71.

37. Bertran EA, Pinelli NR, Sills SJ, Jaber LA. The Arab American experience with diabetes: Perceptions, myths and implications for culturally-specific interventions. Primary Care Diabetes 2017;11:13-19.

38. Borghouts LB, Keizer HA. Exercise and insulin sensitivity: A review. Int J Sports Med 2000;21(1):1-12.

39. Chatterjee S, Khunti K, Davies MJ. Type 2 diabetes. The Lancet 2017;389(10085):2239-51.

40. Chiu CJ, Wray LA, Chiu C, Wray LA. Gender differences in functional limitations in adults living with type 2 diabetes: Biobehavioral and psychosocial mediators. Ann Behav Med 2011;41(1):71-82.

41. Colley RC, Garriguet D, Janssen I, Craig CL, Clarke J, Tremblay MS. Physical activity of Canadian adults: Accelerometer results from the 2007 to 2009 Canadian health measures survey. Health Reports 2011;22(1):7-14.

42. Darawad MW, Khalil AA, Hamdan-Mansour A, Nofal BM. Perceived exercise self-efficacy, benefits and barriers, and commitment to a plan for exercise among jordanians with chronic illnesses. Rehabil Nurs 2016;41(6):342-351.

43. David J. Robinson, Michael Coons, Heidi Haensel, Michael Vallis, Jean-François Yale. diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada:Diabetes and mental health. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.

44. David M N, Judith K, Rikke B, Hui Z, David S, Robert J H. Translating the A1C assay into estimated average glucose values. Diabetes Care 2008(8):1473.

45. De Melo M, de Sa E, Gucciardi E. Exploring differences in Canadian adult men and women with diabetes management: Results from the canadian community health survey. BMC Public Health 2013;13(1):1-19.

46. Diabetes Canada. Diabetes Charter Backgrounders. 2018; Available from: http://www.diabetes.ca/diabetes-and-you/know-your-rights/support-the-diabetes-charter-for-canada/diabetes-charter-backgrounders. [citedApr 3,2018].

47. Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee. diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada. Can J Diabetes 2018:S325.

48. Diana Sherifali, Lori D. Berard, Enza Gucciardi, Barbara MacDonald, Gail MacNeill. Diabetes canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Self-management education and support. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.

49. Diewertje S, Brian B, Rebecca M, Rudolf K, Birgit T, Nina Føns J, et al. Physical activity and mortality in individuals with diabetes mellitus: A prospective study and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 2012(17):1285.

50. Ding EL, Song Y, Malik VS, Liu S. Sex differences of endogenous sex hormones and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2006;295(11):1288-1299.

51. Donnelly TT, Fung TS, Al-Thani ABM. Fostering active living and healthy eating through understanding physical activity and dietary behaviours of Arabic-speaking adults: A cross-sectional study from the Middle East. BMJ Open 2018 Apr 20,;8(4):e019980.

52. Dunneram Y, Jeewon R. Healthy diet and nutrition education program among women of reproductive age: A necessity of multilevel strategies or community responsibility. Health Promotion Perspectives, Vol 5, Iss 2, Pp 116-127 (2015) 2015(2):116.

53. El-Khawaga G, Abdel-Wahab F. Knowledge, attitudes, practice and compliance of diabetic patients in Dakahlia, Egypt. European Journal of Research in Medical Sciences Vol 2015;3(1).

54. El-Sayed A, Galea S. The health of arab-americans living in the united states: A systematic review of the literature. BMC Public Health 2009;9(1):272-280.

55. G.B. John Mancini, Robert A. Hegele, Lawrence A. Leiter. Diabetes canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in canada: Dyslipidemia. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.

56. Galesloot S, McIntrye L, Fento T, Tyminski S. Dietary acculturation of arab immigrants in the greater Toronto area. CAN J DIET PRACT RES 2012;73(3):143-146.

57. Gelaw BK, Mohammed A, Tegegne GT, Defersha AD, Fromsa M, Tadesse E, et al. Non-adherence and contributing factors among ambulatory patients with anti-diabetic Medications in Adama Referral Hospital. 2014; Available from: https://www.hindawi.com/journals/jdr/2014/617041/. [citedMay 23,2018].

58. Gerstein H, Leiter LA, Braga MFB, Casanova A, Fitchett DH, Langer A, et al. Poor achievement of guidelines-recommended targets in type 2 diabetes: Findings from a contemporary prospective cohort study. Int J Clin Pract 2012;66(5):457-64.

59. Ghadban R. Smoking behavior in arab americans: Acculturation and health beliefs. Journal of Community Medicine & Health Education 2016 August 25,.

60. Goforth AN. Acculturation, acculturative stress, religiosity and psychological adjustment among muslim Arab American adolescents. 2014.

61. Gonzalez JS, Peyrot M, McCarl LA, Collins EM, Serpa L, Mimiaga MJ, et al. Depression and diabetes treatment nonadherence: A meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2008;31(12):2398-2403.

62. Gonzalez JS, Safren SA, Cagliero E, Wexler DJ, Delahanty L, Wittenberg E, et al. Depression, selfcare, and medication adherence in type 2 diabetes: Relationships across the full range of symptom severity. Diabetes Care 2007;30(9):2222-2227.

63. Grant RC, Retnakaran RR. Healthcare, self-care, and health status of immigrants and non-immigrants with type 2 diabetes in the Canadian community health surveys. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2012;98:320-328.

64. Gucciardi E, Wang SC, DeMelo M, Amaral L, Stewart DE. Characteristics of men and women with diabetes: Observations during patients' initial visit to a diabetes education centre. Can Fam Physician 2008;54(2):219-227.

65. Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL, Anis AH. The incidence of comorbidities related to obesity and overweight: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2009;9(1):1-20.

66. Hawamdeh S, Dator WLT, Abunab HY. Prevalence of depression among Arab women with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Health 2016 -05-10;08:650.

67. Hjelm K, Bard K, Nyberg P, Apelqvist J. Religious and cultural distance in beliefs about health and illness in women with diabetes mellitus of different origin living in Sweden. Int J Nurs Stud 2003;40:627-643.

68. Hourani CA. The Arab league in perspective. Middle East J 1947(2):125.

69. International Diabetes Federation. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 8th edn. Brussels, Belgium:International Diabetes Federation, 2017. 2017; Available from: http://diabetesatlas.org/resources/2017-atlas.html. [citedApr 3,2018].

70. Jecht M. The effect of weight loss on HbA1c levels. Diabetologe 2017;13(7):519-521.

71. John L. Sievenpiper, Catherine B. Chan, Paula D. Dworatzek, Catherine Freeze, Sandra L.Williams. Diabetes canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada:Nutrition therapy. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.

72. John M. Embil, Zaina Albalawi, Keith Bowering, Elly Trepman. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Foot care Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.

73. Kalich A, Heinemann L, Ghahari S. A scoping review of immigrant experience of health care access barriers in Canada. Journal Of Immigrant And Minority Health 2016;18(3):697-709.

74. Kautzky-Willer A, Harreiter J, Pacini G. Sex and gender differences in risk, pathophysiology and complications of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Endocr Rev 2016;37(3):278-316.

75. Khattab A, Javaid A, Iraqi G, Alzaabi A, Ben Kheder A, Koniski M, et al. Smoking habits in the Middle East and North Africa: Results of the BREATHE study. Respiratory Medicine 2012;106:S24.

76. Koprulu F, Bader RJK, Hassan, Nageeb A G M, Abduelkarem AR, Mahmood DA. Evaluation of adherence to diabetic treatment in northern region of united arab emirates. Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research 2014;13(6):989-995.

77. Krousel-Wood M, Morisky DE, Ang A, Krousel-Wood M. Predictive validity of a medication adherence measure in an outpatient setting. J Clin Hypertens 2008;10(5):348-54.

78. Lee WC, Balu S, Cobden D, Joshi AV, Pashos CL. Health economics. prevalence and economic consequences of medication adherence in diabetes: A systematic literature review. Manage Care Interface 2006;19(7):31-41.

79. Legato MJ, Gelzer A, Goland R, Ebner SA, Rajan S, Villagra V, et al. Gender-specific care of the patient with diabetes: Review and recommendations. Gender Medicine 2006;3:131-158.

80. Linda A. J, Morton B. B, Adnan H, Qian Z, William H. H. Lack of acculturation is a risk factor for diabetes in Arab immigrants in the U.S. Diabetes Care 2003(7):2010.

81. LK Khan, J Sobal, R Martorell. Acculturation, socioeconomic status, and obesity in Mexican AmericansCuban Americans, and Puerto Ricans. International Journal of Obesity (United Kingdom) 1997(2):91.

82. Lori D. Berard, Rick Siemens BSc Pharm, CDE, VincentWoo. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in canada: Monitoring glycemic control. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.

83. Lorraine Lipscombe, Gillian Booth, Sonia Butalia, Kaberi Dasgupta, Dean T. Eurich, Ronald Goldenberg, Nadia Khan, Lori MacCallum, Baiju R. Shah, Scot Simpson. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in canada: Pharmacologic glycemic management of type 2 diabetes in adults. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.

84. Loukine L, Waters C, Choi BCK, Ellison J. Impact of diabetes mellitus on life expectancy and healthadjusted life expectancy in Canada. Population Health Metrics 2012;10:7-16.

85. Lovshin JA, Shah BR. Inadequate screening for retinopathy among recent immigrants with type 2 diabetes despite universal health care: A population-based study. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications 2017;31(4):664-8.

86. Maria Isabella C, MSc, Rahim M, Gillian B, Doug H. M, Marie D, Sarah M, et al. Age- and sex-related prevalence of diabetes mellitus among immigrants to Ontario, Canada. CMAJ 2010(8):781.

87. Martin D, Miller AP, Quesnel-Vallée A, Caron NR, Vissandjée B, Marchildon GP. Canada's universal health-care system: Achieving its potential. Lancet 2018 Apr 28,;391(10131):1718-1735.

88. Montague MC. Psychosocial and functional outcomes in African Americans with diabetes mellitus. ABNF J 2002;13(5):103-109.

89. Multicultural Mental Health Resource Centre. PHQ in Different Languages. 2013; Available from: http://www.multiculturalmentalhealth.ca/clinical-tools/assessment/screening-for-common-mental-disorders/phq-in-different-languages/. [citedMay 21,2018].

90. Musaiger AO, Hassan AS, Obeid O. The paradox of nutrition-related diseases in the Arab countries: The need for action. International journal of environmental research and public health 2011 Sep;8(9):3637-3671.

91. Obesity and overweight - Fact sheet 2017. World Health Organization. 2017; Available from: http://www.who.int.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight. [citedJun 13,2018].

92. Ola S, Elizabeth H. Psychometric properties of the Arabic version of the summary of diabetes selfcare activities instrument. Research & Theory for Nursing Practice 2016(1):60. 93. Omariba DWR, Ng E, Vissandjée B. Differences between immigrants at various durations of residence and host population in all-cause mortality, Canada 1991-2006. Popul Stud (Camb) 2014;68(3):339-357.

94. Parkin CG, Davidson JA. Value of self-monitoring blood glucose pattern analysis in improving diabetes outcomes. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2009;3(3):500-508.

95. Philip McFarlane, David Cherney, Richard E. Gilbert, Peter Senior. Diabetes canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada:Chronic kidney disease in diabetes. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2011;35(1):12.

96. Polychronopoulou A, Pandis N. Interpretation of observational studies. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 2014;146(6):815-7.

97. Powers MA, Bardsley J, Cypress M, Duker P, Funnell MM, Fischl AH, et al. Diabetes selfmanagement education and support in type 2 diabetes: A joint position statement of the American diabetes association, the American Association of diabetes educators, and the academy of nutrition and dietetics. Diabetes Educ 2017 February 1,;43(1):40-53.

98. Punthakee Z, Goldenberg R, Katz P. Definition, classification and diagnosis of diabetes, prediabetes and metabolic syndrome. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;42, Supplement 1:S15.

99. Qahoush R, Stotts N, Alawneh MS, Froelicher ES. Physical activity in Arab women in Southern California. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2010;9(4):263-271.

100. Raum E, Krämer HU, Rüter G, Rothenbacher D, Rosemann T, Szecsenyi J, et al. Medication nonadherence and poor glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2012;97:377-384.

101. Robert Redfield a, Ralph Linton a, Herskovits MJ. Memorandum for the study of acculturation. American Anthropologist 1936(1):149.

102. Ronald J. Sigal, Marni J. Armstrong, Simon L. Bacon, Normand G. Boulé, Kaberi Dasgupta, Glen P. Kenny, Michael C. Riddell. Diabetes canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in canada: Physical activity and diabetes. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.

103. Rozenfeld Y, Hunt JS, Plauschinat C, Wong KS. Oral antidiabetic medication adherence and glycemic control in managed care. AM J MANAGE CARE 2008;14(2):71-75.

104. S. Ali Imran, Gina Agarwal MBBS, Harpreet S. Bajaj, Stuart Ross. Diabetes Canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada: Targets for glycemic control. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2011;35(1):12.

105. Sajith M, Pankaj M, Pawar A, Modi A, Sumariya R. Medication adherence to antidiabetic therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences 2014;6:564-570.

106. Sana TA, Shamsul AS, Bosseri S, Morisky DE, Shamsuddin K. Illness perceptions of libyans with T2DM and their influence on medication adherence: A study in a diabetes center in Tripoli. Libyan Journal of Medicine, Vol 10, Iss 0, Pp 1-10 (2015) 2015(0):1.

107. Sanou D, O'Reilly E, Ngnie-Teta I, Batal M, Mondain N, Andrew C, et al. Acculturation and nutritional health of immigrants in canada: A scoping review. J Immigrant Minority Health 2014;16(1):24-34.

108. Sarich PEA, Ding D, Sitas F, Weber MF. Co-occurrence of chronic disease lifestyle risk factors in middle-aged and older immigrants: A cross-sectional analysis of 264,102 australians. Preventive Medicine 2015;81:209-15.

109. Schmidt CB, Potter van Loon, Bert Jan, Torensma B, Snoek FJ, Honig A. Ethnic minorities with diabetes differ in depressive and anxiety symptoms and diabetes-distress. Journal of diabetes research 2017;2017.

110. Sedgwick P. Bias in observational study designs: Cross sectional studies. BMJ 2015;350:h1286.

111. Shara NM, Yassin SA, Abu-Bader SH, Getaneh A, Browning S, Zeymo A, et al. Overcoming recruitment challenges: A pilot study in Arab Americans. Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice 2017;9(4).

112. SheldonW. Tobe, Richard E. Gilbert, Charlotte Jones, Lawrence A. Leiter, Ally P.H. Prebtani, VincentWo. Diabetes canada 2018 clinical practice guidelines for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada:Treatment of hypertension. Canadian Journal of Diabetes 2018;35(1):12.

113. Sigurðardóttir ÁK. Self-care in diabetes: Model of factors affecting self-care. Journal of Clinical Nursing 2005 Mar;14(3):301-314.

114. Statistics Canada. Census Profile. 2016 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue. 2017; Available from: http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016. [citedApril 3,2018].

115. Statistics Canada. The Arab Community in Canada. 2007; Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/pub/89-621-x/89-621-x2007009-eng.htm. [citedMay 21,2018].

116. StatsCan. immigration and ethnocultural diversity in Canada. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 2011. Canadian Research Index 2013 Jan 1,.

117. Sweileh W, Zyoud S, Al-Jabi S, Abu Nab'A R, Deleq M, Enaia M, et al. Influence of patients' disease knowledge and beliefs about medicines on medication adherence: Findings from a cross-sectional survey among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Palestine. BMC Public Health 2014;14(1).

118. Tailakh A, Tailakh AK, Evangelista LS, Morisky DE, Mentes JC, Pike NA, et al. Acculturation, medication adherence, lifestyle behaviors, and blood pressure control among Arab Americans. Journal Of Transcultural Nursing 2016;27(1):57-64.

119. Tenkorang EY. Early onset of type 2 diabetes among visible minority and immigrant populations in canada. Ethnicity Health 2017;22(3):266-284.

120. Toobert DJ, Hampson SE, Glasgow RE. The summary of diabetes self-care activities measure: Results from 7 studies and a revised scale. Diabetes Care 2000;23(7):943-950.

121. Tsuyuki R, Cheng A, Leiter LA, Cheng AY, Teoh H, Langer A, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus management in Canada: Is it improving? Can J Diabetes. 2013;37(2):82-9.

122. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). Lancet 1998;352(9131):837-853.

123. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and microvascular complications in type 2 diabetes: UKPDS 38. Papers 1998 -9-12;317(7160):703-713.

124. Umpierre D, Ribeiro PaB, Schaan BD, Ribeiro JP. Volume of supervised exercise training impacts glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review with meta-regression analysis. Diabetologia 2013 Feb;56(2):242-251.

125. Vallianatos H, Raine K. Consuming food and constructing identities among Arabic and South Asian immigrant women. Sisters or Strangers?: Immigrant, Ethnic, and Racialized Women in Canadian History, Second Edition 2016:455-474.

126. Vitale M, Masulli M, Cocozza S, Anichini R, Babini AC, Boemi M, et al. Sex differences in food choices, adherence to dietary recommendations and plasma lipid profile in type 2 diabetes � the TOSCA.IT study. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases 2016;26:879-885.

127. Wikipedia. Arab culture. 2018; Available from: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Arab_culture&oldid=843656581. [citedJun 13,2018].

128. Wu SV, Courtney M, Edwards H, McDowell J, Shortridge-Baggett LM, Chang P. Self-efficacy, outcome expectations and self-care behaviour in people with type 2 diabetes in taiwan. J Nurs Healthc Chronic Illn 2007;16(3):250-257.

APPENDICES

Appendix A Arabic version of the study survey

الأن سوف تقوم يتعنّة تموذج الدراسة والذي يتكون من خمسة اجزاء: سوف نيذا بالجزء الأول من هذه الاستمارة والذي يتضمن أسئلة حول تاريخك الطبي وكيفية تعاملك مع مرض السكري ليس عليك الاجابة علي أي سؤال تشعر يعدم الراحة لاجابته
یصفة عامة کیف تری حالتك الصحیة؟ * must provide value ممکاری (جیدی جدا جیدی جدا یود ک سیئة (participant does not prefer to ansurer this question
participant does not prefer to answer this question reset
قي أي سنة تم تشغيصك بمرض السكري؟ ▼
کيف تتعامل مع مرض السکري ؟ (Check all that apply to you)
 * must provide value نظام غذائی نظام غذائی تمارین ریلتمبیه أمویة خفض السكر (حبوب) حقن الأسولين دوية الحقن التي لا يوجد بها السولين (eg. liraglutide, exenatide) اموية الحقن التي لا يوجد بها السولين (eg. iraglutide, exenatide) participant does not prefer to answer this question
خلال السنة الماضية، هل أحسست ياي عوارض قوية لانخفاض السكري واحتجت شخص آخر لمساعنتك خلالها مثل(الاعماء/ فقدان الوعي او نويات صرع)؟
نعم لا ک غیر متأکد participant does not prefer to answer this question

هل سبق وقيل لك من قبل طاقمك الطبي أن لديك احدى هذه المشاكل الصحية؟	
ارتفاع ضنغط الدم	
مشاکل بالکلی	
مشاكل بالجنين	
نوبات بالقلب	
جلطات دماغية	
إنسداد السّرايين بالكاحل او القدم	
ارتفاع مستوى الكولستيرول أوالدهنيات في الدم	
بتر 🗌	
غیر هذه المشاکل 📃	
ليس لديك إحدى هذه المسّاكل	
participant does not prefer to answer this question	
إذا كاتت الأجابة غير هذه المشاكل ،ما هي هذه المشاكل؟	
خلال السنة الماضية، كم مرة ذ هيت إلي غرفة الطوارئ؟	
خلال السنة الماضية، كم مرة دخلت للمستشفى ويقيت اكثر من ليلة؟	
هل لديك أي معلومات عن كُتيب النظام الغذائي في كندا؟ show the participant food guideline copy if said no and ask then	a if wants a copy
نعم ()	
О Y	
0	
	participant does not prefer to answer this question
هل تدخن حاليا	
* must provide value	
لم ادخن مطلقا 🔘	
حاليا مدخن	
توقفت عن التدخين منذ 🔘	
\bigcirc participant does not prefer to answer this question	
	reset

```
هل تشرب الكحول
* must provide value
نعم 🔘
О у
O participant does not prefer to answer this question
                                                                                                                       re
هل أحد اقراد عائلتك مصاب بالسكرى؟
* must provide value
لا يوجد أحد 📃
الأب 📃
الأم 🗌
الاخوة/الاخوات 📃
الجد/الجدة
لاأعرف 📃
participant does not prefer to answer this question
متي آخر مرة قمت بقحص شبكية العينين
where your eyes were dilated (this
would have made you temporarily sensitive to light) or you had a picture of back of your eye?
* must provide value
مطلقا 🔘
خلال السنة الماضية 🔘
من مدة عام الى عامين 🔘
منذ اکثر من عامین 🔘
لا اعلم/ غير متأكد 🔘
O participant does not prefer to answer this question
                                                                                                                       re
اذا قمت بقحص الشبكية من قبل
هذه اول مردَ 🔘
كل سنة مرة بانتظام 🔘
مرة واحدة من قبل 🔘
                                                                                                                       re
```

هل يقوم طاقمك الطبي يقحص ضغط دمك في أغلب مواعيد فحصك المتعلقة بالسكري؟ * must provide value	
نعم ()	
О Y	
لا اعلم	
○ participant does not prefer to answer this question	reset
هل تتابع مع أخصائي تغذية (dietitian)?	
* must provide value	
نعم 🔾	
О У	
غیر متأکد/لا اعلم	
O participant does not prefer to answer this question	reset
هل تتابع مع اخصائي توعية مرض السكري **؟ this means diabetes educator/diabetes nurse	
* must provide value	
نعم 🔾	
О у	
غیر متأکد/لا اعلم	
\bigcirc participant does not prefer to answer this question	
	reset
<< Previous Page Next Page >>	
Save & Return Later	

:الان سوف تنتقل الى الجزء الثاني من هذه الاستمارة في هذا الجزء سوف تقوم بسؤالك بعض الأسئلة حول مرض السكري لنختير مستواك المعرفي حول هذا المرض، سوف تقوم بتزويدك بالإجابة الصحيصة :بعد الانتهاء من هذه الاستمارة إذا تريد ذلك

النظام الغذائي لمرض السكري هو

* must provide value

- الطريقة التي يأكل بها معظم العرب
- النظام الغذائي الصبحي لمعظم الناس 🔘
- النظام الذي يحتوى على نسبة عالية من الكربو هيدرات لمعظم الأشخاص
- النظام الذي يحتوى على نسبة عالية من البروتين لمعظم الأشخاص
- O the participant does not have any knowledge about the questio
- O participant does not prefer to answer this question

أي من الأغذية التالية يحتوي على نسبة عالية من الكريو هيدرات؟

* must provide value

- الدجاج المتسوي 🔘
- جین شیدر 🔘
- بطاطس مشوية 🔘
- (Peanut butter) زبدة الفول السوداني 🔘
- O the participant does not have any knowledge about the question
- O participant does not prefer to answer this question

أى من الأطعمة التالية يحتوى على تسية عالية من الدهون؟

* must provide value

- حليب قليل الدسم(2%)
- عصير برنقال 🔘
- (com) ذرة 🔘
- عسل 🔘
- O the participant does not have any knowledge about the question
- O participant does not prefer to answer this question

reset

reset

```
أى من الأطعمة التالية يعتبر خالى من الكريو. هيدرات؟
* must provide value
الأطعمة الغير محلاة 🔘
أى طعام عليه علامة خالى الدهون 🔘
أي طعام عليه علامة خالى من السكر
أي طعام يحتوي على أقل من 20 سعر حراري 🔘
O the participant does not have any knowledge about the question
O participant does not prefer to answer this question
                                                                                                                         reset
اختيار مخزون السكر/السكر التراكمي هو أحد الاختيارات التي تقيس متوسط
مستوى السكر في الدم قيل
HbA1C
يوم 🔘
أسبوع 🔘
من6 الى12 أسابيع 🔘
أشهر 6 🔘
O the participant does not have any knowledge about the question
participant does not prefer to answer this question
                                                                                                                         reset
ماهى افضل الطرق التالية لقحص سكر الدم في المتزل؟
* must provide value
فحص البول 🔘
فحص الدم 🔘
كلاهما جيد 🔘
O participant does not prefer to answer this question
O the participant does not have any knowledge about the questio
                                                                                                                         reset
ما هو تأثير عصير الفاكهة الغير محلاة على مستوى السكر في الدم؟
بخفض منه 🔘
يساهم في ارتفاعه 🔘
ليس له تأثير 🔘
oparticipant does not prefer to answer this question
O the participant does not have any knowledge about the questio
```

أي من التالي لا يجب استخدامه لعلاج سكر الدم المنخفض ؟	
تلات حبات من التمر	
نصف کرب عصير برنقال 🔘	
کوب مشروب غازي خالي من السکر	
كوب حليب قليل الدسم	
\bigcirc participant does not prefer to answer this question	
O the participant does not have any knowledge about the questio	
	reset
بالنسبة للشخص المتحكم بمعدل جيد للسكري، ما هو تأثير التمارين الرياضية على مستوى سكر الدم ؟	
نقال منه 🔾	
تساهم في زيادته	
لیس لها دَتَیَر 🔘	
\bigcirc participant does not prefer to answer this question	
\bigcirc the participant does not have any knowledge about the questio	
	reset
ما هو تأثير العدوى (الالتهابات البكتيرية والقيروسية) الاكثر احتمالا على سكر الدم	
* must provide value	
ارتفاع في سكر الدم 🔘	
انخفاض في سكر الدم 🔘	
لا تؤتر عليه 🔘	
\bigcirc the participant does not have any knowledge about the question	
O participant does not prefer to answer this question	ranat
	reset
أفضل وسيلة لرعاية قدميك	
* must provide value	
الاهتمام بها و غسلها يوميا 🔘	
التدليك بالكحول يوميا (٢	
نقعها لمدة ساعة بوميا 🔘	
سّراء حذاء بمقاس أكبر من المحدّاد 🔘	
\bigcirc participant does not prefer to answer this question	
O the participant does not have any knowledge about the questio	
	reset

* must provide value

- امراض الاعصاب 🔘
- أمراض الكلى 🔘
- أمراض القلب 🔘
- أمراض العين 🔘
- O participant does not prefer to answer this question
- O the participant does not have any knowledge about the questio

الشعور بالوخز و التنميل ريما يكون أعراض ل:

* must provide value

- أمراض الكلى 🔘
- أمرض الأعصاب 🔘
- أمرض بالعين 🔘
- أمرض بالكبد 🔘
- O participant does not prefer to answer this question
- O the participant does not have any knowledge about the questio

أي مما يلي عادةً لا يرتبط بمرض السكري:

* must provide value

- مشاكل بالرؤية 🔘
- مشاكل بالكلى 🔘
- المشاكل العصبية 🔘
- مشاكل بالرئة 🔘
- O the participant does not have any knowledge about the question
- O participant does not prefer to answer this question

re

re

re

الان سوف ننتقل الى الجزء الثالث في هذا الجزء نود سؤالك بعض الاسئلة حول الانتشطة المتطقة بعنايتك الشخصية لمرض السكري خلال السبعة الايام الماضية إلى المناصية , يرجى اعادة التفكير الى السبعة الايام الاخيرة التي لم تكن فيها مريض

	او لاو قدر و التقترية
	اور عليم التحق
خلال السبعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي اتبعت فيها نظام غذاء صحي؟ * must provide value	
\bigcirc 0	
\bigcirc 1	
\bigcirc 2	
\bigcirc 3	
\bigcirc 4	
\bigcirc 5	
$\bigcirc 6$	
\bigcirc 7	
 participant does not prefer to answer this question 	reset
على مدى الشهر الماضي ويمعدل كم يوم في الاسبوع، اتبعت نظاما غذائيا صحيا خاصا بكُ؟ * must movide value	
V not applacable/الا نوجد خطه عدالله من المالية مالية م مالية مالية ممالية مالية ماليية ماليية مالية مالية ممالية مم	
participant does not prefer to answer this question	reset

كم من الايام السبعة الماضية تتاولت خمس حصص او أكثر من القاكهة او الخضار؟
* must provide value
○ 0
0 1
○ 2
○ 3
○ 4
0 5
O 6
07
O participant does not prefer to answer this question
reset
كم من الإيام السيعة الماضية تناولت الاطعمة ذات الدهون العالية مثل اللحوم الحمر اع او منتجات الإليان الكاملة الدسم؟
* must provide value
○ 0
○ 1
○ 2
○ 3
○ 4
○ 5
0 6
○ 7
O participant does not prefer to answer this question
reset
خلال السيعة ايام الماضية، كم حد الايام التي تناولت فيها كمية النشويات اليومية خلال اليوم بالنساوي (كمية متساوية من النشويات في الفطور والغداء والعشاء او ياقى وجباتك الغذائية
* must provide value
○ 0
○ 1
○ 2
○ 3
○ 4
○ 5
0 6

كم من الأيام السبعة الماضية مارست تمرينا رياضيا معينا (مثل السباحة، المثنى، ركوب الدراجة) غير الذي تقطه في المنزل او كجزء من عملك؟
* must provide value
O 0
O 1
O 2
O 3
○ 4
0 5
0 6
07
participant does not profer to answer this question
 participant does not prefer to answer this question
eset
reset خلال السيعة ايام الماضية، كم حدد الايام التي مارست فيها في أنشطة بدنية بصفة عامة لمدة 30 دقيقة على الاقل (مجموع الدقائق الكلية للاشطة بما غيها المشي
reset خلال السيعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي مارست فيها في أنشطة بدنية يصفة عامة لمدة 30 دقيقة على الاقل (مجموع الدقائق الكلية للانشطة بما فيها المشي * must provide value
 participant does not prezer to answer uns question reset خلال السيعة ايام الماضية، كم حدد الايام التي مارست فيها في أنشطة بدنية يصفة عامة لمدة 30 دقيقة على الاقل (مجموع الدقائق الكلية للانشطة بما فيها المشي * must provide value 0
reset تعلي الأثل (مجموع المقاتق الكلية للإشطة بما فيها في أنشطة بدنية يصفة عامة لمدة 30 دقيقة على الأثل (مجموع المقاتق الكلية للإشطة بما فيها المشي * must provide value 0 1
reset reset خلال السبعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الإيام التي مارست فيها في أنشطة يدنية يصفة عامة لمدة 30 دقيقة على الإقل (مجموع المقاتق الكلية للانشطة يما فيها المشي * must provide value 0 1 2
reset د الايام التي مارست فيها في أنشطة يدنية يصفة عامة لمدة 30 دقيقة على الاقل (مجموع الدقائق الكلية للانشطة بما فيها المشي * must provide value 0 1 2 3
reset دونية الما الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي مارست غيها في أنشطة بدتية يصفة عامة لمدة 30 دقيقة على الاقل (مجموع الدقائق الكلية للانتشطة بما غيها المشي * must provide value 0 1 2 3 4
 ه الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي مارست فيها في أنشطة بدنية بصفة عامة لمدة 30 دقيقة على الاقل (مجموع الدقائق الكلية للانشطة بما فيها المشي * must provide value 0 1 2 3 4 5
 ها الدائمة الما تباد الما الذي الذي الما الذي الذي الذي الذي الذي الما الذي الما الذي الما الذي الما الذي الما الذي الذي الذي الذي الذي الذي الما الذي الذي الذي الذي الذي الذي الذي الذ
reset
reset
reset

ثالثا: اختيار تسية السكر في الدم		
5	خلال السبعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي فحصت فيها سكر الدم حسب العدد المذكور في تعليمات طبيبك	
	* must provide value	
(0	
(0 1	
(2	
(3	
(4	
(5	
(• 6	
(7	
(participant does not prefer to answer this question	
9	خلال السبعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي فحصت فيها نسبة السكرفي الدم	
	* must provide value	
(
	\bigcirc 1	
	$\bigcirc 2$	
($\bigcirc 4$	
(\bigcirc 5	
($\supset 6$	
(\bigcirc 7	
(participant does not prefer to answer this question	

الجزء الرابع : العناية بالقدم

خلال السيعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي فحصت فيها قدميك؟	
* must provide value	
○ o	
○ 1	
○ 2	
○ 3	
○ 4	
○ 5	
○ 6	
○ 7	
\bigcirc participant does not prefer to answer this question	
	rese
خلال السيعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي قحصت قيها حدّائك من الداخل (للتاكد من عدم وجود اشياء تسبب الجروح مثل قطع في الحدّاء او نتوءات)؟	
* must provide value	
0	
\bigcirc 1	
○ 2	
3	
• 4	
O 5	
6	
07	
oparticipant does not prefer to answer this question	
	Tese
خلال السبعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الأيام التي غسلت فيها قدميك؟	
* must provide value	
○ 0	
○ 1	
○ 2	
O 3	
○ 4	

0 5	
○ 6	
○ 7	
O participant does not prefer to answer this question	
	103
خلال السبعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي نقعت قيها قدميك بالماء؟	
* must provide value	
○ 0	
\bigcirc 1	
○ 2	
○ 3	
○ 4	
○ 5	
○ 6	
○ 7	
 participant does not prefer to answer this question 	
	163
خلال السبعة ايام الماضية، كم عدد الايام التي جففت فيها بين اصابع قدميك بعد الغسيل؟	
* must provide value	
\bigcirc 0	
$\bigcirc 2$	
03	
0 4	
0 5	
0 6	
07	
O participant does not prefer to answer this question	
	res

الان سوف تنتقل الى الجزء الرابع من هذه الاستمارة

- : في هذا الجزء تود سؤالك بعض الأسئلة حول مزاجك خلال الأسيوعين الماضيين

خلال الأسبوعين الماضيين، كم مرة عاتيت من أي من المشاكل التالية

:قلة الاهتمام أن قلة الاستمتاع عند القيام بأي عمل * must provide value	
ولامرة 🔾	
عدة أليام	
أكتر من نصف الايام 🔘	
نقريبا کل يوم 🔘	
O participant does not prefer to answer this question	reset
الشعور بالحزن أو ضيق الصدر أو اليأس * must provide value	
ولامرة 🔘	
عدة أليام	
أكتر من نصف الإيام 🔘	
نقريبا کل يوم 🔘	
O participant does not prefer to answer this question	reset

، تنتقل للجزء الخامس وقيل الأخير زء، تريد ان تسألك بعض الأسئلة حول الادوية التي تتناولها	لان سوق ي هذا الج
هل تتسى أحياتا أن تتتاول الدواء الخاص بالسكري) ؟	
* must provide value	
نعم 🔾	
О ¥	
\bigcirc participant does not prefer to answer this question	
O Participant does not take medication	
O Participant stop medication without by her / himself	
	reset
أحيانا الناس لا تتناول الأدوية الخاصة يهم لأسباب أخرى غير النسيان. هل كان هناك أية أيام على مدى الأسبوعين الماضيين لم تتناول فيها الدواء (الخاص بالسكري)؟	
* must provide value	
نعم 🔾	
О ¥	
\bigcirc participant does not prefer to answer this question	
O Participant does not take medication	
O Participant stop medication without by her / himself	
	reset
هل سبق لك أن خفضت أو توققت عن تتاول علاج السكر دون أن تخير طبيبك وذلك لأنك شعرت بأن حالتك الصحية أصبحت أسوأ عندما تناولت الدواء؟	
* must provide value	
نعم 🔾	
О ¥	
O participant does not prefer to answer this question	
O participant does not take any medication for diabetes	
O Participant stop medication without by her / himself	
	reset
```
عدما تساقر أو تغادر المنزل ، هل تتسى أحيانا إصطحاب الدواء (الخاص بالسكرى ) ؟
* must provide value
نعم 🔘
N O
participant does not prefer to answer this question
participant does not take any medication for diabetes
O Participant stop medication without by her / himself
هل تتاولت الدواء الخاص بعلاج مرض السكرى بالأمس؟
* must provide value
نعم 🔘
<u>у</u>
participant does not prefer to answer this question
participant does not take any medication for diabetes
O Participant stop medication without by her / himself
عندما تشعر بأن مستوى السكر تحت السيطرة، هل تلجأ أحيانا
الى التوقف عن إستعمال الدواء؟
* must provide value
نعم 🔘
() Y
O participant does not prefer to answer this question
O participant does not take any medication for diabetes
O Participant stop medication without by her / himself
تتاول العلاج بشكل يومى قد لا يروق لبعض الناس. هل تشعر بعدم رضا أو إمتعاض أو تشويش بسبب التزامك اليومى بالدواء؟
* must provide value
نعم 🔘
0 1
oparticipant does not prefer to answer this question
participant does not take any medication for diabetes
Participant stop medication without by her / himself
```

res

res

res

كم من المرات تواجه صعوبة في تذكر تناول جميع أدويتك؟		
* must provide value		
أبدا / تادرا		
من حين الى حين		
أحياتا 🔾		
ales 🔾		
دائما 🔾		
\bigcirc participant does not prefer to answer this question		
\bigcirc participant does not take any medication for diabetes		
\bigcirc Participant stop medication without by her / himself		
		reset
عليك اكثر	بتضمن يعض يعض المعلومات حولك لكى نتعرقك	والآن سوف تنتقل للجزء الأخير الذي
هل أنت؟ fill it with out asking participant		
* must provide value		
نكر 🔾		
أئتى ()		
أفضل عدم الاجابة 🔘		
		reset
في أي يله ولمدت		
_		
إذا كاتت الأجابة غيرها، في أي بله ولدت		
في أي عام انتقلت الى كندا؟		
•		
Are you Sprign refugee?		
nie you synan relugee.	⊖ Yes	
	U No	reset
€ triah, 4 tabi a /a tah) are a tabi a ari a tahu a tahu a cat. Ata		
ask direct		
* must provide value		
دائماً أكل عربي 🔘		
غالباً أكل عربي 🔘		
بالتساوي مايين الاكل العربي والكندي 🥥		
غالباً الاكل الكندي 🕖		
دائما الاكل الكندي 🕕		
 participant does not prefer to answer this question 		reset

ييت؟	في ال	يها	تتحدث	المتي	اللغة	ماهي
ask	dire	ect				

* must provide value

- فقط بلانجليزي 🔘
- فقط بالعربي 🔘
- غالبا بالأنجليزي 🔘
- غالبا بالعربي 🔘
- كلتًا اللغتين بالتساوي 🔘
- لغة اخري 🔘
- O participant does not prefer to answer this question

ماهي حالتك الاجتماعية؟

* must provide value

- أعزب 🔘
- منزوج/ة 🔘
- مطلق/ة 🔘
- ارمل/ة 🔘
- أفضل عدم الإجابة 🔘

ما هي تحصيلك العلمي؟ ask if they had education or not if they have ask specific

* must provide value

- لايوجد تحصيل علمي رسمي 🔘
- اقل من المستوى التانوي/يكالوريا 🔘
- اكملت المستوى التاتوي/يكالوريا 🔘
- بعض المستوى الجامعي(college-university)
- اكملت الشهادة الجامعية (college-university)
- دراسات عليا ماجستر/ دكتوراه 🔘
- O participant does not prefer to answer this question

هل لديك وظيفة حالياً؟ * must provide value	
رب/منزل 🔘	
موظف بدوام كامل 🔘	
موظف بدوام جزئي 🔘	
عاجز عن العمل بسبب إعاقة 🔘	
منقاعد	
عاطل عن العمل	
غيرها 🔘	
O participant does not prefer to answer this question	re
ما هو دخل العائلة السنوي قيل الضرائب؟ total annual household income before taxes	
اقل من 45,000 >\$	
\$45,000 - \$90,000	
\$90,000 - 142.000	
اکتر من \$142,000	
الفضل عدم الإجابة	
لا اعرف	rei
	10.
هل ترغب في حضور دورات تثقيقية يخصوص مرض السكري؟	
○ Yes	
O No	
	re

Appendix B English version of the study survey

All answers are optional.

Diabetes History Questionnaire								
In general, how do y	you feel about you	ır health?						
□ Excellent	□ Very Good	□ Good	🗆 Fair	D Poor				
In what year were	you first diagnose	d with diabetes?						
How do you manage	e your diabetes? (Check all that apply t	o you)					
□ Diet								
□ Exercise	□ Exercise							
□ Hypoglycemic pills								
□ Insulin								
□ Injectable non-insulin medicine (eg. liraglutide, exenatide)								
During the past year requiring someone of	r, did you experie else to help you (e	nce any severe symp .g. fainting, loss of c	otoms of low onsciousness,	blood sugar or seizure)?				
□ Yes	□ No	□ Not sure						
Have you ever been problems? (Choose all that app	told by a healthc lv to vou)	are professional that	t you have an	y of these medical				
Uigh blood prog		🗆 Kidnay problan	2	Eva Problem				
	Suic		1					
legs or foot ulcer		⊔ Stroke		LI BIOCKED ATTERIES IN				
□ High cholesterol	or triglycerides	\Box None of the above	ve 🗆	Other				

If other	, please	specify: -			
----------	----------	------------	--	--	--

In the last year, how many times have you been to the emergency room?

In the last year, how many times have you been admitted in hospital overnight?.....

Are you familiar wit	th Canada's food guide?	
□ Yes	□ No	
If yes, do you follow	Canada's food guide?	
□ Yes	□ No	
If yes, which langua	ge version of Canada's food guide do you use?	
□ English	□ Arabic	
What is your curren	t smoking status?	
□ I am currently smo	oker	
□ I quit smoking		
□ Never smoked		
If you I quit smoking	g, how many years ago did you quit?	
	10	
Do you drink alcoho	01?	
□ Yes	□ No	
If yes, what is t	the average number of drinks per week?	

Do any of the following of your family members have diabetes? (Check all that apply to you)

□ Father

 \Box Mother

 \Box Brother/Sister

□ Grandparents

 \Box I don't know

□ None

When was the last time you had a dilated eye exam (when you had drops put in your eyes) or had pictures taken of the back of your eye?

□ Never

 \Box Less than 1 year ago

 \Box 1 to 2 years ago

 \Box More than 2 years ago

□ I don't know

Does your health care professional check your blood pressure at most of your diabetesrelated appointments?

|--|

Do you see a dietician?

If yes, how often do you see the dietician?

 \Box Only seen my dietician once

 \Box 1-2 times per year

 \Box 3 or more times per year

□ Yes	□ No	□ I don't know	

- \Box Only seen my diabetes educator once
- \Box 1-2 times per year
- \Box 3 or more times per year

Diabetes Knowledge

(1) The diabetes diet is:	(2) Which of the following is highest in
(a) The way most Canadian people eat	carbohydrate
(b) A healthy diet for most people	(a) Baked chicken
(c) Too high in carbohydrate for most people	(b) Swiss cheese
(d) Too high in protein for most people	(c) Baked potato
(<i>a</i>)	(d) Peanut butter
(3) Which of the following is highest in fat?	(4) Which of the following is a "free food"?
(a) Low fat (2%) milk	(a) Any unsweetened food
(b) Orange juice	(b) Any food that has "fat free" on the label
(c) Corn	(c) Corn
(d) Honey	(d) Any food that has less than 20 calories
	per serving
 (5) HbA1c is a measure of your average blood glucose level for the past (a) Day (b) Week (c) 6-12 weeks (d) 6 months 	 (6) Which is the best method for home glucose testing? (a) Urine testing (b) Blood testing (c) Both are equally good
(7) What effect does unsweetened fruit juice have on	(8) Which should not be used to treat low
blood glucose?	blood glucose?
(a) Lowers it	(a) 3 hard candles $(1) 1/2$
(b) Raises it	(b) 1/2 cup orange juice
(c) Has no effect	(d) 1 cup diet soda pop drink
	(d) I cup skini nink
(9) For a person in good control, what effect does	(10) What effect will an infection most likely
exercise have on blood glucose?	have on blood glucose?
(a) Lowers it	(a) Lowers it
(b) Raises it	(b) Raises it
(c) Has no effect	(c) Has no effect

(11) The best way to take care of your feet is to:	(12) Eating foods lower in fat decreases your
(a) Look at and wash them each day	risk for:
(b) Massage them with alcohol each day	(a) Nerve disease
(c) Soak them for one hour each day	(b) Kidney disease
(d) Buy shoes a size larger than usual	(c) Heart disease
	(d) Eye disease
13) Numbness and tingling may be symptoms of:	14) Which of the following is usually not
(a) Kidney disease	associated with diabetes:
(b) Nerve disease	(a) Vision problems
(c) Eye disease	(b) Kidney problems
(d) Liver disease	(c) Nerve problems
	(d) Lung problems

Please answer the following questions on diabetes knowledge. We are happy to give you the answers after you finish the survey. This is for your reflection only.

Diabetes Self Care

We would like to know about your diabetes self-care activities during the last seven days. If you were sick during the past 7 days, please think back to the last 7 days that you were not sick.

Diet

How many of the **last SEVEN DAYS** have you followed a healthful eating plan?

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			
avera	ge, over the p	ast month, ho	w many <u>DAY</u>	YS PER WE	<u>EK</u> have you	followed you	're eating pla			
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			
how	how many of the last SEVEN DAYS did you eat five or more servings of fruits and vegetables?									
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			
On how many of the <u>last SEVEN DAYS</u> did you eat high fat foods such as red meat or full-fat dairy products?										
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			
On how many of the last SEVEN DAYS did you space carbohydrates evenly through the day?										
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7			

Physical activity:

On how many of the **last SEVEN DAYS** did you participate in at least 30 minutes of physical activity? (Total minutes of continuous activity, including walking).

0 1 2	3	4 5	6	7
-------	---	-----	---	---

On how many of the **last SEVEN DAYS** did you participate in a specific exercise session (such as swimming, walking, biking) other than what you do around the house or as part of your work?

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
<u>Bloc</u>	od Sugar Te	<u>sting</u>						
Onl	a an	the last SF	VEN DAVG	did you too	t vour blood	augar		
UIII	low many of	the last SE	VEN DAIS	ald you les	t your blood	sugar?		
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
how	many of the	last SEVE	N DAYS die	l vou test vo	ur blood sug	ar the numb	er of times	On
reco	mmended by	your health	are provid	er?			••••••	
								_
	<u>1</u>	2	3	4	5	6	7	
<u>F00</u>	<u>t Care:</u>							
On	how many o	f the last SE	EVEN DAYS	S did you ch	eck your fee	t?		
								_
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
On l	now many of	the last SE	VEN DAYS	did you ins	pect the insid	de of your sl	hoes?	
	2				1	5		
0	1	2	2	4	5		-	
U	1	2	3	4	5	0		On
how	many of the	last SEVE	N DAYS die	l you wash y	our feet?			011
			-		_	-	_	1
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
On l	now many of	the last SE	VEN DAYS	did you soa	ak your feet?			
	-			-	-			
0	1	2	2	4	5	6	7	
U	l	2	3	4	5	0	/	
0.1	((1. 1)	1 /		1. 0	
On I	now many of	INC IGGT NH	VHIN IDAVN	$\alpha \alpha \alpha \alpha \gamma \alpha \alpha$	I INCOMPANY	UP TOOD OTTON		
	iow many or			o ulu you uly	v between yo	ui loes allei	wasning?	
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	washing?]

Mood

Г

Over the <u>last two weeks</u>, how often have you been bothered by the following problems?

	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	1	2	3
Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless	0	1	2	3

٦

Taking Medication

	Yes	No
Do you sometimes forget to take your diabetes medications?		
In the last two weeks, was any day when you did not take your diabetes medication?		
Have you ever stopped taking your medications or decrease the dose without first warning your doctor because you felt worse when you took them?		
When you travel or leave the house, do you sometimes forget to take your medication?		
Did you take your diabetes medication yesterday?		
When you feel your blood sugar is controlled, do you sometimes stop taking your medication?		
Have you ever felt distressed for strictly following your diabetes treatment?		

How often do you have difficulty to remember taking all your diabetes medication?

□ Never

 \Box Almost

 \Box Sometimes

□ Frequently

 \Box Always

We would like to ask m	ore questions to bett	ter know you:	
Are you?			
□ Male	□ Female	□ Prefer not to answer	
What country were you	born in?		
What year did you mov	e to Canada?		_
What kind of food do ye	ou cook at home?		
□ Always-Arabic food			
□ Mostly Arabic but son	netimes mixed		
Equal Arabic and Can	adian		
□ Mostly Canadian			
□ Always-Canadian foo	d		
At home, do you speak?	•		
□ Only English			
□ Only Arabic			
□ Mostly English			
□ Mostly Arabic			
\Box English and Arabic ab	out equally		
□ Another language:			
If other language what	ia :49		

 \Box Never married

□ Married / common-law

 \Box Separated/ Divorced

- \Box Widowed
- \Box Prefer not to answer

What is the highest level of education you have completed?

- \Box No formal schooling
- □ Completed grade school (grades 1-9)
- \Box Completed high school
 - Completed College or University
- □ □ Completed Graduate education (Master or PhD)

What is your current employment status?

- \Box Homemaker
- □ Full-time employee
- \square Part-time employee
- \Box \Box On disability
- \Box Retired
- \Box \Box Unemployed
- □ Others; please specify: _____

What is your annual total household income?

- □□ □ \$60,000 \$90,000
 - □ □> \$90,000
 - \Box Prefer not to answer

Are you interested in attending seminars on diabetes education?

□ No

What language would you like these seminars to be in?

\Box English Language

- □ Arabic Language
- \Box Both

Are you interested to participate in future research?

 \Box \Box Yes \Box No

Characteristic	Total	Always Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n= 114)	56 (49.1)	48 (42.1)	10 (8.8)	P-value
Health status					
Excellent/Very Good	28 (24.6)	11 (19.6)	13 (27.1)	4 (40.0)	
Good	50 (43.9)	25 (44.6)	20 (41.7)	5 (50.0)	0.467
Fair /Poor	36 (31.6)	20 (35.7)	15 (31.3)	1 (10.0)	
Gender Female	44 (38.6)	24 (42.9)	17 (35.4)	3 (30.0)	0.623
Age, years	57.6 ± 10.7	57.5 ± 11.0	58.2 ± 10.4	55.7 ± 11.2	
20 – 44	10 (8.8)	6(10.7)	3 (6.3)	1 (10.0)	0.798
45 - 64	72 (63.2)	32(57.1)	33 (68.8)	7 (70.0)	0.743
≥65	32 (28.1)	18 (32.1)	12 (25.00)	2(20.0)	
Marital status,					
Married	98 (86.0)	48 (85.7)	41 (85.4)	9 (90.0)	0.020
Other***	16 (14.0)	8 (14.3)	7 (14.6)	1 (10.0)	0.928
Annual household income					
<45,000	68(59.7)	42 (75.00)	20 (41.7)	6 (60.0)	0.003*

Appendix C Sociodemographic characteristics of participants stratified by type of food eaten at home

Other****	46 (40.4)	14 (25.00)	28 (58.3)	4 (40.0)	
Employed	40 (35.1)	12 (21.4)	23 (47.9)	5 (50.0)	0.011*
Level of Education					
Less than high school	43 (37.7)	27 (48.2)	13 (27.1)	3 (30.0)	
Completed high school	29 (25.4)	10 (17.9)	15 (31.3)	4 (40.0)	0.163
Postsecondary education	42 (36.8)	19 (33.9)	20 (41.7)	3 (30.0)	
Duration in Canada (years)	23.9 ± 17.5	18.1 ± 16.8	29.7 ± 15.6	28.0 ± 20.3	0.002*
The language spoken at home					
Only Arabic				2 (20.0)	
Mostly Arabic/Other	45 (39.5)	32 (57.1)	11 (22.9)	3 (30 0)	
Only English/Mostly	38 (33.3)	17 (30.4)	18 (37.5)	5 (50.0)	0.001*
English/Both Language Equal	31 (27.2)	7 (12.5)	19 (39.6)	5 (50.0)	

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant, **include: Single/Divorced/Widowed, ***include: > \$ 45.000/Prefer not to answer/I don't know

Characteristic	Total	Always Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	D valua	
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n= 114)	56 (49.1)	48 (42.1)	10 (8.8)	I -value	
Family history of diabetes	82 (71.9)	39 (69.64)	35 (72.92)	8 (80.0)	0.782	
Duration of diabetes by years	11.1±8.6	10.3 ± 8.4	12.6 ± 9.2	8.1 ± 5.3	0.193	
<5	29 (25.4)	17 (30.4)	9 (18.8)	3 (30.0)	0.289	
5-10	36 (31.6)	17 (30.4)	14 (29.2)	5 (50.0)		
>10	49 (43.0)	22 (39.3)	25 (52.1)	2 (20.0)		
Self-reported Diabetes Management strategies						
Diet	50 (43.9)	21 (37.5)	22 (45.8)	7 (70.0)	0.152	
Exercise	39 (34.2)	13 (23.2)	20 (41.7)	6 (60.0)	0.028*	
Oral hypoglycemic medication	93 (81.6)	45 (80.4)	40 (83.3)	8 (80.0)	0.918	
Insulin injection	33 (29.0)	20 (35.7)	11 (22.9)	2 (20.0)	0.289	
Self-reported history of Hypoglycemia during last year	14 (12.4)	8 (14.3)	6 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	0.150	
Self-reported Comorbidities						
Hypertension	67 (58.8)	35 (62.5)	27 (56.3)	5 (50.0)	0.682	

Appendix D Healthy behavior and clinical characteristics of participants stratified by type of food eaten at home

Characteristic	Total	Always Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	Devalue
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n= 114)	56 (49.1)	48 (42.1)	10 (8.8)	P-value
Stroke	3 (2.6)	1 (1.8)	2 (4.2)	0 (0.0)	0.648
DVT	6 (5.3)	3 (5.4)	3 (6.3)	0 (0.0)	0.722
Kidney Problem	14 (12.3)	8 (14.3)	4 (8.3)	2 (20.0)	0.483
Eye problem	23(20.2)	13 (23.2)	7 (14.6)	3 (30.0)	0.396
Heart problem	20 (17.5)	13 (23.2)	6 (12.5)	1 (10.0)	0.289
High cholesterol	62 (54.4)	34 (60.7)	25 (52.1)	3 (30.0)	0.182
Amputation	2 (1.8)	1 (1.8)	1 (2.1)	0 (0.0)	0.901
Familiar with Canada Food Guide	59(51.8)	21 (37.5)	30 (62.5)	7 (80.0)	0.017*
Following Canada Food Guide	26 (44.1)	11 (52.4)	11 (36.7)	4 (50.0)	0.504
Self-care clinical monitor					
Retinopathy screening					
Never	18 (15.8)	7 (12.5)	8 (16.7)	3 (20.0)	0.147
Less than a year ago	78 (68.4)	44 (78.6)	29 (60.4)	5 (50.0)	
More than a year ago	18 (15.8)	5 (8.9)	11 (22.9)	2 (20.0)	
Blood Pressure check in the clinic	110 (96.5)	53 (94.6)	47 (97.9)	10 (100.0)	0.812
Follow up with diabete educator	20 (17.5)	9 (16.1)	7 (14.6)	4 (40.0)	0.145
Follow up with a dietitian	30 (26.3)	12 (21.4)	14 (29.2)	4 (40.0)	0.504
Chart review data (n=110)					

Characteristic	Total	Always Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	D valua
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n= 114)	56 (49.1)	48 (42.1)	10 (8.8)	r-value
HgbA1C (n=105)	7.5 ± 1.6	7.6 ± 1.8	75±15	7.0 ± 1.5	0.612
Systolic blood pressure (n=107)	124.5±14.2	124.5 ± 13.8	124.3 ± 15.6	125.5 ± 9.9	0.972
Diastolic blood pressure (n=107)	74.8 ± 9.3	75.3 ± 8.9	73.4 ± 10.0	78.9 ± 6.1	0.212
Body Mass Index (n=77)	32.7 ± 6.3	31.0 ± 6.9	34.6 ±4.99	33.8 ± 6.7	0.055*
Low-Density Lipoprotein (n=96)	2.2 ± 0.8	2.1 ± 0.8	2.2 ± 0.8	2.1 ± 1.0	0.916
High-Density Lipoprotein (n=99)	1.2 ± 0.4	1.2 ± 0.4	1.2 ± 0.4	1.1 ± 0.3	0.673
Triglyceride (n=99)	2.1 ± 1.4	2.1 ± 1.6	1.9 ± 1.3	1.9 ± 1.0	0.846
Albumin-Creatinine Ratio (n=91)					
<2 Normal level	52 (57.1)	28 (63.6)	22 (55.0)	2 (28.6)	0.522
2-20 Microalbuminuria	32 (35.2)	13 (29.6)	15 (37.5)	4 (57.1)	
>20 over nephropathy	7 (7.7)	3 (6.8)	3 (7.5)	1 (14.3)	
>20 over nephropathy	7 (7.7)	3 (6.8)	3 (7.5)	1 (14.3)	

Characteristic	Total	Always Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	D l
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n=114)	56 (49.1)	48 (42.1)	10 (8.8)	P-value
Diabetes knowledge Test (0 -14)					
Poor (< 7)	29 (25.4)	16 (28.6)	10 (20.8)	3 (30.0)	0.649
Average (7 to 11)	61 (53.5)	31 (55.4)	26 (54.2)	4 (40.0)	
Good (> 11)	24 (21.1)	9 (16.1)	12 (25.0)	3 (30.0)	
Self-care management					
General diet (0 to 7 days)	3.1 ± 2.7	3.1 ± 3.0	3.1 ± 2.4	4.0 ± 2.8	0.581
Specific diet (0 to 7 days)	3.6 ± 2.0	3.5 ± 2.1	3.9 ± 1.9	3.1 ± 2.1	0.463
Self-monitoring of blood glucose (0-7 days)	2.5 ± 2.4	3.0 ± 2.4	2.2 ± 2.3	1.9 ± 2.2	0.128
Foot care (0 to 7 days)	48 ± 15	4.9 ± 1.6	48 ± 15	47±11	0 950
Exercise (0 to 7 days)	2.1 ± 2.6	2.0 ± 2.7	2.2 ± 2.6	3.0 ± 2.4	0.519
Medication Adherence score (0 to 8) N=103*					
Low (≤ 5)	27 (26 2)	17 (31 5)	7 (17 1)	3 (37 5)	0 445
Medium (6 to 7)	44 (42 7)	23 (42 6)	18 (43 9)	3 (37 5)	
High (8)	32 (31.1)	14 (25 9)	16(390)	2(250)	

Appendix E Behavioral and psychosocial characteristics of participants stratified by type of food eaten at home

Smoking Status

Never smoked	61 (53.5)	31 (55.4)	23 (47.9)	7 (70.0)	0.701
Current Smoker	25 (21.9)	12 (21.4)	11 (22.9)	2 (20.0)	
Quit Smoking	28 (24.6)	13 (23.2)	14 (29.2)	1 (10.0)	
Depressive symptoms score	(0-6)				
Positive (3-6)	22 (19.3)	14 (25.0)	7 (14.6)	1 (10.0)	0.300
Negative(<3)	92 (80.7)	42 (75.0)	41 (85.4)	9 (90.0)	

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant, **11 missing because they are only on life style management and they excluded from analysis

Characteristic	Total	Only Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	Developer
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n=114)	45 (39.5)	38 (33.3)	31 (27.2)	P-value
Health status					
Excellent/Very Good	28 (24.6)	8 (17.8)	12 (31.6)	8 (25.8)	0.467
Good	50 (43.9)	24 (53.3)	13 (34.2)	13 (41.9)	
Fair /Poor	36 (31.6)	13 (28.9)	13 (34.2)	10 (32.3)	
Gender Female	44 (38.6)	18 (40.0)	11 (29.0)	15 (48.4)	0.249
Age, years	57.6 ± 10.7	60.3± 11.4	56.3 ± 9.4	55.2 ± 10.6	0.079
20 – 44	10 (8.8)	2 (4.4)	4 (10.5)	4 (12.9)	
45 – 64	72 (63.2)	23 (51.1)	27 (71.1)	22 (71.0)	0.032*
≥65	32 (28.1)	20 (44.4)	7 (18.2)	5 (16.1)	
Marital status,					
Married	98 (86.0)	38 (84.4)	33 (86.8)	27 (87.1)	0.931
Other***	16 (14.0)	7 (15.6)	5 (13.2)	4 (12.9)	
Annual household income					
<45,000	68(59.7)	33 (73.3)	18 (47.4)	17 (54.8)	0.045*
Other****	46 (40.4)	12 (26.7)	20 (52.6)	14 (45.2)	

Appendix F Sociodemographic characteristics of participants stratified by language spoken at home

Employed	40 (35.1)	7 (15.6)	17 (44.7)	16 (51.6)	0.002*
Level of Education					
Less than high school	43 (37.7)	20 (44.4)	12 (31.6)	11 (35.5)	0.499
Completed high school	29 (25.4)	12 (26.7)	8 (21.1)	9 (29.1)	
Postsecondary education	42 (36.8)	13 (28.9)	18 (47.4)	11 (35.5)	
Duration in Canada (years)	23.9 ± 17.5	20.2 ± 18.2	21.5±15.0	32.4 ± 16.9	0.005*
Food type cooked at home					
Always Arabic	56 (49.1)	32 (71.1)	17 (44.7)	7 (22.6)	
Mostly Arabic	48 (42.1)	11 (24.4)	18 (47.4)	19 (61.3)	0.001*
Equall Arabic/Canadian- Mostly Canadian	10 (8.8)	2 (4.4)	3 (7.9)	5 (16.1)	

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant, **include: Single/Divorced/Widowed, ***include: > \$ 45.000/Prefer not to answer/I don't know

Characteristic Mean ± SD or n (%)	Total	Only Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	P voluo
	(n= 114)	45 (39.5)	38 (33.3)	31 (27.2)	I -value
Family history of diabetes	82 (71.9)	29 (64.4)	30 (79.0)	23 (74.2)	0.324
Duration of diabetes by years	11.1 ± 8.6	11.7 ± 9.2	10.5 ± 8.2	10.9 ± 8.4	0.825
<5	29 (25.4)	10 (22.2)	9 (23.7)	10 (32.3)	0.711
5-10	36 (31.6)	15 (33.3)	14 (36.8)	7 (22.6)	
>10	49 (43.0)	20 (44.4)	15 (39.5)	14 (45.2)	
Self-reported Diabetes Management strategies					
Diet	50 (43.9)	14 (31.1)	22 (57.9)	14 (45.2)	0.049*
Exercise	39(34.2)	13 (28.9)	15 (39.5)	11 (35.5)	0.590
Oral hypoglycemic medication	93 (81.6)	38 (84.4)	30 (79.0)	25 (80.7)	0.803
Insulin injection	33 (28.95)	12 (26.7)	12 (31.6)	9 (29.0)	0.886
Self-reported history of Hypoglycemia during last year	14(12.4)	6 (13.3)	4 (10.8)	4 (12.9)	0.923
Self-reported Comorbidities					
Hypertension	67 (58.8)	31 (68.9)	17 (44.7)	19 (61.3)	0.079
Stroke	3 (2.6)	1 (2.2)	1 (2.6)	1 (3.2)	0.965

Appendix G Healthy behavior and clinical characteristics of participants stratified by language spoken at home

Characteristic	Total	Only Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	P_valua	
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n= 114)	45 (39.5)	38 (33.3)	31 (27.2)	I -value	
DVT	6 (5.3)	4 (8.9)	1 (2.6)	1 (3.2)	0.373	
Kidney Problem	14 (12.3)	3 (6.7)	5 (13.2)	6 (19.4)	0.249	
Eye problem	23(20.2)	8 (17.8)	7 (18.4)	8 (25.8)	0.656	
Heart problem	20 (17.5)	13 (29.0)	2 (5.3)	5 (16.1)	0.018*	
High cholesterol	62 (54.4)	23 (51.1)	20 (52.6)	19 (61.3)	0.658	
Amputation	2 (1.8)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	2 (6.5)	0.066	
Retinopathy screening						
Never	18 (15.8)	8 (17.8)	5 (13.2)	5 (16.1)	0.541	
Less than a year ago	78 (68.4)	33 (73.3)	26 (68.4)	19 (61.3)		
More than a year ago	18 (15.8)	4 (8.9)	7 (18.4)	7 (22.6)		
Blood Pressure check in the clinic	110 (96.5)	44 (97.8)	37 (97.4)	29 (93.6)	0.310	
Familiar with Canada Food Guide	59 (51.8)	21 (46.7)	17 (44.7)	21 (67.7)	0.111	
Following Canada Food Guide	26 (44.1)	10 (47.6)	9 (52.9)	7 (33.3)	0.442	
Follow up with diabetes educator	20 (17.5)	5 (11.1)	6 (15.8)	9 (29.0)	0.123	
Follow up with a dietitian	30 (26.3)	11 (24.4)	8 (21.1)	11 (35.5)	0.294	
Chart review data (n=110)						
HgbA1C (n=105)	7.5 ± 1.6	7.5 ± 1.5	7.7 ± 2.0	7.3 ± 1.3	0.528	
Systolic blood pressure (n=107)	124.5±14.2	127.8 ± 13.7	121.8 ± 14.7	123.2 ± 14.1	0.153	

Characteristic	Total	Only Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	P-value	
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n= 114)	45 (39.5)	38 (33.3)	31 (27.2)		
Diastolic blood pressure (n=107)	74.8 ± 9.3	74.6 ± 9.8	75.2 ± 8.2	74.6 ± 10.1	0.953	
Body Mass Index (n=77)	32.7 ± 6.3	33.3 ± 7.0	31.8 ± 5.8	33.3 ± 6.3	0.597	
Low-Density Lipoprotein (n=96)	2.2 ± 0.8	1.9 ± 0.7	2.3 ± 0.9	2.1 ± 1.0	0.158	
High-Density Lipoprotein (n=99)	1.2 ± 0.4	1.2 ± 0.4	1.1 ± 0.4	1.2 ± 0.5	0.739	
Triglyceride (n=99)	2.0 ± 1.4	2.1 ± 1.9	1.7 ± 0.8	2.2 ± 1.5	0.355	
Albumin-Creatinine Ratio						
(n=91)	52 (57.1)	20 (55.6)	19 (63.3)	13 (52.0)	0.794	
<2 (Normal level)	32 (35.2)	14 (38.9	8 (26.7)	10 (40.0)		
2-20 (Microalbuminuria)	7 (7.7)	2 (5.6)	3 (10.0)	2 (8.0)		
>20 (over nephropathy)						

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant

Characteristic	Total	Only Arabic	Mostly Arabic	Other**	D volvo
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n=114)	45 (39.5)	38 (33.3)	31 (27.2)	P-value
Diabetes knowledge Test (0 to 14)					
Poor (< 7)	29 (25.4)	11 (24.4)	14 (36.8)	4 (12.9)	0.144
Average (7 to 11)	61 (53.5)	27 (60.0)	16 (42.1)	18 (58.1)	
Good (> 11)	24 (21.1)	7 (15.6)	8 (21.1)	9 (29.0)	
Self-care management					
General diet (0 to 7 days)	3.1 ± 2.7	2.5 ± 2.8	3.7 ± 2.6	3.4 ± 2.7	0.122
Specific diet (0 to 7 days)	3.6 ± 2.0	3.3 ± 1.7	3.7 ± 2.1	4.0 ± 2.3	0.392
Self-monitoring of blood	2.5 ± 2.4	2.5 ± 2.3	$2.7\pm~2.5$	2.3 ± 2.5	0.773
glucose (0-7 days)					
Foot care (0 to 7 days)	4.8 ± 1.5	4.8 ± 1.6	4.9 ± 1.5	4.8 ± 1.5	0.887
Exercise (0 to 7 days)	2.1 ± 2.6	1.9 ± 2.5	2.2 ± 2.6	2.4 ± 2.9	0.665
Medication Adherence score (0 to 8) N=103*					
Low (≤ 5)	27 (26.2)	11 (26.2)	7 (23.3)	5 (23.8)	0.851
Medium (6 to 7)	44 (42.7)	20 (47.6)	10 (33.3)	10 (47.6)	-
High (8)	32 (31.1)	11 (26.2)	13 (43.3)	6 (28.6)	

Appendix H Behavioral and psychosocial characteristics of participants stratified by language spoken at home

Smoking Status					
Never smoked	61 (53.5)	23 (51.1)	18 (47.4)	20 (64.5)	0.377
Current Smoker	25 (21.9)	12(26.7)	7 (18.4)	6 (19.4)	
Quit smoking	28 (24.6)	10(22.2)	13 (34.2)	5 (16.1)	
Depressive symptoms score (0-					
6)	22 (19.3)	10 (22.2)	5 (13.2)	7 (22.6)	0.501
Positive (3-6)	92 (80.7)	35(77.8)	29 (87.9)	20 (80.0)	
Negative(<3)					

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant, **11 missing because they are only on life style management and they excluded from analysis

Characteristic	Total	<10 years	10-19 Years	>20 years	D vol
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n= 114)	31 (27.09)	23 (20.18)	60 (52.63)	P-value
Health status					
Excellent/Very Good	28 (24.6)	6 (19.4)	9 (39.1)	13 (21.7)	0.319
Good	50 (43.9)	15 (48.4)	10 (43.5)	25 (41.7)	
Fair /Poor	36 (31.6)	10 (32.3)	4 (17.4)	22 (36.7)	
Gender Female	44 (38.6)	13 (41.9)	10 (43.5)	21 (35.00)	0.703
Age, years	57.6±10.7	54.4 ± 10.8	51.1 ± 7.6	61.8 ± 9.97	0.000^*
20 - 44	10 (8.8)	3 (9.7)	6 (26.1)	1 (6.7)	0.000*
45 – 64	72 (63.2)	22 (70.97)	16 (69.6)	34 (56.7)	
≥65	32 (28.1)	6 (19.4)	1 (4.4)	25 (41.7)	
Marital status,					
Married	98 (86.0)	27 (87.1)	18 (78.3)	53 (88.3)	0.486
Other **	16 (14.0)	4 (12.9)	5 (21.7)	7 (11.7)	
Annual household income					
< \$ 45,000	68(59.7)	24 (77.4)	11 (47.8)	33 (55.00)	0.051*
Other ***	46 (40.4)	7 (22.6)	12 (52.2)	27 (45.00)	
Employed	40 (35.1)	8 (25.8)	13 (56.5)	19 (31.7)	0.047*
Level of Education					
Less than high school	43 (37.7)	13 (41.9)	3 (13.0)	27 (45.00)	0.010*
Completed high school	29 (25.4)	3 (9.7)	9 (39.1)	17 (28.3)	

Appendix I Sociodemographic characteristics of participants stratified by duration in Canada

Post-secondary education	42 (36.8)	15 (48.4)	11 (47.8)	16 (26.7)	
The language spoken at home					
Only Arabic	45 (39.5)	18 (58.1)	7 (30.4)	20 (33.3)	0.038*
Mostly Arabic/Other****	38 (33.3)	9 (29.0)	11 (47.8)	18 (30.0)	
Only English/Other****	31 (27.2)	4 (12.9)	5 (21.7)	22 (36.7)	
Food type cooked at home					
Always Arabic	56 (49.1)	24 (77.4)	10 (43.5)	22(36.7)	
Mostly Arabic	48 (42.1)	5 (16.1)	10 (43.5)	33(55.0)	0.004*
Equall Arabic/Canadian- Mostly	10 (8.8)	2 (6.5)	3 (13.0)	5 (8.3)	
Canadian					

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant, **include: Single/Divorced/Widowed, ***include: > \$ 45.000/Prefer not to answer/I don't know

Characteristic	Total	<10	10.10	> 20	p-value
Mean ± SD or n (%)	(n= 114)	(n= 114)	10-19 years	>20 years	
Family history of diabetes	82 (71.9)	23 (74.3)	18 (78.3)	41 (68.3)	0.631
Duration of diabetes by years	11.1±8.6	6.8 ± 4.4	8.2 ± 5.6	14.4 ± 9.8	0.000^{*}
<5	29 (25.4)	12 (38.7)	7 (30.4)	10 (16.7)	0.001^{*}
5-10	36 (31.6)	13 (41.9)	10 (43.5)	13(21.7)	
>10	49 (43.0)	6 (19.4)	6 (26.1)	37 (61.7)	
Self-reported Diabetes Management strategies					
Diet	50 (43.9)	14(45.2)	11(47.8)	25 (41.7)	0.867
Exercise	39 (34.2)	11 (35.5)	11 (47.8)	17 (28.3)	0.242
Oral hypoglycemic medication	93 (81.6)	25 (80.7)	19 (82.6)	49 (81.7)	0.983
Insulin injection	33 (29.0)	10 (32.3)	6 (26.1)	17 (28.3)	0.875
Self-reported history of Hypoglycemia during last year	14 (12.4)	3 (9.7)	3(13.0)	8 (13.6)	0.776
Self-reported Comorbidities					
Hypertension	67 (58.8)	18 (58.1)	12 (52.2)	37 (61.7)	0.731

Appendix J Healthy behavior and clinical characteristics of participants stratified by duration in Canada

Characteristic Mean ± SD or n (%)	Total (n= 114)	<10 years	10-19 years	>20 years	p-value
DVT	6 (5.3)	2 (6.5)	0 (0.0)	4 (6.7)	0.449
Kidney Problem	14 (12.3)	3 (9.7)	2 (8.7)	9 (15.0)	0.644
Eye problem	23(20.2)	8 (25.8)	3 (13.0)	12 (20.0)	0.512
Heart problem	20 (17.5)	6 (19.4)	3 (13.0)	11 (18.3)	0.811
Hyperlipidemia	62 (54.4)	17 (54.8)	10 (43.5)	35 (58.3)	0.477
Amputation	2 (1.8)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.00)	2 (3.3)	0.400
Familiar with Canada Food Guide	59(51.8)	10 (32.3)	13(56.5)	36 (60.0)	0.038*
Following Canada Food Guide	26 (44.1)	5 (50.0)	5 (38.5)	16 (44.4)	0.856
Self-care clinical monitor					
Blood Pressure check in the clinic	110 (96.5)	28 (90.3)	23 (100.0)	59 (98.3)	0.250
Retinopathy screening					
Never	18 (15.8)	8 (25.8)	4 (17.4)	6 (10.0)	0.343
Less than a year ago	78 (68.4)	20 (64.5)	15 (65.2)	43 (71.7)	
More than a year ago	18 (15.8)	3 (9.7)	4 (17.4)	11 (18.3)	
Follow up with diabete educator	20 (17.5)	3 (9.7)	3 (13.0)	14 (23.3)	0.219
Follow up with a dietitian	30 (26.3)	8 (25.8)	8 (34.8)	14 (23.3)	0.743

Characteristic Mean ± SD or n (%)	Total	<10 years	10-19 years	>20 years	p-value
	(n= 114)				
Chart review data (n=110)					
HgbA1C (n=105)	7.5 ± 1.6	7.9 ± 2.0	7.6 ± 1.8	7.3 ± 1.3	0.394
Systolic blood pressure	124.5±14.2	125.8 ± 17.8	123.1 ± 12.2	124.4 ± 13.1	0.804
(n=107)					
Diastolic blood pressure (n=107)	74.8 ± 9.3	74.6 ± 8.4	76.8 ± 9.3	74.1 ± 9.8	0.526
Body Mass Index (n=77)	$32.7\ \pm 6.3$	34.1 ± 6.9	29.1 ± 6.3	33.5 ± 5.7	0.026^{*}
Low-Density Lipoprotein (n=96)	2.2 ± 0.8	2.4 ± 0.9	2.4 ± 0.8	1.9 ± 0.8	0.037*
High-Density Lipoprotein (n=99)	1.2 ± 0.4	1.1 ± 0.4	1.2 ± 0.3	1.2 ± 0.4	0.468
Albumin-Creatinine Ratio					
(n=91)	52 (57.1)	18 (75.0)	10 (55.6)	24 (49.0)	0.139
<2 Normal level	32 (35.2)	4 (16.7)	8 (44.4)	20 (40.8)	
2-20 Microalbuminuria	7 (7.7)	2 (8.3)	0 (0.0)	5 (10.2)	
>20 over nephropathy	× ,		~ /	. ,	

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant
| Characteristic | Total | <10 years | 10-19 Years | >20 years | Devalues |
|---|---------------|--------------------|---------------|---------------|-------------|
| Mean ± SD or n (%) | (n=114) | (n=114) 22 (27.09) | | 60 (52.63) | P-value |
| Diabetes knowledge Test (0 - | | | | | |
| 14) | 29 (25.4) | 8 (25.8) | 9 (39.1) | 12 (20.0) | 0.316 |
| Poor (< 7) | 61 (53.5) | 15 (48.4) | 9 (39.1) | 37 (61.7) | |
| Average (7 to 11) | 24(211) | 8 (25.8) | 5 (21.7) | 11 (18 3) | |
| Good (> 11) | 27 (21.1) | 6 (23.6) | 5 (21.7) | 11 (18.5) | |
| Self-care management | | | | | |
| General diet (0 to 7 days) | 3.1 ± 2.7 | 2.9 ± 3.1 | 2.9 ± 2.6 | 3.4 ± 2.6 | 0.681 |
| Specific diet (0 to 7 days) | 3.6 ± 2.0 | 2.8 ± 1.7 | 4.5 ± 1.9 | 3.7 ± 2.1 | 0.011^{*} |
| Self-monitoring of blood | 2.5 ± 2.4 | 2.6 ± 2.3 | 1.9 ± 2.2 | 2.8 ± 2.4 | 0.301 |
| glucose (0-7 days) | | | | | |
| Foot care (0 to 7 days) | 4.8 ± 1.5 | 4.4 ± 1.6 | 4.9 ± 1.5 | 5.1 ± 1.5 | 0.102 |
| Exercise (0 to 7 days) | 2.1 ± 2.6 | 1.7 ± 2.5 | 2.4 ± 2.6 | 2.3 ± 2.7 | 0.539 |
| Medication Adherence score (0
to 8) N=103* | | | | | |
| Low (≤ 5) | 27 (26.2) | 11 (37.9) | 5 (25.0) | 11 (20.4) | 0.175 |
| Medium (6 to 7) | 44 (42 7) | 13 (44 8) | 10 (50 0) | 21(38.9) | |
| High (8) | (12.7) | 5 (17.2) | 5 (25 0) | 21(30.7) | |
| | 32 (31.1) | 5 (17.2) | 5 (25.0) | 22 (40.7) | |

Appendix K Behavioral and psychosocial characteristics of participants stratified by duration in Canada

Smoking Status					
Never smoke	61 (53.5)	18 (58.1)	13 (56.5)	30 (50.0)	0.344
Current Smoker	25 (21.9)	8 (25.8)	2 (8.7)	15 (25.0)	
Quit Smoking	28 (24.6)	5 (16.1)	8 (34.8)	15 (25.0)	
Depressive symptoms score (0-					
6)	22 (19.3)	6 (19.4)	5 (21.7)	11 (18.3)	0.940
Positive (3-6)	92 (80.7)	25 (80.7)	18 (78.3)	49 (81.7)	
Negative(<3)					

* P value less than 0.05 is considered significant, **11 missing because they are only on life style management and they excluded from analysis

Appendix L Recruitment Posters (Arabic and English versions)

• English Version



Arabic Version



136

Appendix M Information Letter (Arabic and English versions)

• English Version



Dr. Roseanne Yeung, MD, FRCPC, MPH DIVISION OF ENDOCRINOLOGY University of Alberta 9th Ex. CSB 11350 83 Ave NW Edmonton AB T62 CG3 Phone: 780-492-5159 Fax: 780-492-8444

Diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviors, and metabolic control in the Arabic speaking population with type 2 diabetes in Edmonton

Information letter

Research/Study Coordinator:	
Principal Investigator:	

Why am I being asked to take part in this research study?

You have been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes (T2D) and are a member of the Arabic speaking community living in Edmonton. Before you decide to participate in this study, one of the researchers will go over this form with you. You are encouraged to ask questions if you feel anything needs to be made clearer. You will be given a copy of your signed consent and this letter for your records.

The reason for doing the study:

Type 2 diabetes is a lifelong disease that affects the way your body handles sugar in your blood. Type 2 diabetes is more common in Arabic countries, but little is known about type 2 diabetes in Arab-speaking population. Our research team at the University of Alberta is seeking your help to learn more about type 2 diabetes in your community. We are comparing the Arabic speaking to the general diabetes population in Alberta regarding diabetes management. In addition, we will use data collected from your medical records and link this with your responses in the interview.

This study is a part of Dr. Aida <u>Belag's</u> Master degree in Medicine in the Department of Medicine at University of Alberta. We will provide you with our research results or send you a report if you wish.

What will I be asked to do?

We ask that you participate in around-20 minutes face-to-face or phone interview as you prefer. The interview includes 5 sections on:

- 1. Diabetes history
- 2. Diabetes knowledge
- Mood
- Self-care and lifestyle
- 5. Medications

Version: August 15, 2017

Dr. Rose Yeung	- 2 -	March 2017
----------------	-------	------------

We also ask you to provide written consent that will allow us to access your medical records for review where we will collect information on your blood pressure, hemoglobin hA1c, weight, height, LDL/ HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, and urine protein levels.

The benefits and the risks and discomforts:

By participating in this study, you may learn more about your diabetes and we will work with your doctor to improve care to other Arabic speaking with type 2 diabetes. Each participant well receive a \$10 CAD gift card for participating in this study. Participants who enroll in the study but chose to withdraw before completing the face-to-face or phone interview will not receive the gift card incentive. By participating in this study and completing an interview, participants will be directly helping researchers understand the knowledge of diabetes amongst Arabic speaking people in Edmonton

It is not possible to know all the risks that may happen in a study, but we have taken all reasonable safeguards to minimize any known risks. Your participation is completely your choice and you do not have to answer any questions that you feel uncomfortable answering. We ask that you try to complete as much of the interview questions as you can.

Do I have to take part in the study?

You will be able to withdraw from the study at any time, if you decide that you do not want to be part of this study and have changed your mind, please contact us. In addition, your care will not be affected by participating in this study. We will ask if you would also like to have the information you provided to us removed as well, in which case we will destroy it.

Confidentiality:

During the study, we will be collecting data about you including your personal information and your health information. We will do everything we can to make sure that this data is kept private. No data relating to this study that includes your name will be released outside of the researcher's office or published by the researchers. All information collected will be stored in a secure location at the University of Alberta and only the researchers on the study team will have access to this information. In the unlikely event of a breach of privacy, we will contact you immediately. *The data will be held a minimum of 5 years prior to destruction. By signing this consent form you are saying it is okay for the study team to collect, use and disclose information about you from your personal health records as described above.*

If you have questions:

If you have any questions or concern about the research now or later, please contact

÷

If you have any questions regarding your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Health Research Ethics Board at 780-492-2615. This office has no affiliation with the study investigators

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING: This communication is intended for the use of the recipient to which it is addressed, and may contain confidential, personal, and/or privileged information. Please contact me immediately if you are not the intended recipient of this communication, and do not copy, distribute, or take action relying on it. Any communication received in error, or subsequent reply, should be deleted or destroyed (20120217) Version No.: 08152017.01

• Arabic Version

Dr. Roseanne Yeung, MD, FRCPC, MPH DIVISION OF ENDOCRINOLOGY University of Alberta 9th Ex. CSB 11350 83 Ave NW Edmonton AB T8C 2G3 Phone: 780-492-5159 Fax: 780-492-8444



المستوى المعرفي لمرضى السكري والعناية الذاتية وعوامل التحكم بالمرض ومضاعفاته لدى مرضى المستوى السكري الناطقين باللغة العربية في مدينة أدمنتون

معلومات حول هذه الدراسة

رقم الهاتف:_	منسق البحث: ا
رقم الهاتف:	الباحث الرنيسي

لماذا تم اختيارك للمشاركة في هذه الدراسة؟

لقد تم اختيارك للمشاركة في هذه الدراسة لأنك أحد الأشخاص الذين يتحدثون باللغة العربية كاللغة الام ولديك مرض السكري ومقيم في مدينة أدمنتون. قبل اتخاذ قرارك بخصوص المشاركة بهذه الدراسة، أحد أفراد البحث سوف يقوم يتوضيح الدراسة بحمق ونحن نتمنى ان تقوم بطرح أي أسئلة لديك. ونريدك ان تكون على دراية لِماذا قمنا بدعوتك للمشاركة في هذه الدراسة. سوف نقوم بتزويدك بنسخة من هذه الاستمارة للاحتفاظ بها.

ما هو الهدف من هذه الدراسة؟

مرض السكري هو أحد الامراض المزمنة التي تؤثّر على كل أعضاء الجسم ويعتمد ذلك بشكل كبير على مستوى السكر بالدم. مرض السكري يعتبر من الأمراض الشائعة جدا في الدول العربية. لكن بالنسبة للعرب الموجودين في كندا ولديهم مرض السكري لا توجد أي أبحاث من قبل لدراسة مرض السكري عند الجالية العربية المتيمة في كندا.

ولهذا الغرض الباحتين بجامعة أليرتا بودون القيام بهذه الدراسة لمساعدتك ومساعدة الجالية العربية في كندا لفهم هذا المرض واحداثياته لتقديم المساعدة المستقبلية. يهدف هذا البحث أيضا لدراسة الفروقات بين العرب الناطقين باللغة العربية والكندين المقيمين في مقاطعة أليرتا من حيث التعامل مع مرض السكري. كذلك بهذه الدراسة سوف نقوم بجمع معلومات حول فحوصات طبية من ملفك الطبي وريطها بالمعلومات التي سنتحصل عليها خلال المقابلة.

هذه الدراسة هي جزء من رسالة الماجستير للطالبة عائدة بلق بقسم الباطنة بكلية الطب بجامعة البريّا. إذا كنت ترغب في معرفة نتائج هذه الدراسة نحن سوف نقوم بتزويدك بنسخة من النتائج.

ما هو دورك وماذا مطلوب منك إذا قررت المشاركة في هذا البحث؟

نحن نود سؤالك لتشارك بهذه الدراسة التي تحتاج الى 20 دقيقة عن طريق مقابلة شخصية او مكالمة هاتفية كما انت تفضل، هذه الاستمارة تحقوي على خمسة اجزاء وهي تتضمن: - تاريخك الصحي - مستواك المعرفي حول مرض السكري

Version: August, 2017

Dr. Rose Yeung

- مزاجك/ الصحة النفسية

- العناية الشخصية بالسكري ونمط الحياة الذي تتبعه

- الأدوية التي تتناولها

وكذلك سوف نقوم بسؤالك لتزويدنا بموافقة خطية مع هذه الرسالة للسماح للباحتين بهذه الدراسة التحصل على معلومات من ملفك الطبي. المحلومات التي سوف تأخذ من ملفك هي طولك ووزنك وآخر قياس لضبغط دمك ومعدل السكر التراكمي (مخزون السكر) (HbA1c) ومستوى الدهون والكولسترول ونسبة البروتين والكرياتين بالدم.

- 2 -

ماهى الفواند والسلبيات المتوقعة من مشاركتك بهذه الدراسة؟

بمشاركتك بهذه الدراسة سوف تنعلم الكثير حول مرض السكرى وتساعد الباحتين بجامعة البردّا والطبيب على تحسين مستوى الرعاية الطبية للجالية العربية مستقبلا. كل المشاركين سوف يتحصلون على هدية بقيمة عشرة دولار كندى عند انتهاء المشاركة. وكذلك الأشخاص الدين غادرو الدراسة قبل انتهائها سوف تمنح لهم نفس الهدية. مشاركتك سوف تقوم بمساعدتنا مباشرة لفهم مرض السكرى في الجالية العربية الناطقة بالغة العربية لا يمكننا الجزم بتاتا لمعرفتنا التامة لجميع السلبيات بهذه الدراسة ولكن نحن قمنا بأخذ جميع الاحتياطات لتقليل نسبة حدوث أي خطر.

هل يجب عليك أن تشارك بهذه الدراسة؟

مَسَاركتَك بهذه الدراسة هي عمل تطوعي منك ولديك كامل الحرية في الانسحاب من هذه الدراسة عندما تريد ذلك ولذلك يمكنَك عدم الإجابة عل أي سؤال تشعر بعدم الراحة لإجابتَه. نتمنى ان تحاول الإجابة على أكبر قدر من الأسئلة. يجب ان تعلم ان لديك الحرية المطلقة في الانسحاب من الدراسة عند أي وقت دون إعطاء الأسباب وكذلك دون التأثير على رعابتَك الطبية المستقبلية. إذا غيرت رأيك بالمشاركة، أرجوك ان تتصل بناً. إذا قررت الانسحاب من المشاركة، سوف نقوم بسؤالك حول المعلومات التي قمت بتزويدنا بها إذا كنت تريد الغائها وما هي الطريقة التي سوف نتبعها لتلك معومة للألف معوماتك.

السرية والخصوصية بهذه الدراسة:

خلال هذه الدراسة سوف نقوم بجمع معلوماتك الشخصنية والصحية ولذلك سوف نقوم بجميع الاحتياطات اللازمة حتى نقوم بحماية جميع المعلومات بخصوصية تامة.

لن نُتَسَ أي معلومات تحتوي على اسمك خارج نطاق مكتب الدراسة او سوف تنسّر بأي نتائج لهذا البحت. جميع المعلومات التي سوف نقوم بجمعها في هذه الدراسة سوف تخزن بمكان آمن في جامعة البرتا. فقط أفراد البحت سوف يقومون بالاطلاع عليها. في حاله حدوث أي سيء يتعلق بحمايه معلوماتك المتخصية سوف نقوم بالاتصال بك فورا. المعلومات التي قمنا بجمعها خلال هذه الدراسة سوف تنتى موجودة لمدة أقلها خمس سنوات قبل ان يتم إتلافها. بتوقيحك لنموذج الموافقة، أنت تمنح الموافقة للباحتين بهذه الدراسة بجمع واستعمال معلومات معلومات من ملفك الطبى عمان عرب إذا كان لديك أي سؤال:

إذا كان لديك أي استفسار حول هذا البحت، الرجاء الاتصال بالباحتين المسؤولين عن هذه الدراسة:

وإذا كان لديك أي استقسار حول المتباركة بهذه الدراسة يمكنك التواصل مع مكتب Health Research Ethics Board في جامعة ألبريًا على الرقم 2015-492-780 هذا المكتب مستقل تماما وليس له أي علاقة بالأشخاص العاملين في هذه الدراسة

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING: This communication is intended for the use of the recipient to which it is addressed, and may contain confidential, personal, and/or privileged information. Please contact we immediately if you are not the intended recipient of this communication, and do not copy, distribute, or take action relying on it. Any communication received in error, or subsequent rephy, should be deleted or destroyed (2012017) forsion No. 0301071.01

Appendix N Consent Form

• English version

Dr. Roseanne Yeung, MD, FR/ DMSION OF ENDOCRIM University o 9th Eix, CSB 11350 83 Edmonton AB 1 Phone: 780-4 Fax: 780-4		MD, FRAP, MPH NDOCRINOLOGY niversity of Alberta 11350 83 Ave NW inton AB T6G 2G3 one: 780-492-5159 fax: 780-492-6444	
	CONSENT		
<u>Study Title:</u> Diabetes knowledge, self-care b population with	eehaviors, and metabolic control in t type 2 diabetes in Edmonton	he Ara	bic speaking
Study Coordinator: D Principal Investigator:	Phone Number: Phone Number:		
Do you understand that you have been asked to be	in a research study?	<u>Yes</u> □	
Have you read and received a copy of the attached	Information Sheet?		
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved	in taking part in this research study?		
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and	discuss this study?		
Do you understand that you are free to leave the study at any time. without having to give a reason and without affecting your future medical care?			
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you?			
Do you understand who will have access to your study records, including your personal and medical records?			
Do you want the investigators to inform your family doctor that you are participating in this research study? If so, give his/her name			
For safety reasons, we will inform you and your family doctor if you require medical attention even if you have checked that you do not want us to inform your family doctor that you are participating in this research study			
Who explained this study to you?			
By signing this consent form you are saving it is o about you from your personal health records as de	kav for the studv team to collect, use o escribed above	ınd disc	close information
Signature of Research Participant			
Printed Name	Date		
Signature of Witness	Date		
I believe that the person signing this form understa participate.	ands what is involved in the study and	volunt	arily agrees to
Signature of Investigator or Designee	Date		
[For office use only] Interview format preference	: Face-to-face[] Ph	ione□
THE INFORMATION SHEET MUST BE ATTACHED TO THIS CONSENT FORM AND A COPY GIVEN TO THE RESEARCH PARTIC			

• Arabic version

ALBERTA

Dr. Roseanne Yeung, MD, FRAP, MPH DIMISION OF ENDOCRINOLOGY University of Alberta 9th Eir, CSB 11350 83 Ave NW Edimonton AB T6G 2G3 Phone: 780-492-5159 Fax: 780-492-8444

<u>عنوان الدراسة:</u> المستوى المعرفي لمرضى السكري والعناية الذاتية وعوامل التحكم بالمرض ومضاعفاته لدى مرضى السكري الناطقين باللغة العربية في مدينة أدمنتون

		رقم الهاتف: رقم الهاتف:	منسق البح <u>ث:</u> ا الباحث الرنيسي
У	نعم		
		استة؟	هل فهمت إننا ندعوك للمسّاركة في هذه الدر
		؟ ر	هل قرأت واستلمت نسخة من هذه المعلومات
		^ي في هذه الدراسة؟	هل أنت على دراية بفوائد وسليبات مشاركتا
		ذه الدراسة ؟	هل كانت لديك الفرصىة لطرح اسئلة حول ه
		لمغادرة هذه الدراسة عند أي وقت ، دون إعطاء الأسباب تتبلية ؟	هل انت على دراية ان لديك الحرية المطلقة وكذلك دون التأثير على رعايتك الطبية المس
		ه الدراسة ؟	هل تم التوضيح حول مسألة الخصوصية بهذ
		لديهم المقدرة على الوصول الى ملفات الدراسة والتي	هل أنت على دراية من هم الأسّخاص الذين ضمنها معلوماتك السّخصية والصحية ؟
		أنك مشارك بهذه الدراسة؟	هل تريد من الباحث الرئيسي اخبار طبيبك ب
ذلك	نِهُ وسنِتَم	 سوف نقوم بإخبارك انت وطبيبك الخاص وذلك لدواعي امنية وصح ك بمسّاركتك بهذه الدراسة).	إذا نعم، ما هو اسم طبيبك في حالة وجود أي مشاكل طبية بخصوصك (حتى في حالة عدم موافقتك على اخبار طبيي
		ة <u>الد؟</u>	من هو الشخص الذي قام بشرح هذه الدراس
ح ذلك	ما تم شن	للباحتين بهذه الدراسة بتجميع واستعمال معلومات من ملفك الطبى ك	بتوقيعك لنموذج الموافقة، أنت تمنح الموافقة
		ده الدراسة: - التاريخالتاريخ	بنَوفَيعي هذا أنا موافق على أن أَسَّارِك في ه توفَيع المسَّارِك
	المشاركة	, هذه الاستمارة على علم بتفاصيل هذه الدراسة ويوافق طوعيا على ا	أنا اعتقد أن الشخص الذي يقوم بالتوقيع على
		التاريخ	توقيع الباحت او مساعد الباحت
[For offi	ce use onl	ly] Interview format preference: Face-to-face□	Phone

Appendix O Consent for Release of Contact Information (Arabic and English versions)

• English version



Dr. Roseanne Yeung, MD, FRAP, MPH DIVISION OF ENDOCRINOLOGY University of Alberta 9th Ex. CSB 11350 83 Ave NW Edmonton AB T6G 2G3 Phone: 780-492-5159 Fax: 780-492-61444

Consent for Release of Contact Information

<u>Study Title:</u> Diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviors, and metabolic control in the Arabic speaking population with type 2 diabetes in Edmonton

Investigators:	
Dr.	Phone Number:
Dr.	Phone Number:

Study Summary:

We are researchers from the Department of Medicine, University of Alberta conducting clinical research on type 2 diabetes in the Arabic speaking population to assess diabetes knowledge and self-care behaviors, and the relationship to metabolic control. In this study, we are going to ask you questions about your medical history and diabetes knowledge and management. <u>One of our research assistants will interview you face-to-face, this interview will take 20 minutes to complete the survey</u>

Completing this form is voluntary and only allows the research team to contact you.

CONSENT:

By signing this consent, I give permission to my health care provider (family physician, etc.) to release my contact information to the study team listed above for the purposes of providing me with more information about participating in the study.

Consent can be withdrawn at any time by contacting the health care provider obtaining this consent.

Patient Name:		
Phone number:		
Patient Signature:		Date:
Person obtaining consent:		
Name:	Signature:	
Date:		

Version: March 22, 2017

Page 1 of 2

• Arabic version

Dr. Roseanne Yeung, MD, FRAP, MPH DIVISION OF ENDOCRINOLOGY University of Alberta 9th Fix, CSB 11350 83 Ave NW Edimonton AB T6G 263 Phone: 780-492-5159 Fax: 780-492-8444



الموافقة على تزويدنا بمعلوماتك للتواصل معك

عنوان الدراسة:

المستوى المعرفي لمرضى السكري والعناية الذاتية وعوامل التحكم بالمرض ومضاعفاته لدى مرضى السكرى الناطقين باللغة العربية في مدينة أدمنتون

رقم الهاتف:	منسق البحث:
رقم الهاتف:	الباحث الرنيسي

ملخص البحث:

نحن مجموعة من الباحتين في كلية الطب في جامعة ألبرتا نقوم بدراسة مرض السكري لدى الجالية العربية المقيمة في مدينة أدمنتون لدراسة مستوى المعرفة حول مرض السكري، ومستوى العذابة الذاتية وتأثير هما على عوامل التحكم بمرض السكري ومضاعفاته. هذه الدراسة تتضمن إجراء مقابلة لتعبئة استمارة تحقوي على مجموعة أسئلة حول مرض السكري وكيفية تعاملك مع مرض السكري. أحد الباحتين بهذه الدراسة سوف يقوم بإجراء مقابلة معك. وهذه المقابلة سوف تأخذ عشرون دقيقة من وقتك لتعبئة الاستمارة الخاصة بهذه الدراسة.

تعبأتك لهذا النموذج تطوعية وهي فقط لتزويدنا بمعلوماتك الشخصية للتواصل معك.

إعطاء الموافقة:

بتوقيعي لهذا النموذج، أنا أعطى الإذن لطاقم الرعاية الصحية (طبيب الاسرة.....) لإعطاء مطوماتي لفريق البحث الخاص بهذه الدراسة للتواصل معي لغرض تزويدي بمطومات أكثر حول هذه الدراسة وسؤالي إذا كنت أريد المشاركة.

رقم الهاتف:	اسم المريض:
التاريخ :	توقيع المريض:

السّخص الذي حصل على هذه الموافقة :

 المتوقيع	الإسم
	التاريخ

Version: March 22, 2017 Page 2 of 2

Appendix P Chart review form



Dr. Roseanne Yeung, MD, FRCPC, MPH DIVISION OF ENDOCRINOLOGY University of Alberta 9th Etc. CSB 11350 83 Ave NW Edmonton AB T6G 2G3 Fax: 780-492-6444

Chart Review form

Diabetes knowledge, self-care behaviors, and metabolic control in the Arabic speaking population with type 2 diabetes in Edmonton

Survey ID: _____

Date: (Month/day) _____ 2017

Please record most recent values:

Measure	Result	Please record date if measured before 2017 (month/day/year)
Blood pressure (mmHg)		
Body weight	□ lbs. □ kgs.	
Height	□Feet/inches □cm	
HbA1c (%)		
LDL (mmol/L)		
Triglyceride (mmol/L)		
HDL (mmol/L)		
Urine albumin: creatinine (mg/mmol)		

Study Contact: Dr. Aida Belag

CONFIDENTIALITY WARNING: This communication is intended for the use of the recipient to which it is addressed, and may contain confidential, personal, and/or privileged information. Please contact me immediately if you are not the intended recipient of this communication, and do not copy, distribute, or take action relying on it. Any communication received in error, or subsequent reply, should be deleted or destroyed. (20120217) Version No.: 03012017.01